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TUESDAY, APRIL 16, 2019, 6:30 PM
1.

CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL AND SALUTE TO THE FLAG

2.

OPEN TIME FOR PUBLIC COMMENT

At the beginning of each regular Town Council meeting, any member of the public may address
the Town Council concerning any item not on the Council's agenda. Speakers will be limited to
three (3) minutes unless otherwise specified by the Mayor or the Presiding Officer. The public
will be given an opportunity to speak on each agenda item at the time it is called. The Council
may discuss and/or take action regarding any or all of the items listed below. Once the public
comment portion of any item on this agenda has been closed by the Council, no further
comment from the public will be permitted unless authorized by the Mayor or the Council and if
so authorized, said additional public comment shall be limited to the provision of information not
previously provided to the Council or as otherwise limited by order of the Mayor or Council.

3.

PRESENTATIONS
3.A. Presentation from Mimi Willard, Representing the Marin Coalition of Sensible
Taxpayers (CO$T) Regarding the Marin Municipal Water District Fee and Rate
Hike Proposal and Potential Impacts to Corte Madera and its Residents
3.B. Presentation from Police Chief Mike Norton on the Central Marin Police
Authority Annual Statistics Report

1

4.

CONSENT CALENDAR

The purpose of the Consent Calendar is to group items together which are routine or have been
discussed previously and do not require further discussion. They will be approved by a single
motion. Any member of the Town Council, Town Staff, or the Public may request removal of an
item for discussion. Rescheduling of the item(s) will be at the discretion of the Mayor and Town
Council.

4.A. Authorize introduction and/or adoption of resolutions and ordinances by title
only.
(Standard procedural action – no backup information provided)

4.B. Second Reading and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 985 An Ordinance
Of The Town Council Of The Town Of Corte Madera, Rezoning A 15.42 Acre
Property South And East Of Robin Drive (APN 038-011-21) From The Hillside
Land Capacity Overlay District To The Planned Development Overlay District
To Facilitate The Residences At Preserve Subdivision Application Submitted
By AIMCO Robin Drive L.C. For A Planned Development, Preliminary Plan,
Precise Plan, Tentative Map, And Design Review To Subdivide The Property
Into 19 Lots With A Private Access Road And Construct 16 Single-Family
Units With 8 Accessory Dwelling Units, And Associated Landscaping, Tree
Removal, And Site Improvements.
Recommendation: Adopt Ordinance No. 985

4.B. Staff Report and Attachments.pdf
4.C. Adopt Resolution No. 16/2019 Approving the FY 2019/20 SB1 Project List
And Funding Of Gas Tax Expenditures Per Senate Bill No. 1 (SB1): The Road
Repair and Accountability Act of 2017
Recommendation: Adopt Resolution No. 16/2019

4.C. Staff Report and Attachments.pdf
4.D. Approve Accounts Payable Warrants for March, 2019
Recommendation: Approve item as requested

4.D. Staff Report and Attachments.pdf
4.E. Approve March 2019 General Fund Revenue and Expenditure Report
Recommendation: Approve item as requested

4.E. Staff Report and Attachments.pdf
4.F. Approval of Minutes of the April 2, 2019 Regular Town Council Meeting
Recommendation: Approve item as requested
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4.F. 040219 Draft Corte Madera Regular Town Council Minutes.pdf
5.

PUBLIC HEARINGS
5.A. Adopt Resolution No. 17/2019 Approving the Proposed Central Marin
Regional Pathways Gap Closure Project and Approving the Initial Study and
Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Gap Closure Project
Recommendation: Adopt Resolution No. 17/2019

5.A. Staff Report and Attachments.pdf
6.

BUSINESS ITEMS
6.A. Acceptance of Town of Corte Madera Annual Independent Audit Report For
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2018
Recommendation: Accept item as requested

6.A. Staff Report and Attachments.pdf
6.B. Review and Discussion of Town Council Rules and Procedures
Recommendation: Review and discuss item and provide direction to staff

6.B. Staff Report and Attachments.pdf
7.

TOWN MANAGER AND COUNCIL REPORTS
- Town Manager Report
- Council Reports

8.

REVIEW OF DRAFT AGENDA FOR UPCOMING TOWN COUNCIL MEETING
8.A. Review of Draft Agenda for May 7, 2019 Town Council
Recommendation: Review draft agenda and provide direction to staff

8.A. 050719 Draft TC Agenda.pdf
9.

ADJOURNMENT

ORDER OF BUSINESS: The Sanitary District No. 2 (SD2) meetings begin upon conclusion of
the meeting of the Corte Madera Town Council. Agendas for SD2 are posted separately.
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REPORTS: Town Council Staff Reports are usually available by 5:00 p.m., Friday prior to the
Council Meeting, and may be obtained at the Corte Madera Town Hall, or by calling
415-927-5050. Copies of the reports relating to agenda items are available for review in the Town
Clerk's Office, at the Corte Madera Library, Fire Station 13 (5600 Paradise Drive) and
https://www.townofcortemadera.org/681/Agendas-Minutes-and-Notices. Materials related to an
item on this agenda that have been submitted to the Town Council or staff after distribution of the
agenda packet are available for public inspection in the Town Clerk's Office located at Town Hall,
300 Tamalpais Drive, Corte Madera, CA 94925, during normal business hours, 8 a.m. to 12 p.m.
and 1 p.m. to 4 p.m.
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT: If you need special assistance to participate in this
meeting, please contact the Town Clerk at 415-927-5085. For auxiliary aids or services or other
reasonable accommodations to be provided by the Town at or before the meeting please notify
the Town Clerk at least 3 business days in advance of the meeting date. If the town does not
receive timely notification of your reasonable request, the Town may not be able to make the
necessary arrangements by the time of the meeting.
NOTIFICATION LIST: To sign up to receive automatic notifications regarding meetings and
agendas, please visit the Town's website at https://www.townofcortemadera.org and click on
"Notify Me" to register, or email the Town Clerk at: rvaughn@tcmmail.org.
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CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: April 12, 2019
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2019
TO:

Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council

FROM:

Adam Wolff, Director, Planning and Building

SUBJECT:

Second Reading and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 985 An Ordinance Of
The Town Council Of The Town Of Corte Madera, Rezoning A 15.42 Acre
Property South And East Of Robin Drive (APN 038-011-21) From The Hillside
Land Capacity Overlay District To The Planned Development Overlay District To
Facilitate The Residences At Preserve Subdivision Application Submitted By
AIMCO Robin Drive L.C. For A Planned Development, Preliminary Plan, Precise
Plan, Tentative Map, And Design Review To Subdivide The Property Into 19
Lots With A Private Access Road And Construct 16 Single-Family Units With 8
Accessory Dwelling Units, And Associated Landscaping, Tree Removal, And Site
Improvements.


RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that the Town Council adopt Ordinance No. 985, a zoning map amendment
BACKGROUND:
The Corte Madera Town Council is required to have a second reading of proposed Ordinance
amendments. At the April 2, 2019 Town Council meeting, the Corte Madera Town Council
made a unanimous motion (4-0; Bailey absent) to introduce draft Ordinance No. 985.
Relevant background related to the proposed Ordinance can be reviewed in the staff report
prepared for the The Residences at Preserve Subdivision project (the “Project”) at the following
link:
https://legistarwebproduction.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/334137/5.A._Staff_Report_with_Attach
ments.pdf.
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4.B.

FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no anticipated fiscal impact associated with approval of this Project.
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT:
A Draft Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) was prepared for the
Project, including the proposed zoning map amendment implemented by Ordinance No. 985, and
distributed for a 30-day comment period beginning on November 14, 2018. The IS/MND found
that with the adopted mitigation measures the project’s potentially significant effects on the
environment could be mitigated to a less than significant level, and the applicant has agreed to
implement the necessary mitigation measures. The mitigation measures and IS/MND document
have been revised in response to public comments received on the Project as outlined in the
response to comments. The Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan (MMRP) proposed in the
IS/MND reduces potentially-significant environmental effects below the threshold of
significance. The IS/MND and MMRP for the Project was adopted by the Town Council on
April 2, 2019 with the approval of Town Council Resolution No. 13/2019.
OPTIONS:
1. Adopt Ordinance No. 985; and/or
2. Request that the applicant and/or staff respond to comments and/or requests for additional
information, or determine that additional deliberation is needed, and continue the public
hearing to a future meeting
Attachments:
1. Ordinance No. 985: Zoning Amendment.
THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN MANAGER.
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ATTACHMENT 1
ORDINANCE NO. 985
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ORDINANCE NO. 985
REZONING
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF CORTE MADERA
REZONING A 15.42 ACRE PROPERTY SOUTH AND EAST OF ROBIN DRIVE (APN
038-011-21) FROM THE HILLSIDE LAND CAPACITY OVERLAY DISTRICT TO THE
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY DISTRICT TO FACILITATE THE
RESIDENCES AT PRESERVE SUBDIVISION APPLICATION SUBMITTED BY
AIMCO ROBIN DRIVE L.C. FOR A PLANNED DEVELOPMENT, PRELIMINARY
PLAN, PRECISE PLAN, TENTATIVE MAP, AND DESIGN REVIEW TO SUBDIVIDE
THE PROPERTY INTO 19 LOTS WITH A PRIVATE ACCESS ROAD AND
CONSTRUCT 16 SINGLE-FAMILY UNITS WITH 8 ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS,
AND ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING, TREE REMOVAL, AND SITE
IMPROVEMENTS.

WHEREAS, On April 21, 2009, the Town Council conducted a public hearing on the Town of
Corte Madera 2009 General Plan (the “2009 General Plan”), including the Revised Final
Environmental Impact Report (FEIR) and its accompanying Mitigation Monitoring and
Reporting Program, and considered all oral and written testimony submitted to the Town
regarding the same prior to taking its action. By Resolution No. 3595, the Town Council certified
the FEIR for the General Plan, and considered the FEIR and identified mitigation measures prior
to taking action to adopt the 2009 General Plan, including its related goals, policies and
programs, by separate Resolution No. 3594; and
WHEREAS, in March of 2014, the Town Council of the Town of Corte Madera directed staff to
prepare a draft Housing Element for the 2015-2023 housing cycle to update the existing Housing
Element approved in April 2011; and
WHEREAS, on April 28, 2015, following a written statement from the California Department of
Housing and Community Development on April 2, 2015 that the draft 2015-2023 Housing
Element would comply with State Housing Element law, the Planning Commission passed
resolution 15-004 recommending the Town Council of the Town of Corte Madera adopt an
amendment to the 2009 General Plan to incorporate the 2015-2023 draft Housing Element; and
WHEREAS, On May 19, 2015, the Town Council passed Resolution 21/2015 authorizing an
amendment to the 2009 General Plan to adopt and incorporate the Town of Corte Madera 20152023 Housing Element; and
WHEREAS, the Corte Madera 2015-2023 Housing Element includes, among other policies,
Policy H-2.6, which names the subject property as a High Potential Housing Opportunity site;
and
WHEREAS, ON July 12, 2016, The Corte Madera Planning Commission conducted a duly
noticed informational study session with Aimco Robin Drive L.C. on a conceptual plan for a
8
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residential rental subdivision project consisting of a Zoning Amendment, Planned Development,
Preliminary Plan, Precise Plan, Tentative Map, and Design Review to subdivide the subject
property into 19 lots with a private access road, and construct a 16-unit single-family subdivision
with 8 accessory dwelling units, landscaping, tree removal, and site improvements at the base of
Robin Drive (APN 038-011-21); and
WHEREAS, Aimco Robin Drive L.C. submitted a formal application on May 8, 2017 for a
Zoning Amendment, Planned Development, Preliminary Plan, Precise Plan, Tentative Map, and
Design Review to subdivide the property into 19 lots with a private access road, and construct a
16-unit single-family subdivision with 8 accessory dwelling units, landscaping, tree removal, and
site improvements at the subject property on Robin Drive; and
WHEREAS, the requested Zoning Amendment includes a rezoning of the project site to remove
the existing Hillside Land Capacity Overlay District and add the Planned Development Overlay
District to the property to allow for a for a clustered subdivision involving 16 single-family
homes with 8 accessory dwelling units and associated site improvements; and

WHEREAS, the Town contracted with GHD, Inc., to conduct an environmental review of the
proposed project; and
WHEREAS, after completing an Initial Study, a Mitigated Negative Declaration was prepared
for the project. The Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration identifies and analyzes
potential environmental impacts and the mitigation measures, which if adopted will reduce any
potential impacts to less than significant, and which have been agreed to by the applicant and
incorporated by reference into the project conditions of approval; and
WHEREAS, on November 13, 2018 the Notice of Completion and Draft Initial
Study/Environmental Checklist for the project was filed with the State Clearinghouse beginning
a 30-day public review period; and
WHEREAS, on November 14, 2018 the Notice of Availability and Notice of Intent to Adopt a
Mitigated Negative Declaration for the project was filed with the Marin County Clerk; and
WHEREAS, on November 14, 2018 the Notice of Availability of the Draft Initial
Study/Environmental Checklist and Notice of Public Hearing for the project were mailed to
residents within 500 feet of the subject property; and
WHEREAS, staff conducted meetings with representatives of the California Department of Fish
and Wildlife, San Francisco district Regional Water Quality Control Board, Marin Audubon
Society, and Marin County Parks staff, who submitted comments into the public record in
response to the Notice of Availability and Notice of Intent to Adopt a Mitigated Negative
Declaration for the project; and
WHEREAS, GHD, Inc. prepared a comprehensive response to comments and updated
Mitigations in the Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting Plan for the project addressing all
9
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comments received during the Notice of Availability and Notice of Intent to Adopt a Mitigated
Negative Declaration period, including comments received through staff meetings with
commenting agencies; and
WHEREAS, on February 15, 2019 the Town sent a notice to all properties within 500 feet of the
project site announcing a February 26, 2019 Planning Commission hearing to review the
application; and
WHEREAS, on February 26, 2019, the Corte Madera Planning Commission held a public
hearing on the project, heard testimony from the applicant and interested parties, and at the close
of the public hearing voted to adopt Resolution No. 19-008, recommending that the Town
Council of the Town of Corte Madera approve the rezoning, as well as Resolution Nos: 19-007
and 19-009 through 19-010 recommending Town Council approval of the requested Planned
Development, Preliminary Plan, Precise Plan, Tentative Map and Design Review for the project.
WHEREAS, on March 22, 2019 the Town sent a notice to all properties within 500 feet of the
project site announcing the April 02, 2019 Town Council meeting on the project; and
WHEREAS, on April 02, 2019, the Town Council of the Town of Corte Madera conducted a
public hearing on the Project, including the environmental determination, and considered all oral
and written testimony submitted to the Town regarding the project prior to taking its actions on
the Zoning Amendment.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Town Council of the Town of Corte
Madera hereby finds and resolves as follows:
1. Recitals
The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated into the findings herein.

2. Record
The Record of Proceedings (“Record”) upon which the Council makes its recommendation
includes, but is not limited to:
(1) the 2009 General Plan including the 2015-2023 Housing Element, (2) the FEIR certified for
the 2009 General Plan, including the appendices and technical reports cited in and/or relied upon
in preparing the FEIR, (3) the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Residences at
Preserve Subdivision Project, including the Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting Plan, and
Response to Comments received on the project; (4) Exhibit A of this Resolution containing a
map of the project site with the proposed Zoning Amendment; (5) all staff reports, project
applications, Town files and records and other documents prepared for and/or submitted to the
Town Council relating to the Residences at Preserve Subdivision Project, and its request for a
Zoning Amendment, Planned Development, Preliminary Plan, Precise Plan, Tentative Map, and
Design Review, (6) all documentary and oral evidence received at public hearings or submitted
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to the Town relating to the project, and (7) all matters of common knowledge to the Town
Council and the Town, including, but not limited to, Town, state, and federal laws, policies,
rules, regulations, reports, records and projections related to development within the Town and
its surrounding areas.
The location and custodian of the Record is the Planning Director of the Town of Corte Madera,
300 Tamalpais Drive, Corte Madera, CA 94925.
3. Compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)
The Town Council of the Town of Corte Madera has reviewed the Mitigated Negative
Declaration (MND) Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting Plan, and Response to Comments
received on the project, and based on its independent judgement and analysis determines that the
MND was prepared in accordance with the CEQA and that based on the whole record, including
public comments received during the public review process, there is not substantial evidence that
the project will have a significant effect on the environment.
In particular, the Town Council has reviewed the Mandatory Findings of Significance (Section
XVII of the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration) and concurs with the findings that the
Project will have a less than significant impact on the environment for the reasons specified. The
Town Council’s adopted the IS/MND prepared for the project by approving Town Council
resolution No. 13/2019.
4. Amendment
The Town Council amends Corte Madera Municipal Code §18.06.020 - District Boundaries and
the Official Zoning Map of the Town of Corte Madera by increasing the area zoned Planned
Development Overlay District to include the project site at APN 038-011-21 totaling 15.42 acres,
and decreasing the area zoned Hillside Land Capacity Overlay by the same amount so that the
Planned Development Overlay applies to the entire project site and the Hillside Land Capacity
does not apply to the project site (Exhibit A).
5. Severability
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance is for any reason
held invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining
portions of the ordinance. The Town Council hereby declares that it would have passed this and
each section, subsection, phrase or clause thereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more
sections, subsections, phrases, or clauses be declared unconstitutional on their face or as applied.
6. Effective Date
This ordinance shall go into effect thirty (30) days after the date of its passage and adoption.
7. Posting
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The Clerk of the Town shall cause this ordinance to be published and/or posted within fifteen
days after its adoption.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Town Council approves the
rezoning to increase the area zoned Planned Development Overlay to include the 15.42-acre
project site APN 038-011-21 and decrease the area zoned Hillside Land Capacity by the same
amount, as shown in Exhibit A based on the following findings:
General
The Town Council finds that the Zoning Ordinance Amendment is in the best interest of the
Town by allowing for the development of a High Potential Housing Opportunity site in
accordance with the development program identified for the site in Corte Madera 2015-2023
Housing Element Policy H-2.6. The Zoning Amendment is consistent with the purpose of the
Planned Development Overlay District, which is to “provide locations for well-planned
developments… permit clusters of multiple-unit residential developments in appropriate
locations within single-family residential zones… protect the appearance and character of
areas of public interest or high visibility… permit flexibility in the design and use of an
individually owned property or a group of separately owned properties.” Furthermore, the
development considerations and protections afforded by the Hillside Land Capacity Overlay
have been incorporated into the project’s Planned Development program; the site has been
adequately analyzed, and the project has been appropriately designed to ensure that the
development density, structural and geotechnical integrity, and site design respect the
limitations and constraints of the hillside property, including those constraints related to
geology, natural resources, wildfire risks, and scenic qualities.
Required Zoning Ordinance Amendment Findings
Pursuant to Corte Madera Municipal Code §18.36.090, to authorize replacing the Hillside
Land Capacity Overlay District with the Planned Development Overlay District through a
Zoning Amendment, the Town Council shall make the following findings:
1. The Zoning Amendment is consistent with the General Plan.
The project site is identified as a High Potential Housing Opportunity Area in the Town
of Corte Madera 2015-2023 Housing Element Implementation Program H-2.6.a. The
Program establishes a density capacity of up to 16 single-family units and 8 ADUs on the
site through implementation of the Hillside Land Capacity (HLC) Overlay Zoning
District standards for the property. Due to the potential environmental impacts associated
with tree loss, the Housing Element notes the site’s realistic development capacity may
be 15 single-family units and 8 ADUs. This site capacity is calculated in accordance with
the HLC Overlay Zoning District standards outlined in CMMC §18.18.105 through 110.
In the HLC Overlay, density is limited using a sliding scale that reduces the effective
buildable area according to average slope as outlined in CMMC §18.18.115.
The requested rezone to the Planned Development Overlay is consistent with the General
Plan because it allows for housing development on the site that achieves the 16-unit
projected capacity while addressing the unique conditions and constraints faced by the
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project, specifically:
a. The Planned Development Overlay District allows for adjustments to Zoning
Ordinance requirements beyond development standards that are necessary for the
project, including the owner-occupancy waiver that is critical to enable the rental
model proposed by the applicant, and the inclusionary housing exemption for
accessory dwelling units and associated primary units that is necessary to
implement the housing development program identified for the site in Housing
Element Program
b. The Planned Development application, as conditioned incorporates all the
analyses and review requirements applicable to the HLC Overlay District,
therefore the project is sufficiently vetted and appropriately designed to account
for the geotechnical, scenic qualities, view impacts, environmental, wildfire and
other considerations that are critical to hillside development.
c. The Planned Development, as proposed, maintains the same residential density
contemplated by the HLC Overlay District and therefore respects the carrying
capacity of the site.
d. The Planned Development, as conditioned and with the CEQA IS/MND
mitigations incorporated, yields a more desirable development outcome than HLC
controls could achieve alone by clustering structures and reducing the Project’s
overall footprint. The Planned Development design minimizes tree loss and other
habitat impacts due to a clustered subdivision design. Planned Development is
necessary to allow for modified development standards that allow development to
conform to the physical and environmental limitations of the property.
2. The Zoning Amendment conforms with the Zoning Ordinance.
The Project site is dual zoned: the “lower” area of the site, which contains the proposed
structures and site improvements associated with the project, is within the R-1 Zoning
District. The “upper” area of the site is within the R-1-C Open Residential Zoning
District. The purpose of the R-1 District is to implement the Low Density Residential
General Plan land use designation, and the R-1-C District implements the Open
Residential land use designation. The Zoning Amendment does not affect the base zoning
designations.
The entire property is currently in the HLC Overlay District. The requested Zoning
Amendment will remove the HLC Overlay and install the Planned Development Overlay
District over the site as shown in Exhibit A.
The Town Council must determine that the Zoning Amendment meets the following
objectives of the Planned Development Overlay District as defined in CMMC
§18.18.305:
1. Permitting clusters of multiple-unit residential development in appropriate
locations.
Planned Development allows the project to concentrate residential structures within
an already-disturbed portion of the site, limiting development on hillsides and
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associated grading, limiting structures and improvements within forested and other
sensitive habitat areas, and reducing the required circulation infrastructure that is
needed to serve the subdivision. The existing R-1 and R-1-C zoning under HLC
overlay zoning would result in a more dispersed and impactful subdivision layout
than is enabled by a Planned Development with the requested modifications to
development standards.
2. Protecting the appearance and character of areas of public interest or high
visibility.
The clustering enabled by Planned Development and the associated modified
development standards allows all structures and site improvements to be located more
than 50 feet from ridgelines. The clustering achieves the intended density for the site
that is anticipated in the Housing Element while preserving the “upper” R-1-C zoned
parcel as private open space in perpetuity. The “upper” area will provide a potential
public access trail easement to ensure public enjoyment of the open hillsides
surrounding Ring Mountain. Planned Development clustering also allows the
structures to be set back from Paradise Drive, leaving a wide landscaped buffer
between the roadway and the development, thereby maintaining the scenic qualities
of the road. The clustered development enabled by Planned Development protects the
appearance and character of areas of public interest or high visibility
3. Permitting flexibility in the design and use of property to allow for economy,
convenience and amenity in development.
The most significant shift in development standards enabled by the PD rezone is to
reduce the minimum required lot width within the R-1 zone. This allows 15 of the
new lots to fan off the one-way loop road, thereby clustering the homes. “Adjusting
lot lines to and the location of building pads to minimize tree loss” is identified as
possibly necessary to reduce environmental impacts on the site in the Housing
Element (Page 60).
Furthermore, pursuant to CMMC §18.18.345, the following additional findings must be
made to rezone a property to the Planned Development Overlay:
1. The development is compatible in appearance, character and scale with
surrounding developments.
The area is defined by the Preserve at Marin apartments to the west, Tiburon’s singlefamily neighborhoods to the west and south, and open space ridges to the south. The
clustered site layout enabled by the Planned Development program contributes
significantly to blending the development into the neighborhood context by
establishing wide separation from adjacent developed properties. Natural site
features, including the hillsides and vegetation insulate the development from
surrounding properties and the property slopes up from Paradise Drive.
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The project’s modern rectilinear architecture is harmonious with surrounding
structures. Other single-family residences in the area range in size from 2,000 square
feet to over 7,600 square feet (median: 4,200 square feet) on varying sized lots
(median lot size: 1 acre). Residential architecture in the vicinity varies widely from
Spanish colonial, to California modern and more contemporary rectilinear forms, to
wood-shingle Tudor design, to New England brick forms.
The proposed subdivision is modern and rectilinear and incorporates features (earth
tones and wood material as accents) to soften the structures in the wooded landscape.
The proposed housing units range in size from 3,000 square feet to 4,900 square feet,
where the minimum primary unit size is 1,810 square feet and the maximum is 4,142
square feet at lot 16. Accessory units range between 665-749 square feet. Therefore,
apart from lot 16 all of the proposed units are well below the median home size for
the area. Thus, the subdivision functions as a land use and structural transition
between low density residential development in Tiburon and along the shoreline and
the Preserve apartment complex. The development is compatible with surrounding
developments.
2. The development is environmentally sensitive.
The clustered site design achieves the intended development program articulated in
the Housing Element for this site while minimizing the overall footprint, and
environmental impact, of the project. The project, with CEQA mitigations
incorporated, does not generate significant environmental impacts. The project
preserves 10.75 acres as private open space at the site in perpetuity, incorporates
significant habitat restoration through invasive removal and native replanting, and
incorporates the geotechnical construction and design requirements that are necessary
to ensure structural integrity and safety during construction and at occupancy. The
project includes a detailed Vegetation Management Plan, subject to the oversight of
the Fire Marshall, which ensures that site landscaping is managed to reduce wildfire
fuels to the maximum extent feasible and in perpetuity.
3. The development is suitable in mass, bulk, and proportions for its use, the size of
parcel(s), and the environmental qualities.
The Planned Development site plan effectively balances the Housing Element
development program for the property and development restrictions on the hillside
site. The number of units proposed is consistent with the Housing Element
Implementation program H-2.6.b, and the clustered site plan ensures that buildout
minimizes encroachment into sloped areas, established forested areas, and identified
sensitive habitat. Due to the clustered design, the size and configuration of the
proposed lots ensures that the residential structures are of reasonable size for the
context. Single-family units range from 1,810ft2 to 3,318ft2 (except lot 16 totals
4,142ft2), and accessory units range between 665ft2 to 749ft2. The proposed unit sizes
are smaller than the typical single-family household size in the vicinity and the
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accessory units are substantially smaller compared to the residential products
available in the area.
The clustered design avoids sensitive environmental areas and ensures 10.75 acres is
preserved as private open in perpetuity. The development is suitable in mass, bulk,
parcel size and layout given the context and environmental conditions.
4. The development achieves variety and interest of design and materials.
Six design typologies are provided for the 16 structures proposed in the project. Each
typology incorporates a variety of high quality, earth-tone materials, context-specific
design, and articulating features to create visual depth and variety. Facades with
prominent repetitive garage faces are required to provide additional articulation prior
to the issuance of Building Permit to activate the buildings and the private roadway.
The project, as conditioned, achieves variety and interest in design and materials.
5. Compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)
The Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration was prepared for the Project in
accordance with the California Environmental Quality Review Act and that based on
the whole record, including public comments received during the public review
process, there is not substantial evidence that the project will have a significant effect
on the environment as more fully set forth in the Findings in Town Council
Resolution 13/2019.

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Ordinance was introduced by the Town Council of
Corte Madera at a regular meeting held on the 2nd day of April 2019, and adopted by the Town
Council of Corte Madera at a regular meeting held on the 16th day of April 2019, by the
following vote, to wit:
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:

Councilmembers:
Councilmembers:
Councilmembers:

Bob Ravasio, Mayor

ATTEST:

Rebecca Vaughn, Town Clerk
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA
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EXISTING HILLSIDE LAND CAPACITY OVERLAY

OPEN RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED PLANNED DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY

LOW-DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

RPD

MEDIUM-DENSITY
RPD RESIDENTIAL
HIGH-DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

PUBLIC AND SEMI-PUBLIC FACILITIES

RPD

RESIDENTIAL OPEN (20,000 SQUARE FEET)
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CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: April 9, 2019
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2019
TO:

Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council

FROM:

R.J. Suokko, Senior Civil Engineer

SUBJECT:

Adopt Resolution No. 16/2019: Approving the FY 2019/20 SB1 Project List and
Funding of Gas Tax Expenditures Per Senate Bill No. 1 (SB1)


RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that the Town Council adopt Resolution No. 16/2019. This resolution accepts
$177,483 in SB1 gas taxes from the State to the Town for use on three listed eligible projects.

BACKGROUND:
On April 28, 2017, Governor Brown signed Senate Bill 1 (SB1), also known as the Road Repair
and Accountability Act of 2017. The legislation increased vehicle registration fees (based on
vehicle value), along with 12-cent per-gallon gas tax increase and a 20-cent per gallon diesel fuel
tax increase. The tax rates are adjusted for inflation over time.
On November 1, 2017, the State Controller deposited various portions of this new funding into
the newly created Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account (RMRA). Distribution of funds
to Corte Madera follow the apportionment formula used for the current gas tax (based on
population and lane miles). Funding will be available for basic road maintenance, rehabilitation
and critical safety projects on local streets and roads.
In order to secure these SB1 funds, several requirements must be met each year, which include
reviewing what projects are eligible for funding and adopting a project list that has been
approved by resolution.

DISCUSSION:
Pursuant to Streets and Highways Code Section 2030, RMRA local streets and roads allocations
must be used for projects “that include, but are not limited to,” the following
18
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4.C.







Road maintenance and rehabilitation
Safety projects
Railroad grade separations
Traffic control devices
Complete street components, “including active transportation purposes, pedestrian and
bicycle safety projects, transit facilities, and drainage and storm-water capture projects in
conjunction with any other allowable project.”

RMRA funds may also be used to satisfy a local match requirement in order to obtain state or
federal funds for eligible projects.
SB1 also contains non-obligatory intent language regarding the use of funds. “To the extent
possible and cost effective,” cities and counties are to use:
 advanced recycling techniques that reduce greenhouse gas emissions;
 automotive technologies, ZEV fueling, infrastructure-to-vehicle;
 communications autonomous vehicle systems;
 resiliency, climate change, fires, floods, sea level rise;
 complete street elements, access for bicycles, pedestrians.
SB1 requires annual project reporting, which includes the submittal of an adopted project list that
has been approved by resolution. The Project List must include a description, the location of the
project, a proposed schedule of completion and an estimated useful life of the improvement. All
of this required information is contained in the table below:
FY 2019/2020 SB1 Project List (to be partially funded by SB1 funds):
Project Title
Project Location
Estimated Estimated
Total
Useful
Completion Construction
Life1
Date
Cost2
(years)
2019 Pavement
Montecito Dr., Meadow
15
12/2019
$ 1,200,000
Rehabilitation
Ridge Dr., Ridge Ct.,
Project
Manzanita Ave.,
Eastman Dr., Sausalito
St., Oakdale Ave., and
Buena Vista Ave.
Tamal Vista Blvd.
Tamal Vista Blvd.
15
12/2019
$ 2,700,000
Complete Streets
between Fifer Ave. and
Improvements
Madera Blvd.
2020 Road Sealant
San Clemente Dr.,
5 - 10
12/2020
$ 1,000,000
Project
Redwood Hwy., Madera
Del Presidio Blvd., and
Koch Rd.
1.
2.

Useful life refers to the time estimated for the improvements to require major repair or replacement. Increased
maintenance can help extend the useful life of an improvement.
This amount represents the estimated total cost to construct the project and does not separate out the amounts that
will be funded using SB1, local or other sources.
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Approval of this item will adopt the FY 2019/2020 SB1 Project List and the expected revenue
from SB1.
The deadline for the submission of the FY 2019/2020 SB1 Project List to the California
Transportation Commission (CTC) is May 1, 2019. Additionally, the deadline for submitting FY
2019/2020 expenditure reports (Project Expenditure Report) to the CTC is October 1, 2019.

FISCAL IMPACT:
The State began collecting the increased gas tax and vehicle registration fees on November 1,
2017. The expected revenue to be distributed to Corte Madera will be approximately $177,483
in FY 2019/2020. The funding from SB1 will supplement the existing funding sources for these
projects.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT:
Pursuant to Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations, Section 15061(b)(3), this ordinance is
exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) in that it is
not an activity which has the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment.

OPTIONS:
1. Adopt Resolution No. 16/2019
2. Provide comments to staff and recommend edits to the Resolution, as necessary, and adopt the
Resolution as amended; or
3. Take no action at this time.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Attachment 1
THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN MANAGER.

20
3

ATTACHMENT 1
RESOLUTION NO. 16/2019
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RESOLUTION NO. 16/2019
RESOLUTION ADOPTING A LIST OF PROJECTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2019-20
FUNDED BY SENATE BILL NO. 1 (SB1): THE ROAD REPAIR AND
ACCOUNTABILITY ACT OF 2017


WHEREAS, Senate Bill No.1 (SB1), the Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 (Chapter
5, Statutes of 2017) was passed by the Legislature and Signed into law by the Governor in April
2017; and
WHEREAS, SB 1 includes accountability and transparency provisions that will ensure the
residents of our Town are aware of the projects proposed for funding in our community and
which projects have been completed each fiscal year; and
WHEREAS, the Town of Corte Madera must adopt by resolution a list of projects proposed to
receive fiscal year funding from the Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account (RMRA),
created by SB 1, which must include a description and the location of each proposed project, a
proposed schedule for the project’s completion, and the estimated useful life of the improvement;
and
WHEREAS, the Town of Corte Madera, will receive an estimated $177,483 in RMRA funding
in Fiscal Year 2019-20 from SB 1; and
WHEREAS, this is the third year in which the Town of Corte Madera is receiving SB 1 funding
and will enable the Town of Corte Madera to continue essential road maintenance and
rehabilitation projects, safety improvements, repairing and replacing aging bridges, and
increasing access and mobility options for the traveling public that would not have otherwise
been possible without SB 1; and
WHEREAS, the Town of Corte Madera has undergone a public process to ensure public input
into our community’s transportation priorities/the project list; and
WHEREAS, the Town of Corte Madera used a Pavement Management System to develop the
SB 1 project list to ensure revenues are being used on the most high-priority and cost-effective
projects that also meet the communities priorities for transportation investment; and
WHEREAS, the funding from SB 1 will help the Town of Corte Madera maintain and
rehabilitate approximately nine (9) roads throughout the Town of Corte Madera this year; and
WHEREAS, the 2018 California Statewide Local Streets and Roads Needs Assessment found
that the Town of Corte Madera’s streets and roads are in a “fair” condition and this revenue will
help us increase the overall quality of our road system and over the next decade will bring our
streets and roads into “good” condition; and
5
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WHEREAS, the SB 1 project list and overall investment in our local streets and roads
infrastructure with a focus on basic maintenance and safety, investing in complete streets
infrastructure, and using cutting-edge technology, materials and practices, will have significant
positive co-benefits statewide.
NOW, THEREFORE IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, ORDERED AND FOUND by the
Town Council of the Town of Corte Madera, State of California, as follows:
1.

The foregoing recitals are true and correct.

2.

The following list of proposed projects will be funded in-part or solely with fiscal year
2019-20 Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account revenues:
Project Title

2019 Pavement
Rehabilitation
Project

2020 Road Sealant
Project

1.
2.

3.

Project Location

Estimated
Useful
Life1
(years)

Estimated
Completion
Date

Total
Construction
Cost2

Montecito Dr.,
Meadow Ridge Dr.,
Ridge Ct., Manzanita
Ave., Eastman Dr.,
Sausalito St., Oakdale
Ave., and Buena Vista
Ave.
San Clemente Dr.,
Redwood Hwy.,
Madera Del Presidio
Blvd., and Koch Rd.

15

12/2019

$ 1,200,000

5 - 10

12/2020

$ 1,000,000

Useful life refers to the time estimated for the improvements to require major repair or replacement.
Increased maintenance can help extend the useful life of an improvement.
This amount represents the estimated total cost to construct the project and does not separate out the
amounts that will be funded using SB1, local or other sources.

The following previously proposed and adopted projects may utilize fiscal year 2019-20
Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account revenues in their delivery. With the
relisting of these projects in the adopted fiscal year resolution, the Town is reaffirming to
the public and the State our intent to fund these projects with Road Maintenance and
Rehabilitation Account revenues:
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Originally listed in FY 2018/19:
Project Title
Project Location

Tamal Vista Blvd.
Complete Streets
Improvements
1.
2.

Estimated
Useful Life1
(years)

Tamal Vista Blvd.
between Fifer Ave.
and Madera Blvd.

15

Revised
Estimated
Completion
Date
12/2020

Total
Construction
Cost2
$ 2,700,000

Useful life refers to the time estimated for the improvements to require major repair or replacement.
Increased maintenance can help extend the useful life of an improvement.
This amount represents the estimated total cost to construct the project and does not separate out the
amounts that will be funded using SB1, local or other sources.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Corte Madera, State of
California this _______ day of _______, 2019, by the following vote:


I, the undersigned, hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and complete copy of a
resolution duly passed and adopted by the Town Council of the Town of Corte Madera at a
meeting thereof held on the 16th day of April, 2019, by the following vote:
Ayes, and in favor thereof, Council Members:
Noes, Council Members:
Abstain, Council Members:
Absent, Council Members:
Dated: April 16, 2019

ATTEST:
Rebecca Vaughn, Town Clerk

Approved: _______________________________
Bob Ravasio, Mayor
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CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: March 29, 2019
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2019
TO:

Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council

FROM:

Daria Carrillo, Finance Director

SUBJECT:

Accounts Payable Warrants, March 2019


RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Acknowledge and file: 1) warrant numbers 220601 to 220815 in the amount of $1,175,022.13, 2)
voided check number 220643 in the amount of $105,330.30 which was issued to the wrong vendor
and 3) transfers to the payro1l account totaling $594,460.03.

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:
The attached Check Report was produced from the Town’s financial system. It includes all checks
issued from the Bank of Marin operating account during the month of March 2019, including
checks issued on behalf of Central Marin Fire Authority.
In addition to the Bank of Marin operating account, the Town maintains a payroll account at Bank
of Marin. The payroll account is a controlled account for payroll transactions only. All payroll
related items will be paid from the payroll account. Nearly all of the transactions, including direct
deposit payments to employees, state and federal tax payments, and CalPERS payments for
retirement and for medical payments, are made electronically. Also paid through this account are
reimbursements for retiree health insurance.
In March 2019, the Town transferred $594,460.03 from the operating account to the payroll
account for payroll and payroll related expenditures.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
25
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4.D.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT:
This activity is not defined as a project under CEQA (Section 15378 CEQA Guidelines).

OPTIONS:
1. Approve the warrant listing as presented.
2. Take no action at this time.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Attachment 1 – Check Report, March 2019

THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN MANAGER.
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ATTACHMENT 1
Check Report, March 2019
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Check Report
By Check Number

Corte Madera, CA

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Vendor Name
Payable #
Payable Type
Bank Code: AP Bank-AP Bank
4l050c
4LEAF, INC.
J0599-19AR
Invoice
J3548V
Invoice

Post Date

Payment Date
Payment Type
Payable Description

Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Discount Amount
Payable Amount

03/06/2019
03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
BUILDING PLAN CHECKING
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00
0.00

aa101c
01/31/2019

A & S LANDSCAPE MATERIALS, INC
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00

st024c
59917

ALPHAGRAPHICS
Invoice

03/06/2019
OFFICE SUPPLIES

0.00

ar125c
02/28/2019STMT

ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICES'
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERVICES

0.00

at110c
AT & T MOBILITY-287245897656
03/06/2019
287245897656X0… Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
UTILITES-TELEPHONE

0.00

bl031c
0333

BLUE PRINT MART, LLC
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

pe140c
8096

CARLO PEROZZI
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
GROUNDS MAINTENANCE FOR FEBRUARY

0.00

va040c
R-35526

CARLOS MARTIN VASQUEZ
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
CM FC SOCCER TRAINER

0.00

ch050c
0171301

CHARLES ELECTRIC
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
PUMP STATION MAINTENANCE

0.00

ch250c
02/22/2019STMT

CHEVRON & TEXACO BUSINESS CARD
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
VEHICLE SUPPLIES - FUEL

0.00

ch250cm
02/22/2019STMT

03/06/2019
Regular
CHEVRON & TEXACO BUSINESS CARE SERVICES
03/06/2019
VEHICLE SUPPLIES - FUEL
Invoice

0.00

cl106c
277004

CLICKTIME.COM
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

co669c
01/10/2019STMT

CO OF MARIN CENTRAL COLLECTION 180093
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
RADIO SHOP SVCS - NOVEMBER 2018

0.00

03/06/2019

03/06/2019

03/06/2019

Regular

31,260.70 220601
4,530.00
26,730.70

0.00

3,666.71 220602
3,666.71

0.00

533.15 220603
533.15

0.00

2,164.77 220604
2,164.77

0.00

218.66 220605
218.66

0.00

39.24 220606
39.24

0.00

600.00 220607
600.00

0.00

525.00 220608
525.00

0.00

6,528.71 220609
6,528.71

0.00

5,080.61 220610
5,080.61

0.00

2,259.35 220611
2,259.35

0.00

72.00 220612
72.00

0.00

co173c
03/06/2019
Regular
COMCAST - 0209597, 0209571 & 0056329 - CORP. YARD
03/06/2019
UTILITIES-INTERNET
03/10/19-03/31/19 Invoice

0.00

co121c
COMCAST- 028617, 0208847, 5594 0010011 - REC. 03/06/2019
DEPT.
03/06/2019
UTILITIES - CABLE
03/01/19-03/31/19 Invoice

0.00

450.10 220613
450.10

0.00

Regular

113.38 220614
113.38

0.00

jo005c
1082

CORE HEATING & AIR CONDITIONING
01/29/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
BUILDING MAINTENANCE

0.00

co195c
02/14/2019STMT

CORPORATE PAYMENT SYSTEMS
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
CREDIT CARDS PAYMENTS FOR FEB - 2019

0.00

da025cm
58866
58935

D & K AUTO SERVICE
Invoice
Invoice

03/06/2019
03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
VEHICLE MAINTENANCE - U13
VEHICLE MAINTENANCE - U14

0.00
0.00

da025c
60385
60386

D & K AUTO SERVICES
Invoice
Invoice

03/06/2019
03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
OILS AND TRANSMISSION KIT
EXHAUST FLUID

0.00
0.00

3/28/2019 11:27:17 AM

0.00

143.50 220615
143.50

0.00

616.85 220616
616.85

0.00

5,169.09 220617
5,169.09

0.00

258.64 220618
131.01
127.63

0.00

752.29 220619
260.24
86.78
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Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Payable #
60394
60396

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Invoice
Invoice

Post Date
03/06/2019
03/06/2019

Payment Date
Payment Type
Payable Description
FRONT/REAR SHOCKS & AIR FILTER
ANTI-FREEZE COLLANT

su103c
1604

DANIEL MUTISO MUITHYA
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
JANITORIAL SERVICES

0.00

em121c
64102

EMERGENCY EQUIPMENT
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
COLTHING/DAILY UNIFORMS

0.00

fo001cm
24562

FOURTH STREET PRESS
Invoice

03/06/2019
OFFICE SUPPLIES

Regular

03/06/2019

0.00

do113c
R-33967

GARY DOWNING
Invoice

03/06/2019
MEETINGS

Regular

03/06/2019

gl102c
10087168

GLOBALSTAR USA
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
UTILITIES-TELEPHONE

0.00

go410c
101131
101136
101140

GOLDEN STATE CHEMICAL & SUPPLY
03/06/2019
Invoice
03/06/2019
Invoice
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
DOG LINER BAGS
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00
0.00
0.00

go300c
02/25/2019STMT

GOODMAN BUILDING SUPPLY
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00

gr064c
9089971924

GRAINGER (REC.)
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
BUILDING MAINTENANCE

0.00

he001cm
02202019

HEALTHY FIREFIGHTERS USA, INC.
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
YEARLY PHYSICALS

0.00

ho175c
1Q096183
1Q096521
1Q096534
1Q096546
1Q100250

HORIZON
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
IRRIGATION SUPPLIES
FLEXRAKE/LAWN RAKE- DEPARTMENT SUPPL…
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES
IRRIGATION PARTS FOR VERONA PLACE
IRRIGATION PARTS FOR VERONA PLACE

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

ja002
A19735

JACK DOHENY COMPANIES, INC.
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
TRAINING AND EDUCATION

0.00

ji101c
02/28/2019STMT

JIM CORBET'S ACE HARDWARE
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
BUILDING SUPPLIES

0.00

oh100c
003

JOANNE O'HEHIR
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERVICES PUBLIC MEETING

0.00

ma053c
JOHN MAJOR
FOLIO# 645-0331… Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY TAX

0.00

ka0025c
1512

KAPPE ARCHITECTS
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERVICES - 19.02 TOWN HALL COM…

0.00

ke005c
R-33966

KEVIN OLSEN
Invoice

03/06/2019
MEETING

Regular

03/06/2019

0.00

ln075c
INV258381

L.N. CURTIS & SONS
Invoice

03/06/2019
TOOLS

Regular

03/06/2019

la001c
1002

LAURIE RICE
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
DISASTER PREPAREDNESS SERVICE

0.00

ma550cm
02/12/2019

MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
UTILITIES-WATER

0.00

03/06/2019
03/06/2019
03/06/2019
03/06/2019
03/06/2019

Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
0.00
294.67
0.00
110.60
0.00

2,394.00 220620
2,394.00

0.00

1,228.88 220621
1,228.88

0.00

102.46 220622
102.46

0.00
0.00

13.71 220623
13.71

0.00

89.96 220624
89.96

0.00

3,536.86 220625
1,523.11
604.11
1,409.64

0.00

79.53 220626
79.53

0.00

148.92 220627
148.92

0.00

17,295.00 220628
17,295.00

0.00

842.57 220629
174.39
152.12
57.09
88.45
370.52

0.00

1,950.00 220630
1,950.00

0.00

95.04 220631
95.04

0.00

634.00 220632
634.00

0.00

447.54 220633
447.54

0.00

10,709.60 220634
10,709.60

0.00

0.00

4,049.35 220636
4,049.35

0.00

5,721.25 220637
5,721.25

0.00

Regular

14.17 220635
14.17

0.00

148.73 220638
148.73
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Vendor Number
Payable #
pc101c
11049
11050

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

03/06/2019
03/06/2019

Payment Date
Payment Type
Payable Description
03/06/2019
Regular
OTHER OUTSIDE SERVICES - OFFICE SUPPLIES
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
BUILDING SUPPLIES

0.00

mu125c
0134475-IN

MUNICIPAL MAINT.EQUIP., INC.
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00

ne040c
6268589

NELSON PERSONNEL SERVICES
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

nu040c
02/27/2019STMT

NUTE ENGINEERING
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
FIFER PUMP STATION MODIFCATIONS - PROJ…

0.00

nu040c
of029c
275536414001
280189652001

NUTE ENGINEERING
OFFICE DEPOT-FIRE-89507905 FILE #81901
03/06/2019
Invoice
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
03/06/2019
OFFICE SUPPLIES
OFFICE SUPPLIES

ol005c
184727

OLD TOWN GLASS, INC.
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

pa175c
02/21/2019STMT

PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
UTILITIES

0.00

pr111c
127395085

PROTECTION ONE ALARM MON., INC
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
BUILDING MAINTENANCE

0.00

pu030c
039403
039411
039412

PUMP REPAIR SERVICE CO.
03/06/2019
Invoice
03/06/2019
Invoice
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERVICES MARINA VILLAGE STATI…
OUTSIDE SERVICES - GOLDEN HIND PUMP 1,2
OUTSIDE SERVICES HINGH CANAL STATON P…

0.00
0.00
0.00

rc101c
17994

R.C. SYSTEMS, INC.
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
COMPUTER SUPPLIES

0.00

re141c
1841
1843
1960
1961
1962
1963
1964
1965

RENNE PUBLIC LAW GROUP
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

03/06/2019
03/06/2019
03/06/2019
03/06/2019
03/06/2019
03/06/2019
03/06/2019
03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
MARIN COUNTRY DAY
SANITARY DISTRICT
2018 LARSON LITIGATION
AIMCO ROBIN DRIVE
FCC SMALL CELL ORDER APPEAL
GENERAL PLANNING
GRAVEL LOT
NON-LITIGATION

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

re062c
144104

RESTAURANT REPAIR INC.
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
BUILDING MAINTENANCE

0.00

ri041c
101726792

Regular
RICOH USA, INC. - CORP YARD 89846-1013365A3 03/06/2019
03/06/2019
COPIE MACHINE MAINTENANCE
Invoice

jo124c
7042
7043

ROBERT B. JOHNSON
Invoice
Invoice

ro450c
204213

ROY'S SEWER SERVICE, INC.
03/06/2019
Invoice

Vendor Name
Payable Type
MICHAEL DANG
Invoice
Invoice

mi030c
MISSION LINEN SERVICE
02//28/2019STMT Invoice

sh031c
SHADE COMFORTS, INC.
FINAL INV 10/22/… Invoice
so063c

SONIC.NET, INC.

Post Date

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
03/06/2019

03/06/2019

Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
0.00
7,683.66 220639
0.00
1,013.66
0.00
6,670.00
0.00

0.00

Regular
Regular

Regular

509.68 220642
509.68

0.00

105,330.30 220643
105,330.30

0.00
0.00

-105,330.30 220643
346.83 220644
258.10
88.73

0.00

2,516.71 220645
2,516.71

0.00

27,190.83 220646
27,190.83

0.00
0.00

0.00

43.48 220647
43.48

0.00

36,952.30 220648
27,537.30
8,380.00
1,035.00

0.00

250.00 220649
250.00

0.00

26,401.31 220650
245.00
413.00
5,118.81
3,675.00
1,593.00
4,572.50
105.00
10,679.00

0.00

720.00 220651
720.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

03/06/2019
Regular
EMERGENCY SERVICE OLD LANDING RD

0.00

03/06/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERIVCE PARK IMPROVEMENTS

0.00

Regular

971.01 220641
971.01

0.00

03/06/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES

03/06/2019

1,479.50 220640
1,479.50

195.39 220652
195.39

0.00

947.50 220653
500.00
447.50

0.00

1,625.00 220654
1,625.00

0.00

23,373.49 220655
23,373.49

0.00

65.25 220656

30
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Check Report

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Payable #
1000062381

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Invoice

ho030c
02/25/2019STMT

STEPHEN LARKIN HOFFMIRE
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

sy103c
720947

SYAR INDUSTRIES, INC.
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00

ta001cm
TARGETSOLUTIONS
TSINV00000029519 Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
MANAGEMENTINFORMATION

0.00

ti124c
71425163

TIFCO INDUSTRIES
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00

ti002c
328017

TIREHUB
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
VEHICLE SUPPLIES FUEL/OIL TIRES

0.00

ve117c
982400431

VERIZON WIRELESS-442100251
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
UTILITIES-TELEPHONE

0.00

vi005c
03/01/2019STMT

VICKI RICHTMAN
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
REFUND FOR BUSINESS LICENSE

0.00

wi001cm
190105647

WITTMAN ENTERPRISES, LLC
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

at050c
03/01/2019STMT

WORKERS' COMP. ATHENS ADMINISTRATORS
03/06/2019
Invoice

03/06/2019
Regular
WORKERS COMPENSATIONS

0.00

ze025c
723704350

ZEE MEDICAL SERVICE
Invoice

03/06/2019

03/06/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00

se005c
R-40023

SEAN R. VAN SOMMERAN
Invoice

03/11/2019

03/11/2019
Regular
TRAINING AND EDUCATION

0.00

th007c
R-40024

THOMAS ROTH AND SCOTT TORGAN
03/11/2019
Invoice

03/11/2019
Regular
REIMBURSEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION COSTS

0.00

601001c
03/12/2019STMT

601 TAMALPAIS, LLC
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
REFUND OF PERMIT DEPOSIT

0.00

aa100c
4052244

A AND P MOVING, INC.
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
OFFICE SUPPLIES

0.00

at075c
9391023427-3/2/…
9391023429-3/2/…
9391026356-3/2/…
9391033626-3/2/…
9391033627-3/2/…
9391033628-3/2/…
9391033629-3/2/…
9391058177-3/2/…

AT & T - CALNET 3
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
UTILITES-TELEPHONE
UTILITES-TELEPHONE
UTILITIES - TELEPHONE
UTILITES-TELEPHONE
UTILITES-TELEPHONE
UTILITES-TELEPHONE
UTILITES-TELEPHONE
UTILITES-TELEPHONE

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

at075cm
9391023416-3/2/…
9391023423-3/2/…
9391023428-3/2/…
9391033630-3/2/…

AT & T -CALNET3
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
UTILITES-TELEPHONE
UTILITES-TELEPHONE
UTILITES-TELEPHONE
UTILITES-TELEPHONE

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

ba001cm
22161

BATTALION ONE FIRE PROTECTION
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES - STATION 14

0.00

ba130c
276110

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MGMT DIST
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
FIFER PUMP STATION IMPROVEMENTS

0.00

Post Date
03/06/2019

03/06/2019

Payment Date
Payment Type
Payable Description
UTILITIES-TELEPHONE

Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
0.00
65.25
0.00

3,629.34 220657
3,629.34

0.00

1,098.72 220658
1,098.72

0.00

3,200.00 220659
3,200.00

0.00

294.67 220660
294.67

0.00

363.72 220661
363.72

0.00

246.26 220662
246.26

0.00

406.86 220663
406.86

0.00

4,043.01 220664
4,043.01

0.00

549.36 220665
549.36

0.00

126.95 220666
126.95

0.00

Regular

133.40 220667
133.40

0.00

10,000.00 220668
10,000.00

0.00

1,559.00 220669
1,559.00

0.00

35.00 220670
35.00

0.00

1,144.77 220671
62.69
16.88
19.51
19.51
19.51
53.58
346.38
606.71

0.00

1,097.38 220672
20.72
136.98
684.87
254.81

0.00

3,150.00 220673
3,150.00

0.00

1,943.00 220674
1,943.00

31
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Check Report

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Payable #
ba550c
0000941

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Post Date
BAY AREA BARRICADE SERVICE,INC
03/13/2019
Invoice

Payment Date
Payment Type
Payable Description
03/13/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

bo105cm
83121474

BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
MEDICAL SUPPLIES

0.00

br150c
1016020

BRANDON TIRE SUPPLY, INC.
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
TIRES

0.00

ch050c
0171300
0171303

CHARLES ELECTRIC
Invoice
Invoice

03/13/2019
03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
PUMP STATION MAINTENANCE
PUMP STATION MAINTENANCE

0.00
0.00

ci003c
03/04/2019STMT

CITY OF SAN RAFAEL
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE PROFESSIONAL

0.00

cl005c
02/19/2019STMT

CLYDE G. STEAGALL, INC.
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
FIFER PUMP STATION MODIFICATIONS

0.00

co165cm
COMCAST - FIRE DEPT 0208565, 0055313
03/13/2019
03/06/2019-04/05…Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
UTILITIES-INTERNET

0.00

co055c
346

CONSERVATION CORPS-NORTH BAY
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
PRIVATE CONTRACTURAL

0.00

da025c
58689
60546

D & K AUTO SERVICES
Invoice
Invoice

03/13/2019
03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
HYDRAULIC FILTER
OIL FILTER

0.00
0.00

dc115c
412016
412017
412103

DC ELECTRIC GROUP, INC.
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES
CONTRACT OUTSIDE SERVICES

0.00
0.00
0.00

de002c
03/12/2019STMT

DEREK ARCHER
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
REFUND OF EROSION PERMIT DEPOSITE

0.00

fi047c
1163131

FISHMAN SUPPLY CO. - (P/P/B)
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
CLOTHING AND UNIFORMS

0.00

fo185c
6472

03/13/2019
Regular
FORSTER & KROEGER LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE, INC.
03/13/2019
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES
Invoice

gi039c
R-35528

GIGGLE AND RIOT, INC.
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
CMPR COMMUNITY EVENT

0.00

ho175c
1Q096520

HORIZON
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
TURF MAINTEANNCE/TENNIS COURTS

0.00

ir020c
AMKT929

IRON MOUNTAIN
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

go037c
R-35527

JEFFREY GOODWIN
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
CMPR COMMUNITY EVENT

0.00

kb100c
INV756063
INV766504

KBA DOCUMENT SOLUTIONS, LLC
03/13/2019
Invoice
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
COPY MACHINE MAINTENANCE
COPY MACHINE MAINTENANCE

0.00
0.00

la034c
2-1992

LAK ASSOCIATES, LLC
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

la001c
1001

LAURIE RICE
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES - DISASTER P…

0.00

ma150c

MARIN CO. REGISTRAR OF VOTERS

03/13/2019

Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
0.00
2,692.18 220675
0.00
2,692.18
0.00

Regular

Regular

879.99 220676
879.99

0.00

729.34 220677
729.34

0.00

7,308.22 220678
1,656.95
5,651.27

0.00

3,005.70 220679
3,005.70

0.00

105,330.30 220680
105,330.30

0.00

113.38 220681
113.38

0.00

900.09 220682
900.09

0.00

110.62 220683
41.52
69.10

0.00

10,082.70 220684
2,387.00
6,818.77
876.93

0.00

5,314.70 220685
5,314.70

0.00

1,706.99 220686
1,706.99

0.00

21,280.00 220687
21,280.00

0.00
0.00

783.00 220688
783.00

0.00

4,879.27 220689
4,879.27

0.00

205.70 220690
205.70

0.00

750.00 220691
750.00

0.00

3,132.61 220692
1,186.71
1,945.90

0.00

2,700.00 220693
2,700.00

0.00

4,408.64 220694
4,408.64

0.00

4,141.67 220695

32
3/28/2019 11:27:17 AM

Page 5 of 13

Check Report

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Payable #
03/01/2019STMT

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Invoice

ma208c
02/28/2019STMT

MARIN INDEPENDENT JOURNAL
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
ADVERTISING

Regular

ma550c
03/04/2019STMT

MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
UTILITIES - WATER

Regular

ma177c
2632

MARIN TROPHIES AND TREASURER, INC.
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
OFFICE SUPPLIES

Regular

mc100c
88249420

MCMASTER-CARR
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00

mg150c
1000861
1000939

M-GROUP
Invoice
Invoice

03/13/2019
03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
AIMCO-RESIDENCE SUBDIVISION STAFFING
AIMCO - RESIDENCE SUBDIVISION STAFFING

0.00
0.00

mu125c
0135625-IN
0135761-IN
0135807-IN

MUNICIPAL MAINT.EQUIP., INC.
03/13/2019
Invoice
03/13/2019
Invoice
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00
0.00
0.00

of026c
281000316001
284098323001

OFFICE DEPOT - TOWN HALL
03/13/2019
Invoice
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
OFFICE SUPPLIES
OFFICE SUPPLIES

Regular
0.00
0.00

pi115c
3102958509

PITNEY BOWES GLOBAL FIN SVCS L
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
POSTAGE

Regular

re141c
1995
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2109

RENNE PUBLIC LAW GROUP
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019
03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
2018 LARSON LITIGATION
AIMCO ROBIN DRIVE
FCC SMALL CELL ORDER APPEAL
GENERAL PLANNING
GRAVEL LOT
NON-LITIGATION
SANITARY DISTRICT
AB 1234 TRAINING FF

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

ry005cm
R-39897

RYAN FISCHER
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
DUES AND MEMEBERSHIP

0.00

sp005c
02975.002F

SPIEGEL & MCDIARMID, LLP
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERVICES LITIGATION

0.00

te150c
0066977-IN

TESCO
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00

th038c
03/13/2019STMT

THE IMAGE FLOW, INC.
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
CM HOSTING MCCMC DINNER - OUTSIDE C…

0.00

de105c
03/11/2019STMT

TONI DE FRANCIS
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICE

0.00

tw001c
36753
36759

TWIN CITIES CHILD CARE CENTER
03/13/2019
Invoice
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
CHILD CARE FOR REBECCA VAUGHN
CHILD CARE FOR CORBETT ELSEN

0.00
0.00

ty101c
025-251853

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES
Invoice

03/13/2019

03/13/2019
Regular
COMPUTER SYSTEM

0.00

ve023c
9825512463

VERIZON WIRELESS-6707227710001
03/13/2019
Invoice

03/13/2019
Regular
UTILITIES - TELEPHONE

0.00

wh065c

WHITLOCK & WEINBERGER TRANSPORTATION, INC.03/13/2019

3/28/2019 11:27:17 AM

Post Date
03/13/2019

Payment Date
Payment Type
Payable Description
OUTSIDE SERVICES ELECTIONS

Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
0.00
4,141.67
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

1,205.05 220697
1,205.05

0.00
0.00

31.47 220698
31.47

0.00

166.59 220699
166.59

0.00

12,805.00 220700
5,627.50
7,177.50

0.00

1,717.10 220701
138.89
913.77
664.44

0.00

541.98 220702
489.17
52.81

0.00
0.00

Regular

560.40 220696
560.40

923.21 220703
923.21

0.00

29,921.28 220704
3,575.00
5,670.00
236.00
4,926.50
490.00
10,193.28
2,330.50
2,500.00

0.00

200.00 220705
200.00

0.00

541.24 220706
541.24

0.00

3,561.53 220707
3,561.53

0.00

4,000.00 220708
4,000.00

0.00

160.00 220709
160.00

0.00

1,688.91 220710
542.28
1,146.63

0.00

500.00 220711
500.00

0.00

331.10 220712
331.10

0.00

4,715.00 220713

33
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Check Report

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Payable #
22391

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Invoice

ad005c
1

ADAPTATION INTERNATIONAL
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
CLIMATE ADAPTATION PLAN

0.00

ai560c
9086277526
9960409185

AIRGAS
Invoice
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES
MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES

0.00
0.00

al048c
5135078 031319

ALHAMBRA AND SIERRA SPRINGS 2875621513507803/20/2019
(498 TAM.)
03/20/2019
WATER
Invoice

Post Date
03/13/2019

03/20/2019
03/20/2019

Payment Date
Payment Type
Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Payable Description
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES - ROUNDABO…
0.00
4,715.00
0.00

0.00

Regular

0.00

03/20/2019
Regular
UTILITIES - TELEPHONE

0.00

be053c
03/18/2019STMT

BERTRAND, FOX, ELLIOT, OSMAN &
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
GENERAL LEGAL COUNSEL

0.00

bo105cm
83132629
83135645

BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC
03/20/2019
Invoice
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
MEDICAL SUPPLIES
MEDICAL SUPPLIES

0.00
0.00

cal001cm
0011892

CALLBACK STAFFING SOLUTIONS, LLC
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
MANAGEMENT INFORMATION

0.00

ce075c
19-8072
R-40025

CMSA - SEWER
Invoice
Invoice

03/20/2019
03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
PUMP STATION MAINTENANCE
CMSA CONNECTION FEE - 5839 PARADISE A…

0.00
0.00

da025cm
60674

D & K AUTO SERVICE
Invoice

03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
VEHICLE SUPPLIES PARTS

0.00

su103c
1605

DANIEL MUTISO MUITHYA
Invoice

03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
JANITORIAL SERVICES

0.00

dc115c
412067

DC ELECTRIC GROUP, INC.
Invoice

03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
JANAURY 2019 - M5005-SL ROUTINE

0.00

di001cm
57090

DIEGO TRUCK REPAIR, INC.
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
VEHICLE MAINTENANCE

0.00

fi045c
1178323

FISHMAN SUPPLY CO. (FIRE-7762)
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
JANITORIAL SUPPLIES

0.00

fo185c
6449

03/20/2019
Regular
FORSTER & KROEGER LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE, INC.
03/20/2019
JANUARY 1 - JANUARY 31, 2019 - MAINTEN…
Invoice

fo001cm
24600

FOURTH STREET PRESS
Invoice

ge120c
INV1015058

GEORGE HILLS COMPANY, INC.
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
PROPERTY AND LIABILITY INSURANCE

0.00

gi039c
R-35529

GIGGLE AND RIOT, INC.
Invoice

03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
CMPR COMMUNITY EVENT

0.00

go031cm
CI016008

GOLDEN STATE EMERGENCY
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
VEHICLE SUPPLIES PARTS

0.00

th005c
03/14/19STMT

Regular
HARDIMAN CONSTRUCTION/TRENCHLESS TITAN 03/20/2019
03/20/2019
REFUND FOR ENCROACHEMNT PERMIT PW-…
Invoice

hi005c
0030733-IN

HINDERLITER DELLAMAS & ASSOCIATES
03/20/2019
Invoice

in006c

INNOVYZE, INC.

03/20/2019
OFFICE SUPPLIES

03/20/2019

241.44 220717
241.44

0.00

1,577.61 220718
1,577.61

0.00

1,264.15 220719
1,185.85
78.30

0.00

99.99 220720
99.99

0.00

83,938.99 220721
28,185.07
55,753.92

0.00

132.10 220722
132.10

0.00

2,394.00 220723
2,394.00

0.00

1,191.32 220724
1,191.32

0.00

2,548.76 220725
2,548.76

0.00

652.71 220726
652.71

0.00
0.00

23,520.00 220727
23,520.00

0.00
0.00

Regular

53.83 220716
53.83

0.00

Regular

03/20/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERVICES OTHER PROFESSION

605.80 220715
308.37
297.43

0.00

at002cm
AT & T MOBILITY - 287289488788
03/20/2019
287289488788X0… Invoice

03/20/2019

18,150.14 220714
18,150.14

140.61 220728
140.61

0.00

150.00 220729
150.00

0.00

783.00 220730
783.00

0.00

406.66 220731
406.66

0.00
0.00

400.00 220732
400.00

0.00

1,350.00 220733
1,350.00

0.00

52,830.00 220734

0.00

34
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Check Report

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Payable #
USIN015194

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Invoice

Post Date
03/20/2019

Payment Date
Payment Type
Payable Description
TECHNOLOGY EQUIPMENT

go037c
R-35530

JEFFREY GOODWIN
Invoice

03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
CMPR COMMUNITY EVENT

0.00

ji101c
677901
677961
678001
678012

JIM CORBET'S ACE HARDWARE
03/20/2019
Invoice
03/20/2019
Invoice
03/20/2019
Invoice
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
BUILDING SUPPLIES
TOOLS
BUILDING SUPPLIES
BUILDING SUPPLIES

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

ju005c
R-34294

JUAN TZUN
Invoice

03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
PICNIC DEPOSIT REFUND

0.00

ci115c
33234782

KBA DOCUSYS, INC
Invoice

03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
COPIE MACHINE SERVICE

0.00

ma345c
03/08/2019STMT

LAFCO MARIN COUNTY TAX COLLECTOR03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
RADIO MAINTENANCE

0.00

la276c
2019-0228

LARKSPUR, CITY OF
Invoice

03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
FEBRUARY 2019 - SHARED COSTS CMFD

0.00

le001c
03/19/2019STMT

LESLIE A. REGAN
Invoice

03/20/2019

03/20/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

ma007c
R-40026

MARIN CATHOLIC HIGH SCHOOL
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
MEETING ROOM FOR DISASTER PREPAREDN…

0.00

03/20/2019
Regular
CMPR COMMUNITY EVENTS

0.00

ma179c
MARIN JOE'S
03/15/2019-STMT Invoice

03/20/2019

Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
0.00
52,830.00
0.00

0.00

382.34 220739
382.34

0.00

1,134.79 220740
1,134.79

0.00

3,142.49 220741
3,142.49

0.00

ne040c
6270262

NELSON PERSONNEL SERVICES
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERVICES PUBLIC MEETINGS

0.00

pr006cm
86845364

PRAXAIR DISTRIBUTION, INC
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES

0.00

pr002cm
6924-FINAL

03/20/2019
Regular
PRIORITY 1 PUBLIC SAFETY EQUIPMENT INSTALLATION
INC.
03/20/2019
VEHICLE SUPPLIES PARTS
Invoice

0.00

r3100c
9071

R3 CONSULTING GROUP, INC.
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERVICES

0.00

jo124c
7044

ROBERT B. JOHNSON
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE SERVICES - RECREATION CENTER

0.00

ro450c
204117

ROY'S SEWER SERVICE, INC.
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
498 TAMALPAIS DR - OUTSIDE SERVICES

0.00

se001c
03/14/19STMT

SEWER TEK
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
REFUND FOR ENCROACHMENT PERMIT PW-…

0.00

pe123c
2018-TRAINING

THE PERMANENTE MEDICAL GROUP INC .
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
TRAINING AND EDUCATION

0.00

tw001c
36760

TWIN CITIES CHILD CARE CENTER
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
CHILD CARE FOR TRACY HEGARTY

0.00

ve125c
9825512464

VERIZON WIRELESS 670722771-2
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019
Regular
UTILITIES-TELEPHONE

0.00

wh065c

WHITLOCK & WEINBERGER TRANSPORTATION, INC.03/20/2019

25.00 220742
25.00

0.00

0.00
0.00

3/28/2019 11:27:17 AM

1,441.70 220738
1,441.70

0.00

03/20/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES

Regular

200.00 220737
200.00

0.00

MIKE TESTA PLUMBING, INC.
03/20/2019
Invoice
03/20/2019
Invoice

03/20/2019

168.92 220736
69.74
20.70
50.10
28.38

0.00

mi005c
WO-46616
WO-46680

03/20/2019

750.00 220735
750.00

2,200.00 220743
2,200.00

0.00

410.00 220744
240.00
170.00

0.00

443.20 220745
443.20

0.00

223.95 220746
223.95

0.00

3,479.00 220747
3,479.00

0.00

890.00 220748
890.00

0.00

440.00 220749
440.00

0.00

832.50 220750
832.50

0.00

900.00 220751
900.00

0.00

30,268.16 220752
30,268.16

0.00

1,030.63 220753
1,030.63

0.00

788.05 220754
788.05

0.00

3,173.75 220755
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Check Report

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Payable #
22382

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Invoice

Post Date
03/20/2019

Payment Date
Payment Type
Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Payable Description
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
OUTSIDE SERVICES - TAM RIDGE TRAFFIC IM…
0.00
3,173.75

pu108c
2019-3-15

PURE POTENTIAL SOCCER
Invoice

03/25/2019

03/25/2019
Regular
CORTE MADERA FC CONTRACT

0.00

al046c
5139045 031319

ALHAMBRA 28776025139045 (PW-342)
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
WATER

Regular
0.00

al050c
5139740 031719

ALHAMBRA AND SIERRA SPRINGS 2877949513974003/27/2019
(81 LUCKY)
03/27/2019
WATER
Invoice

Regular

al047c
6037959 031719

ALHAMBRA AND SIERRA SPRINGS 3274826603795903/27/2019
(300 TAM.)
03/27/2019
WATER
Invoice

Regular

st024c
60000

ALPHAGRAPHICS
Invoice

at075c
AT & T - CALNET 3
9391062323 03/1… Invoice

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
UTILITIES - TELEPHONE

0.00

03/27/2019
Regular
OTHER EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE

0.00

be114c
R-36908

BELVEDERE, CITY OF
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
TRAINING AND EDUCATION

0.00

be053c
3/18/19-D/L-PM

BERTRAND, FOX, ELLIOT, OSMAN &
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
PERSONNELL LEGAL SERVICES

0.00

bo105cm
83141900
83148063

BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC
03/27/2019
Invoice
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
MEDICAL SUPPLIES
MEDICAL SUPPLIES

0.00
0.00

sh100c
1903-065872
1903-066057
19903-066148

CALMAT CO.
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

03/27/2019
03/27/2019
03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
PLAYGOUND MAINTENANCE
PLAYGOUND MAINTENANCE
PLAYGOUND MAINTENANCE

0.00
0.00
0.00

va040c
R-35532

CARLOS MARTIN VASQUEZ
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
YOUTH ENRICHMENT

0.00

ch250c
03/22/2019STMT

CHEVRON & TEXACO BUSINESS CARD
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
FUEL - GASOLINE

Regular
0.00

ch250cm
03/22/2019STMT

03/27/2019
CHEVRON & TEXACO BUSINESS CARE SERVICES
03/27/2019
FUEL - GASOLINE
Invoice

Regular

cl106c
279623

CLICKTIME.COM
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00

co008c
45488

COASTLAND CIVIL ENG., INC.
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
PAVEMENT REHABILITATION

0.00

0.00

422.98 220762
422.98

0.00

165.00 220763
165.00

0.00

8,102.02 220764
8,102.02

0.00

892.00 220765
773.70
118.30

0.00

1,046.85 220766
651.66
214.51
180.68

0.00

675.00 220767
675.00

0.00

1,790.18 220768
1,790.18

0.00

900.17 220769
900.17

0.00

Regular

72.00 220770
72.00

0.00

20,641.25 220771
20,641.25

0.00
0.00

co001cm
03/14/2019STMT

CORPORATE PAYMENT SYSTEMS
03/27/2019
Invoice

co835c
01/2018-12/2018
07/2018-12/2018

03/27/2019
CORTE MADERA BEAUTIFICATION % C.M. COMMUNITY
FOUND'N C Regular
03/27/2019
DONATIN OF COMMISSIONER STIPEND
Invoice
03/27/2019
DONATIN OF COMMISSIONER STIPEND
Invoice

0.00
0.00

co755c
FEBRUARY 2019

CORTE MADERA CHAMBER OF COMM. TRANSIENT 03/27/2019
OCCUPANCY TAX Regular
03/27/2019
CMCOC - TRANSIENT TAXES
Invoice

0.00

co800c

CORTE MADERA COMM. FOUNDATION

3/28/2019 11:27:17 AM

254.69 220761
254.69

0.00

Regular

3,410.02 220760
3,410.02

0.00

B.W.S. DISTRIBUTORS, INC.
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019

105.88 220759
105.88

0.00

bw025c
241251

03/27/2019
Regular
VISTA STATEMENT FOR CMFA

87.36 220758
87.36

0.00

03/27/2019
Regular
OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES

co121c
COMCAST- 028617, 0208847, 5594 0010011 - REC. 03/27/2019
DEPT.
03/27/2019
UTILITIES - CABLE
03/19/19-04/18/19 Invoice

147.33 220757
147.33

0.00

03/27/2019

03/27/2019

2,345.00 220756
2,345.00

151.20 220772
151.20

0.00
0.00

4,030.36 220773
4,030.36

0.00

130.00 220774
50.00
80.00

0.00

12,538.29 220775
12,538.29

0.00

415.00 220776
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Check Report

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Payable #
01/2019-12/2018
07/2018-12/2018

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Invoice
Invoice

Post Date
03/27/2019
03/27/2019

Payment Date
Payment Type
Payable Description
DONATIN OF COMMISSIONER STIPEND
DONATIN OF COMMISSIONER STIPEND

ma120c
FEBRUARY 2019

COUNTY OF MARIN
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
MARIN TOURISM DISTRICT

0.00

cu075c
Y9-51297

CUMMINS SALES AND SERVICE
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
VEHICLE SUPPLES

0.00

dc115c
411195
411196
412183
412184
412236

DC ELECTRIC GROUP, INC.
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
M1005-TS ROUTINE
M1006-TS RESPONSE
M1005-TS ROUTINE
M1006-TS RESPONSE
M5005-SL ROUTINE

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

di045c
57059

DIEGO TRUCK REPAIR, INC.
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
2015 RAVO STREET SWEEPER 5

0.00

fi046c
1181731.1

FISHMAN SUPPLY CO. (REC-7856)
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
JANITORIAL SUPPLIES

0.00

gi039c
R-35533

GIGGLE AND RIOT, INC.
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
CMPR COMMUNITY EVENT

0.00

gl102c
10157223

GLOBALSTAR USA
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
UTILITIES - TELEPHONE

0.00

si195c
03/11/19STMT

HARRY SIMPSON
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
INSTRUCTOR PAY

0.00

ho175c
1Q096759

HORIZON
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
IRRIGATION SUPPLIES

0.00

in005c
16118

INSTRUMENT TECHNOLOGY CORP.
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
STORM DRAIN AND FLOOD CONTROL

0.00

go037c
R-35534

JEFFREY GOODWIN
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
CMPR COMMUNITY EVENT

0.00

je035c
10996-OL

JETMULCH, INC.
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
PLAYGROUND MAINTENANCE

0.00

ji101c
678198

JIM CORBET'S ACE HARDWARE
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES

0.00

ma007c
R-40027

MARIN CATHOLIC HIGH SCHOOL
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
DISASTER PREPAREDNESS

0.00

ma179c
03/2/19STMT

MARIN JOE'S
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
CMPR COMMUNITY EVENT

0.00

ma550c
03/20/2019STMT

MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
UTILITES - WATER

Regular
0.00

ma550cm
03/19/19STMT
03/20/2019STMT

MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT
03/27/2019
Invoice
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
UTILITIES - WATER
UTILITIES - WATER

Regular

mi111c
1027168

MISSION COMMUNICATIONS LLC
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
BUILDING SUPPLIES

0.00

mu125c
0135987-IN
0136002-IN

MUNICIPAL MAINT.EQUIP., INC.
03/27/2019
Invoice
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
VEHICLE SUPPLIES FUEL/OIL
VEHICLE SUPPLIES FUEL/OIL

0.00
0.00

03/27/2019
03/27/2019
03/27/2019
03/27/2019
03/27/2019

03/27/2019

Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
0.00
275.00
0.00
140.00
0.00

Regular

12,538.29 220777
12,538.29

0.00

75.12 220778
75.12

0.00

8,168.68 220779
2,144.94
1,225.28
2,144.94
1,462.20
1,191.32

0.00

1,359.38 220780
1,359.38

0.00

111.66 220781
111.66

0.00

783.00 220782
783.00

0.00

Regular

89.96 220783
89.96

0.00

2,600.00 220784
2,600.00

0.00

221.30 220785
221.30

0.00

233.90 220786
233.90

0.00

750.00 220787
750.00

0.00

3,676.14 220788
3,676.14

0.00

21.78 220789
21.78

0.00

37.50 220790
37.50

0.00

2,200.00 220791
2,200.00

0.00

5,911.08 220792
5,911.08

0.00
0.00
0.00

750.33 220793
102.09
648.24

0.00

3,821.40 220794
3,821.40

0.00

282.11 220795
92.23
189.88

37
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Check Report

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

Vendor Number
Payable #
na001c
005

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Post Date
NORTHERN PACIFIC CORPORTION
03/27/2019
Invoice

Payment Date
Payment Type
Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Payable Description
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
03/27/2019
Regular
0.00
142,151.85 220796
STREET PAVEMENT REHABILITATION PROJ #…
0.00
142,151.85

no005c
101139

NORTHERN PACIFIC ROOFING, INC.
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
BUILDING MAINTENANCE

0.00

on025c
5646

ONGARO & SONS, INC., ERNEST
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
OTHER EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE

0.00

pa031c
17495
17536

PARISI TRANSPORTATION
Invoice
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES
OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICES

0.00
0.00

re003c
07/2018-12/2018

REDWOOD HIGH SCHOOL FOUNDATION
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
DONATIN OF COMMISSIONER STIPEND

0.00

ri041c
101860026

Regular
RICOH USA, INC. - CORP YARD 89846-1013365A3 03/27/2019
03/27/2019
COPY MACHINE MAINTENANCE
Invoice

0.00

ri042c
101893886

RICOH USA, INC. (FIRE)
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
COPY MACHINE MAINTENANCE

0.00

ro002cm
R-39898

ROBERT CRAFT
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
PARAMEDIC RECERTIFICATION LICENSE

0.00

ro075c
55533

ROOTX
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
SEWER MAIN MAINTENANCE

0.00

sa002cm
206891

SANTA ROSA FIRE EQUIPMENT SERVICE, INC.
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
OTHER EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE

0.00

vi121c
R-35531

SARAH VIGIL
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
YOUTH ENRICHMENT

0.00

se075c
509

SERVPRO
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
OTHER OUTSIDE CONTRACT SERVICE

0.00

sp109c
01/2018-12/2018
07/2018-12/2018

SPARK
Invoice
Invoice

03/27/2019
03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
DONATIN OF COMMISSIONER STIPEND
DONATIN OF COMMISSIONER STIPEND

0.00
0.00

sy103c
1044072

SYAR INDUSTRIES, INC.
Invoice

03/27/2019

03/27/2019
Regular
DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES

0.00

ti001c
6048741

TIAA COMMERCIAL FINANCE, INC.
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
COPY MACHINE MAINTENANCE

0.00

un025c
24262

US BEHAVIORAL HEALTH PLAN, CA
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
EMPLOYEE ASSIST PROGRAM

0.00

wi001cm
190205647

WITTMAN ENTERPRISES, LLC
03/27/2019
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
AMBULANCE BILLING SERVICES

0.00

wr001c
28318-35315

WRA, INC.
Invoice

03/27/2019
Regular
DESIGN/CONTRACT ADM/OTHER

0.00

xm001cm
2019-008

03/27/2019
Regular
XMR FIRE EMERGENCY SERVICES CONSULTING
03/27/2019
WEED ABATEMENT
Invoice

di002cm

DIVINE ELECTRIC

03/27/2019
03/27/2019

03/27/2019

03/28/2019

Regular

0.00

1,492.00 220797
1,492.00

0.00

1,268.00 220798
1,268.00

0.00

38,999.79 220799
10,551.06
28,448.73

0.00

80.00 220800
80.00

0.00

395.93 220801
395.93

0.00

376.94 220802
376.94

0.00

200.00 220803
200.00

0.00

463.51 220804
463.51

0.00

440.00 220805
440.00

0.00

112.50 220806
112.50

0.00

8,534.09 220807
8,534.09

0.00

240.00 220808
100.00
140.00

0.00

16.48 220809
16.48

0.00

799.23 220810
799.23

0.00

270.50 220811
270.50

0.00

3,175.30 220812
3,175.30

0.00

925.75 220813
925.75

0.00

3,517.50 220814
3,517.50

0.00

1,250.00 220815

0.00

38
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Check Report
Vendor Number
Payable #
3318821

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019
Vendor Name
Payable Type
Invoice

Post Date
03/28/2019

Payment Date
Payment Type
Payable Description
ELECTRIC VEHICLE INFRASTRUCTURE

Discount Amount
Payment Amount Number
Discount Amount
Payable Amount
0.00
1,250.00

Bank Code AP Bank Summary
Payment Type
Regular Checks
Manual Checks
Voided Checks
Bank Drafts
EFT's

Payable
Count
285
0
0
0
0
285

Payment
Count
215
0
1
0
0
216

Discount
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

Payment
1,175,022.13
0.00
-105,330.30
0.00
0.00
1,069,691.83

39
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Check Report

Date Range: 03/01/2019 - 03/31/2019

All Bank Codes Check Summary
Payable
Count

Payment
Count

Discount

Payment

Regular Checks

285

215

0.00

1,175,022.13

Manual Checks

0

0

0.00

0.00

Voided Checks

0

1

0.00

-105,330.30

Bank Drafts

0

0

0.00

0.00

Payment Type

EFT's

0

0

0.00

0.00

285

216

0.00

1,069,691.83

Fund Summary
Fund

Name

Period

Amount

99

POOLED CASH - OPERATING

3/2019

1,069,691.83
1,069,691.83

40
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CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: April 2, 2019
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2019
TO:

Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council

FROM:

Daria Carrillo, Finance Director

SUBJECT:

March 2019 General Fund Revenue and Expenditure Report


RECOMMENDED ACTION:
That the Town Council approve the Revenue and Expenditure Report for the period ending March
31, 2019.

BACKGROUND:
The attached revenue and expenditure report is as of March 31, 2019, and reflects financial activity
transacted during 75% of the budget year. These reports include the General Fund only.
The attached reports were downloaded from the Town’s financial system, Tyler Technologies
Incode 10. The Town began using this software on April 30, 2018. As part of the implementation
of the new software, the chart of accounts was rewritten and some departments and funds were
combined. For this reason, a report showing a comparison to the previous fiscal year is not
available at this time, although a comparison report will be available once the Town has been using
the software for a year.
The first report shows revenue and expenditures by major category. The second shows
expenditures by department; revenues in the general fund are not categorized by department.

DISCUSSION:
Revenue:
As indicated on AAttachment #1, the General Fund revenue received through March is
approximately 65% of the total budgeted for the fiscal year. Last year at this time the Town had
41
1

4.E.

received 62% of total budgeted revenue. The Town has received $1,908,742 more revenue than
at the same time last year. The increase is due to the following factors:


Sales tax revenue received is $1,377,347 greater than the amount received last year at this
time. This increase is mainly due to a vendor in Town fulfilling a large amount of back
orders, as well as to the State implementing new software which resulted in some payments
for the previous fiscal year being paid in the current fiscal year. This does not include the
Corte Madera sales tax which is accounted for in a separate fund. The revenue received in
the Corte Madera Sales Tax Fund is $625,574, or 42%, greater than the amount received
at the same time last year, due mainly to an increase in the rate as of October 2018.



Property tax revenue is $132,513 greater than the amount received through March 2019,
an increase of 3.8%. Property tax distribution occurs mainly in December and April and
accounts for approximately one third of the Town’s General Fund revenue.



The Town has received $320,000 for a Gravel Lot Development fee; this payment was not
received in the previous year.



Franchise fees are at 44%. This is due to the fact that garbage franchise fees and cable
franchise fees are paid on a quarterly basis and PG and E franchise fees are paid in April.
Franchise fee revenue has increased by $49,667 as compared to the revenue received last
year at this time.



Other revenue is at 7%. This is because $450,000 of the $490,000 budgeted is revenue
from the Sanitary District for Town employee services. That payment from the Sanitary
District has not yet been made.

Expenditures:
Expenditures and Transfers Out to Other Funds are at approximately 73% of budget, compared to
74% at this time last year.. Expenditures are $738,009 more than last year at this time. Retirement
obligations are a main part of the increase. Included in this difference is the payment of $956,600
which was made to the pension stabilization trust in the current year. Last fiscal year, the payment
of $366,600 was made to the trust. Also, the Cal PERS unfunded liability payment increased by
a total of $198,316 and was paid in July 2018 as required by CalPERS. Retirement expenditures
are at 96% of budget due to the lump sum payment to CalPERS paid in July and the payment to
the pension stabilization trust made in December.
CalPERS approved the contract for Central Marin Fire Authority as of March 25, 2019. All Fire
Department employees have been moved from the Town payroll to Central Marin Fire Authority
payroll. All fire department payroll and benefits for the fiscal year to date are now reflected in
Outside Services instead of the line items for Salaries, Retirement and Other Benefits. The
adjustment was made in March, which is the reason that there are negative amounts in the Period
Activity columns for Salaries, Retirement and Other Benefits on Attachment #1. The total in the
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column Fiscal Activity is the correct total through the end of March.
Non Departmental expenditures are at 91% of the budgeted expenditures. This is mainly because
annual payments for various JPAs such as Animal Control Services, Marin Emergency Radio
Authority, Marin LAFCO, and Marin General Service Authority being made at the beginning of
the fiscal year. The PERS unfunded liability payment mentioned above is included in Non
Departmental, as are the payment to the pension stabilization trust and the payment to the OPEB
trust.

FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no fiscal impact associated with this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT:
This activity is not defined as a project under CEQA (Section 15378 CEQA Guidelines).

OPTIONS:
1. Approve the Revenue and Expenditure Report as presented.
2. Direct staff to make changes to the report.
3. Take no action at this time.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Attachment 1 – Budget Report by Category for the Period Ending March 31, 2019.
2. Attachment 2 – Budget Report by Department for the Period Ending March 31, 2019.
THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN MANAGER.
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Budget Report

Account Summary

Corte Madera, CA

For Fiscal: 2018-2019 Period Ending: 03/31/2019

SubCategory

Original
Total

Current
Total

Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND
Revenue
400 - PROPERTY TAX
6,567,778 6,567,778
410 - SALES TAX
6,580,000 7,255,000
411 - BUSINESS LICENSE
570,000
570,000
412 - PARAMEDIC TAX
510,000
510,000
413 - TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY TAX
908,000 1,271,200
414 - PROPERTY TRANSFER TAX
90,000
90,000
420 - FRANCHISE FEES
1,208,440 1,208,440
430 - PERMITS AND FEES
1,315,000 1,315,000
431 - COST RECOVERY
290,000
290,000
440 - FINES
27,000
27,000
450 - LEASES
22,800
22,800
451 - RENTS
360,000
360,000
452 - INTEREST
100,000
100,000
460 - STATE REVENUE
102,178
102,178
490 - OTHER REVENUE
462,000
490,000
Revenue Total: 19,113,196 20,179,396
Expense
600 - SALARIES
601 - RETIREMENT
602 - OTHER BENEFITS
603 - RETIREE BENEFITS
611 - OUTSIDE SERVICES
612 - TRAINING, EDUCATION, MEETINGS
613 - DUES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS
614 - EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE
615 - BUILDING AND GROUNDS
MAINTENANCE

3,212,304
2,362,265
744,466
764,100
9,343,167
52,700
9,600
264,100
246,300

3,338,339
2,365,350
760,768
764,100
9,443,167
52,700
9,600
264,100
291,300

616 - VEHICLE MAINTENANCE
29,500
29,500
618 - OTHER MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS
115,000
115,000
619 - EQUIPMENT RENTAL
11,000
11,000
620 - UTILITIES
297,700
367,700
630 - SUPPLIES
309,500
309,500
640 - DEBT SERVICE
79,413
79,413
670 - TRANSFERS OUT
779,966
804,966
680 - OTHER EXPENDITURES
0
181,600
Expense Total: 18,621,081 19,188,103
Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND Surplus (Deficit):

492,115

991,293

5

Period
Activity

Variance
Fiscal Favorable
Activity (Unfavorabl

8,938 3,639,290
481,483 5,194,464
18,002
582,272
0
270,873
75,365
788,368
0
90,859
5,586
528,589
204,989 1,350,340
4,122
93,924
3,719
27,119
1,122
18,175
3,200
347,550
1,412
91,841
17,436
89,494
171
36,455
825,546 13,149,612

-1,995,989
-177,290
-275,268
34,289
3,445,943
9,272
0
34,222
13,452

-2,928,488
-2,060,536
12,272
-239,127
-482,832
859
-679,851
35,340
-196,076
119
-4,625
-12,450
-8,159
-12,684
-453,545
-7,029,784

Percent
Used

55.41%
71.60%
102.15%
53.11%
62.02%
100.95%
43.74%
102.69%
32.39%
100.44%
79.71%
96.54%
91.84%
87.59%
7.44%
65.16%

2,178,625
2,275,234
457,533
630,165
7,288,163
25,026
11,535
206,081
102,872

1,159,714 65.26%
90,116 96.19%
303,235 60.14%
133,935 82.47%
2,155,004 77.18%
27,674 47.49%
-1,935 120.16%
58,019 78.03%
188,428 35.31%

242
4,433
9,602
19,354
0
2,934
12,588
226,338
41,269
158,732
0
79,413
0
0
12,538
132,500
1,164,869 13,798,939

25,067 15.03%
95,646 16.83%
8,066 26.67%
141,362 61.56%
150,768 51.29%
0 100.00%
804,966
0.00%
49,100 72.96%
5,389,164 71.91%

-339,324

-649,326

-1,640,619

45

ATTACHMENT 2
Budget Report by Department for the Period Ending March 31, 2019

46
6

Budget Report
Corte Madera, CA

Department
Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND
00 - UNDESIGNATED
11 - MAYOR AND COUNCIL
12 - LEGAL
13 - ADMINISTRATION
14 - FINANCE
21 - NON DEPARTMENTAL
30 - FIRE DEPARTMENT
40 - POLICE DEPARTMENT
52 - PLANNING
53 - BUILDING
73 - ENGINEERING/PUBLIC WORKS
ADMINISTRATION
74 - STREETS AND PARKS - PUBLIC
WORKS

Fiscal 2018-2019 Period Ending: 03/31/2019

Variance
Fiscal
Favorable
Activity (Unfavorable)

Original
Total

Current
Total

Period
Activity

779,966
119,200
165,000
589,450
816,908
3,420,857
4,270,000
3,572,413
679,340
433,784
899,603

804,966
119,200
240,000
709,661
761,639
3,730,937
4,270,000
3,572,413
676,340
433,784
899,603

0
8,360
49,537
45,173
35,581
89,173
555,582
0
46,420
49,037
58,551

0
89,354
207,000
444,928
502,596
3,416,495
3,269,523
2,705,341
449,057
395,417
654,517

804,966
29,846
33,000
264,733
259,043
314,442
1,000,477
867,072
227,283
38,367
245,086

0.00%
74.96%
86.25%
62.70%
65.99%
91.57%
76.57%
75.73%
66.39%
91.16%
72.76%

2,461,410

2,556,410

192,688

1,381,019

1,175,391

54.02%

34,769
283,692
1,164,869 13,798,939

129,458
5,389,164

68.67%
71.91%

80 - RECREATION - GENERAL FUND
413,150
413,150
Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND Total: 18,621,081 19,188,103

Percent
Used
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MINUTES OF APRIL 2, 2019
REGULAR MEETING
OF THE
CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
Mayor Ravasio called the Regular Town Council Meeting to order at Town Hall Council
Chambers, 300 Tamalpais Drive, Corte Madera, CA on April 2, 2019 at 6:03 p.m.
6:00 p.m. CLOSED SESSION
1.

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

Councilmembers Present:

Mayor Ravasio; Vice Mayor Andrews and Councilmembers
Beckman and Kunhardt (arrived at 6:22 p.m.)

Councilmember Absent:

Councilmember Bailey

Staff Present:

Town Manager Todd Cusimano
Town Attorney Teresa Stricker
Director of Planning and Building Adam Wolff
Public Works Director Peter Brown
Fire Marshal Ruben Martin
Town Clerk/Assistant to the Town Manager Rebecca Vaughn

OPEN TIME FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS ONLY – None
SALUTE TO THE FLAG – Mayor Ravasio led in the Pledge of Allegiance.
ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION
Recused: Vice Mayor Andrews recused himself from participating in Closed Session.
Mayor Ravasio adjourned to Closed Session regarding the following matters:
CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—EXISTING LITIGATION
(Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9)
Name of case: Larson v. Town of Corte Madera (Marin Sup.Ct. No. CIV 1803344)
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR
Closed Session Pursuant to Cal. Gov’t Code Section 54957.6
Agency Negotiator: Bob Ravasio, Mayor
Unrepresented Employee: Town Manager
6:44 p.m. REGULAR MEETING
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CALL TO ORDER, SALUTE TO THE FLAG, ROLL CALL
A.
Report out of 6:00 p.m. Closed Session

Vice Mayor Andrews announced that the Town Council gave instructions to the Labor
Negotiator, Mayor Ravasio. Mayor Ravasio announced there was no reportable action on
the item regarding existing litigation.
B.

Report out of Closed Session from March 19, 2019 Regular Town Council
meeting:
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR
Closed Session Pursuant to Cal. Gov’t Code Section 54957.6
Agency Negotiator: Bob Ravasio, Mayor
Unrepresented Employee: Town Manager

Vice Mayor Andrews announced that at the March 19th Closed Session, the Town Council
had given instructions to the Labor Negotiator.
SALUTE TO THE FLAG – led by Mayor Ravasio
2.

OPEN TIME FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS

GEORGE MARSH, Burch Avenue, spoke of parking problems implemented by school
administrators in the back of Corte Madera Gardens where the ADA ramp goes up to the
Sandra Marker Trail, to San Andreas High School and Redwood High School. The schools’
goals were to have fewer students driving to and from school, no driving from school for
lunch and they thought this would address safety and reduction of emissions. Students
therefore park in his neighborhood as a result and congest the streets with about 30-40
vehicles daily.
ROY WOLFORD, Sea Wolf Passage, spoke of the need for high quality infrastructure and
said 3 times over 12 years he has been flooded, most recently on March 26th at 3:45 a.m.
from ruptured water mains. He noted that it takes hours for the district to turn off the
water and asked for the Town and District to work together to repair water mains. Fees
were increased without infrastructure being fixed and he asked that this be done.
CARLA CONDON, Paradise Drive, reported that the Age-Friendly Intergenerational Center
has 255 active adult members, approximately 120 children participating in programs, and
said Marin General Hospital would like to partner with them in the fall and the Marin IJ is
supporting the Center in the month of April with a one-quarter page advertisement at no
charge.

49

Corte Madera Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes
April 2, 2019

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44

3

DOUG announced that the Brown Act allows for short responses under public comments or
future agenda items.
3.

PRESENTATIONS
A.

Marin Municipal Water District (MMWD) Rate and Fee Proposal and
Potential Impacts to Corte Madera.
Presentation provided by Ben Horenstein, MMWD General Manager
(10 minute presentation, 5 minute Q&A)

Mayor Ravasio prefaced the presentation, stating the Town is not taking a position or
action on this item, stating it is purely informational for residents of Corte Madera.
Charles Duggan, MMWD Administrative Services Division Manager, introduced his
colleague, Mike Ban, Environmental and Engineering Division Manager, and stated they are
reviewing a water rate increase for one, an operating increase which is to be 4% each year
for the next 4 years and second, a capital maintenance fee to pay for water main breaks,
treatment plant and pump stations, and this is based on meter size.
Mr. Duggan presented a chart showing rate increases over the last 25 years, noting that if
they raised rates per the CPI since 1990 they would be at a higher rate than they are now.
The American Water Works Association (AWWA) conducts a 2-year survey which shows
that aging infrastructure needs to be replaced.
The capital maintenance fee is proposed to be collected on property taxes and he presented
a breakdown of meter sizes, per meter charge designed to raise $16.5 million for the
District’s CIP. They are looking to add $1 million towards their wildfire prevention efforts
through this fee. They have over 21,000 acres of watershed lands, numerous trails and
have over 2 million visitors per year.
Mr. Duggan concluded and described the District’s operations, age of infrastructure,
comparisons to other districts, and impacts from the increase to an average customer
which equates monthly to an increase of $2.71. The capital maintenance fee adds about
$13.63/month.
Councilmember Kunhardt asked what determines the size of the meter for average
homeowners. Mr. Duggan stated this is dependent upon 1) fire sprinkler systems, 2) size of
the house and number of fixtures; 3) landscaping; and 4) location of dwelling.
Councilmember Kunhardt asked why the District might want to have an increase in
proportion to use versus size of meter. Mr. Duggan said fixed charges are most commonly
applied to meter size which signifies demand on the system.
Mayor Ravasio asked and confirmed the District was going to fix Roy’s Street.
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Councilmember Beckman noted that a water main broke on Sea Wolf Passage this morning
and the same thing happened less than 2 months ago, 2 streets away, and this is the sign of
an unacceptable maintenance flaw. He therefore asked how the District would prevent this
from happening.
Mr. Duggan said they work closely with cities for their replacement program and he noted
they have been working on the scheduling of this project. They have moved up this project
to begin in the summer and it has already been designed. There will be main breaks, but
they are attempting to replace about 9 miles per year and without this fee they will not be
able to do that.
Councilmember Beckman recommended prioritizing areas where mains are popping at a
rate of one per month. Mr. Duggan said they keep track of this to ensure they prioritize and
plan appropriately. They also want to be sure that when the Town is planning to resurface
a street that they time everything well.
Vice Mayor Andrews asked for the reason to exempt fire lines, noting that these are fairly
large pipes.
Mr. Duggan said fire lines appear in either 2”, 4” 6”, 8” and 10” and these are pipes that
come straight from mains to a commercial sprinkler system. They have a small meter off to
the side so they can detect if there is any flow, but these are not intended to be used except
in catastrophic events of an indoor fire. Therefore, these are not considered drags on the
system.
Vice Mayor Andrews asked why the District was putting the fixed charge on the County’s
tax bill when they already have a billing system in place. He said in Corte Madera the Town
voted to do away with a parcel tax and approved a sales tax increase in its place. The
thought process at the time was to free up space so schools could put a measure on the
ballot for funding, and he asked who the District consulted with in neighboring towns and
school districts. He asked why minutes were not readily available and asked why
information could not be presented about this.
Mr. Duggan stated the minutes for all meetings are on their website. Any slide shows are
also available. As far as consulting, they did not consult with the school districts or cities
about the property tax. It is something being considered by their board, and they have
discussed the fact that this is a fee that goes towards the system’s infrastructure and not
just for normal usage. There is some question as to whether it would be more fair to put it
on the property tax rolls because it is based upon providing service to properties and
keeping service on those properties, whether they are being used or not.
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Vice Mayor Andrews asked if the District was currently metering every unit in apartment
buildings. Mr. Duggan said no. Not in all of them and was unsure of the statistical
breakdown.
Vice Mayor Andrews asked why the District is exempting the fire lines since they
participate in the system as well, feeling it is a disproportionate allocation of cost. He said
this increases the values of the malls, office buildings, apartment buildings that must have
fire lines.
Mr. Duggan said they did not think it was necessary at the time because they looked at load
on the system. The fire lines are not a load on the system so it was not a factor. They have a
balance between fixed fees and variable costs, and the fire lines did not make sense to be
incorporated as part of this.
Councilmember Kunhardt asked if it would make sense to capture all of the value by the
exact volume of usage at each property, regardless if it is residential or commercial, rather
than by capacity.
Mr. Duggan said whenever they are designing rates they must strike a balance between
fixed charges and variable charges. Ideally, people would like it to be variable charges so
the more one uses, the more they pay. The reality is that whether people use water on a
particular day or month, there are charges that must cover items like pipes in the ground,
pumps, staffing, treatment plants, etc. So, the question is how much is charged under fixed
and variable charges. They are trying to follow industry standards. Also, they want to be
able to cover those times during drought when variable uses go down.
Councilmember Kunhardt asked and confirmed that MMWD bonds projects and they have
about $155 million in outstanding bonds. He clarified that the net serve on those bonds is
paid by all ratepayers as part of their rate. Mr. Duggan added that if they were required to
continue borrowing every two years, all money required for maintenance would grow to
alarming levels. So, they need to calculate projects into their operating budget and to keep
rates low, they have bonded, used reserves and now they are at a point where they cannot
defer costs.
Vice Mayor Andrews asked if the District had any mechanism to identify rental properties
from non-rental properties. Mr. Duggan said no. There are statistics in each city and he
believes that 34% to 36% of the County is rental property.
Councilmember Kunhardt noted it is about 24% in Corte Madera.
Mayor Ravasio opened the public comment period. He noted that the Coalition of Sensible
Taxpayers is tentatively on the agenda for the Council’s next meeting for a presentation and
will present their point of view.
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DOUG KELLY, Coalition of Sensible Taxpayers, spoke of the coalition’s issuance of a cease
and desist order for on-going violations of the Brown Act by MMWD. They notice there is a
financial meeting of two members and they have five members show up and then vote on
the matter. The public is not aware of these and the 18 meetings should have been noticed,
and this plan should have been developed during that time as opposed to being dropped on
them now.
Regarding minutes, the minutes are extremely basic and do not provide needed
information, and if the public requests slides or documents they may receive them as
opposed to them being available on the website. He voiced concerns with the number of
exemptions made which violate Proposition 218 regulations. The tax must be placed on
the ballot and he left copies of the Marin IJ editorial which opposes the tax, and he asked
that the Town suggest the District slow down.
Mayor Ravasio and Councilmembers thanked Mr. Duggan for his presentation.
4.

CONSENT CALENDAR
Mayor Ravasio opened the public comment period, and there were no speakers.
A.

Authorize Introduction and/or Adoption of Resolutions and Ordinances by
Title Only.
(Standard procedural action – no backup information provided)

B.

Second Reading and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 984 An Ordinance Of
The Town Council Of The Town Of Corte Madera Amending Chapter 8.04 Of
The Town Municipal Code To (A) Allow Dogs On Leash In Public Park Areas
Designated By Town Council By Resolution, (B) Clarify That Leashed Dogs In
Public Places Must Be Under A Person’s Constant Control, And (C) Make
Other Nonsubstantive Changes

C.

Adopt Resolution No. 11/2019, Authorizing a Single, Publicly-Available Pay
Schedule for all Town Employee Positions in Compliance with California
Public Employee Retirement System (CalPERS) Regulations

D.

Adopt Resolution No. 12/2019 (1) Endorsing the Spark (Larkspur-Corte
Madera Schools Foundation) Annual Spring Fundraising Gala, (2) Allowing
two Temporary Signs in the Public Right-of-Way from April 23, 2019 to May
4, 2019 Publicizing the Annual Spark Spring Gala “Kentucky Derby Party”
Fundraiser on May 4, 2019; and (3) Determining that the Project is Exempt
from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Pursuant to CEQA
Guidelines 15061(B)(3).
53

Corte Madera Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes
April 2, 2019

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44

7

E.

Approve Appointment of Mayor Ravasio to Represent the Town of Corte
Madera on Newly Formed County-wide Disaster Preparedness Working
Group, “Marin Ready Together”

F.

Authorize Town Manager to Sign Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release
Between the Town of Corte Madera and Gary Champagne.

G.

Approve Proclamation in Support of Fair Housing Month, April 2019

MOTION:

Moved by Andrews, seconded by Beckman, and approved
unanimously by the following vote: 4-0-1 (Ayes: Andrews, Beckman,
Kunhardt and Ravasio; Noes: None; Absent: Bailey)
To approve Town Consent Calendar Items A, B, C, D, E, F and G.

5.

PUBLIC HEARINGS
A.

Consideration And Possible Action Regarding the RESIDENCE AT PRESERVE
SUBDIVISION PROJECT located at Paradise Drive at Robin Drive (APN 038011-21) to: (1) Adopt A Mitigated Negative Declaration, 2) Approve Planned
Development Preliminary Plan Including Modified Zoning Standards, 3)
Approve Tentative Map; 4) Approve Precise Plan, and 5) Approve Design
Review, and 6) Introduce An Ordinance Amending The Official Zoning Map Of
The Town Of Corte Madera By Changing The Zoning Designation Of The
Residences From The Hillside Land Capacity Overlay Zoning To The Planned
Development Overlay Zoning, To Facilitate The Creation Of A 19-Lot
Subdivision And Private Street With 16 Single-Family Homes And 8
Accessory Dwelling Units, Including Associated Landscaping, Tree Removal,
And Site Improvements.

Director of Planning and Building, Adam Wolff, stated before the Council is late mail
received after the packet’s distribution as well as a few emails. In addition, he provided a
copy of the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) associated with the
Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration (ISMND) and should be included as Exhibit
B to the draft resolution related to the MND.
Mr. Wolff spoke of the lengthy application process, stating the applicant went before the
Planning Commission in 2016 for a preliminary hearing and study session, with the
environmental resource agencies in 2016, and neighborhood meetings. The Town has
requested story poles be erected for all structures and mark those trees slated for removal.
The applicant produced a 3-D model and other visual tools of the project for the community
to view which has been helpful, and staff has appreciated the effort and approach to the
process by applicant AIMCO, LLP.
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Staff also noted that the Town was fortunate to have a contract planner from the
Metropolitan Planning Group, over the last 3 years but he has since taken a planning
position after the Planning Commission. He also recognized Assistant Town Attorney
Judith Propp, Public Works Director Peter Brown, Fire Marshal Ruben Martin and
consultant Christine Gaspar from GHD who prepared the MND in compliance with
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for their involvement and review of the
project. All are available for any questions of the Council.
There are a number of unique conditions of approval included in the draft resolution for
the preliminary plan and tentative map, as well as the precise plan and design review
application. Staff recommends the Town Council adopt Resolution Nos. 13/2019 through
Resolution 15/2019 related to the entitlement applications, adopt the MND and introduce
Ordinance No. 985 regarding the rezoning of the property. Staff has included options in the
staff report which allow for other considerations, as well.
Mr. Wolff then described the site, its surroundings, environmental conditions and
constraints, existing zoning and land use regulations, conditions for the proposed project
and project entitlements, and he noted this project site was specifically called out in the
Town’s Housing Element since 2002 with policy recommendations and mandates for ADUs.
He spoke about the site being in a High Housing Opportunity Area in town which meets the
Town’s Regional Housing Need Allocation (RHNA), along with three other projects and
scattered Additional Dwelling Units (ADUs) in Town.
There have been discussions with Marin County Open Space District to formalize a trail up
to Ring Mountain and there is a 3-year option for the District to exercise that option and
have a 10 foot wide easement over the trail, and they are evaluating this now.
Mr. Wolff presented the current site plan, a 22 foot wide access road that accesses all of the
proposed 16 units and he noted that those sites with red will have ADUs in them and those
in blue are proposed to be homes without ADUs, which he briefly described. He pointed out
parking, clustered approach being implemented through the Planned Development Overlay
District, its setback from the stream, views from across the street on Robin Drive showing
the story poles and lots, various unit types ranging from about 3000 square feet (1800
square foot home, a 650 square feet ADU and a 500 square foot garage) to the largest at
4200 square feet without an ADU and a 3 car garage. ADUs range in size from 650 to 750
square feet.
Mr. Wolff then presented a color and materials board, pointed to images of the units and
floor plans, elevations of the project and their proximity to Paradise Drive, an alternative
site plan that pulls two units further off of Paradise Drive, public improvements and fair
share contributions by the applicant, landscaping features, dark sky compliant lighting,
environmental protection actions incorporated into the project through CEQA along with
certain mitigation measures.
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Comments were received from agencies during the CEQA process regarding mitigation
measures involving an acreage replacement process for the oak woodland and
maintenance of open space areas in perpetuity. They also asked the applicant to review
their site plan to identify additional areas where they could avoid removal of additional oak
trees which has been accomplished.
Lastly, Mr. Wolff described the various actions requested for the Council to consider, as
follows: 1) to adopt A Mitigated Negative Declaration, 2) to approve Planned Development
Preliminary Plan Including Modified Zoning Standards, 3) to approve Tentative Map; 4) to
approve Precise Plan, 5) to approve Design Review, and 6) to introduce Ordinance No. 985
amending the Official Zoning Map of the Town of Corte Madera by changing the zoning
designation of the Residences From The Hillside Land Capacity Overlay Zoning to the
Planned Development Overlay Zoning, to Facilitate the Creation of a 19-Lot Subdivision and
Private Street With 16 Single-Family Homes And 8 Accessory Dwelling Units, including
associated landscaping, tree removal, and site improvements.
A separate Resolution No. 15/2019 is contained in the packet which is for approval of the
design of the structures and landscaping plan. The Planned Development Overlay District
is also requesting a waiver of the requirement that at least one of the ADUs be owneroccupied. The ADUs serve as a way for the Town to achieve certain housing resources that
are not readily available otherwise. Staff added several conditions that outline an
affirmative marketing program intended to reach out and give the first opportunity for
application for rental of the units to local residents geared towards workforce housing.
Public comments were received from a variety of neighbors voicing privacy concerns and
potential view impacts from vegetation growth, and the applicant has addressed comments
along with conditions of approval.
Staff is recommending approval and he stated the Planning Commission voted 3-0 on
February 26th approval of all entitlements and to introduce the draft ordinance. There are
a variety of General Plan policies the project addresses in terms of environmental
conservation, meeting RHNA targets, providing trail access, improvements to circulation
and others.
Vice Mayor Andrews asked how to distinguish the site plan from the alternative site plan in
their discussions. Mr. Wolff stated the alternative site plan is there to address some of the
comments and concerns from the CEQA review period. From the applicant’s perspective,
they wanted to have an option for the Council to consider because they want to show they
are addressing comments received. They also recognize there may be other issues, as well.
Mayor Ravasio called upon the applicant.
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Patti Schwayder, Senior Vice President, AIMCO, thanked the Town and residents for their
comprehensive review of the project. She introduced the AIMCO team: Rich Hawthorne,
Senior Vice President for Redevelopment; Derek Ullian, Vice President and Project Director,
Duke McLarty, Director of Government Relations, Riley Hurd, Zoning Attorney, their
architects from BAR, civil engineer from RSA, landscape architect from Carducci to answer
questions.
She said AIMCO is a long-term owner of 12 apartment complexes in Northern California
with 2600 homes in the Bay Area. She stressed they are a professional on-site management
company with a commitment to quality and service. They acquired Preserve at Marin in
2011 known as Madera Vista at that time and this is an exceptional location. They acquired
the surrounding acreage in 2013 and were excited to look at options for it.
The previous owner had proposed a high density development at the site and they decided
to listen to the public and track the Housing Element which requires facilitation of the
development of this property as a High Potential Housing Site. Thereby, providing 16
homes, 8 ADUs, no change in density, clustering homes away from sensitive areas and
neighbors by using the planned development (PD), providing a high quality community,
meeting affordable housing obligations and providing community benefits such as the
multi-use pathway.
They spent three years working with neighbors and stakeholders on the plan which she
briefly described. They have a marketing strategy reporting for the ADUs which is new.
They added a playground to the project, are sustainably building the project, they will have
a disturbance monitor and ADUs are affordable by design and will be made available to
local workforce individuals. The ADUs cannot be occupied by those occupying the primary
home and they have an annual reporting requirement to provide affordability data on
rents.
She then stated neighborhood outreach meetings were held which have made the plan
better and she described the many changes made to address all concerns and comments.
Rich Hawthorne, Senior Vice President for Redevelopment, AIMCO, spoke about the site as
infill and described it as a prime location for needed housing. He spoke about the
property’s uses in the past, natural areas and siting of homes, impacts of R-1 zoning,
provisions for large open spaces, stated only 20% of the entire site will be disturbed,
impervious areas of 1.7 acres or 11% of the site, and density being low at one dwelling unit
per acre.
Derek Ullian, Vice President and Project Director, AIMCO, displayed a zoomed in site plan
showing the overall clustered plan moving towards Robin Drive, the project’s architecture,
material borders showing the natural palette in response to comments, development of
Option 2 which shifts Lot 7 and 8 to create 21% more open space in between Lots 7 and 8,
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movement of Lots 6 and 7 between 5 and 14 feet further from Paradise Drive, and
retention of 3 existing Coastal Live Oak trees which required some PD amendments, most
of which were front yard setbacks. He then presented an actual photo with a rendering
overlay showing the homes situated lower in the bowl area and not obstructing views,
warmer colors, change of roof color from white to grey, and much greater setbacks from
the Tiburon line. He said they are an average of 81 feet from the property line on the
Tiburon side where the R-1 zoning allows for 25 feet.
Regarding sustainability, they are seeking Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design
(LEED) certification for this project and are maintaining over 89% as pervious, 10.75%
acres of preserved open space in perpetuity for the community, a clustered site approach to
minimize grading, dark sky compliance with all down lighting, grey water irrigation and all
garages are pre-wired with 240 volts for electric vehicles. Lastly, he described the many
public amenities provided in the project for the Town and the issues addressed during the
environmental public comment period.
Mayor Ravasio asked if there were questions from Councilmembers prior to opening the
public comment period.
Vice Mayor Andrews said AIMCO is a rental organization and he asked if there would be a
problem to restrict conversion of rental to for-sale units for 10 years.
Ms. Schwayder stated she thinks it would be a problem in terms of financing and
succeeding with the development, as they are not a company that sells their product.
Mayor Ravasio asked if this would require a change in the plan and Mr. Wolff explained
there are several conditions of approval that speak to this potentiality. There are
requirements for certain restrictions that must stay in place and would pass through to
whoever the ownership entity would be if sold, and Vice Mayor Andrews pointed to
Condition No. 71.
Councilmember Kunhardt confirmed that each of the 16 buildings will be on its own lot
that will be surveyed and recorded as an identified lot, yet the ADUs will not be deeded as a
separate lot. Therefore, there are 16 buildings on lots and not 24. Ms. Schwayder
confirmed.
Councilmember Kunhardt said at some point if there is a change of ownership, it is more
likely it will be to 16 owners without a total change of subdivision.
Ms. Schwayder said yes, but the requirement for the 8 ADUs remain and if they are sold off
lot by lot, there is a requirement for them to be owner-occupied. Therefore, there are
protections for this.
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Vice Mayor Andrews asked if the applicant had feelings about the alternative versus the
existing site plan.
Ms. Schwayder stated both were presented to the Planning Commission and both are fine
with AIMCO. The Planning Commission and staff preferred Option #2 and this is why they
are presenting it tonight.
Mr. Wolff confirmed that the Planning Commission indicated it would be important to
preserve as many trees as possible and this is why they preferred Option #2, as well as the
fact it pulled the two lots off of Paradise Drive further, and staff also felt it was important
for them to pursue this.
Mr. Wolff stated Condition No. 52 speaks to ADUs and if the lots were individually sold. The
owner occupancy requirement would come back into play. In fact, if they were sold to
individuals, the Town’s owner occupancy requirement that one of the units be occupied by
an owner would be in effect. The CC&R’s under Condition No. 71 on page 12 addresses the
requirements for including the other restrictions on the property.
Vice Mayor Andrews said in terms of the Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions (CC&Rs), he
asked how the Town can be assured there will be financing to maintain the private road
and also that the private open space be maintained.
Mr. Wolff stated he would imagine maintaining the private road would be similar to those
in Town in terms of responsibility by AIMCO. This would be part of any sale where the
owner would have to identify how maintenance would be budgeted through a homeowner
association through fees and their reserve study. He said staff can work on including
verbiage to this effect.
Riley Hurd, Zoning Attorney for AIMCO, stated in Condition No. 71 which creates the CC&R
requirement, if the sale were to occur, it requires a 90-day notice period to the Town so
CC&Rs can be drafted and reviewed. Already built into the condition is both the private
open space easement which has maintenance provisions built into the easement as well as
maintenance of shared facilities, one of which is the road, which are identified in the
Tentative and Final Map.
In response to Councilmember Kunhardt, Mr. Hurd further explained the open space is
being shown on the recorded Final Map as open space and the Town has required a
concurrent recordation of a deed restriction that it remains as private open space. This is
better in that it goes to the grantor and grantee index at the Recorder’s Office that those
three parcels are not buildable.
Regarding the trail, they do not yet know whether the Open Space District wants the trail,
but it comes with maintenance responsibilities, liability. Additionally, the Trails
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Management Plan under review by Marin County Open Space District is looking at the
number of access points to Ring Mountain and making a recommendation as to what the
appropriate numbers of access should be. If they decide to exercise their option it is there
for them to take over, but if they do not, there is still a public easement recorded in
perpetuity for the trail so people can traverse it.
Councilmember Beckman said the site plan is beautiful and lush and he asked the Fire
Marshal if he was supportive.
Fire Marshal Ruben Martin stated he reviewed the plan in September 2017 from a
vegetation management standpoint. Unfortunately, it did not meet their required standard
and the property owners have revised the plan several times. They have reviewed the plant
species, walked the site with the property owners to see which trees can be preserved and
which trees should be removed to consider making the property as safe as they can from
wildland fire risk. They were supportive of both plan options because each still requires
the property owner to maintain the property after it has been planted and landscaped.
Councilmember Beckman asked if all of the landscaping on site were native species.
The landscape architect stated not all are native, but nothing is invasive. Marin Municipal
Water District has a long list of those native and invasive species that cannot be used, so
they are referred to, along with the California Native Plant Council which has a long list and
nothing on that list is used. The CEQA consultant also reviewed this, and they will have a
biologist reviewing everything. Most all species are considered low water use and there is
some moderate water use, but mostly around the water course. He estimated that 70% of
plantings are California native species.
Councilmember Kunhardt referred to mitigation measure and Bio-4 deals with French
Broom, and he asked if the landscape architect agrees with the fact that not all of the broom
can be removed. The landscape architect stated it returns and it is more of a maintenance
issue and it must be continually managed.
Councilmember Kunhardt stated one of the ideas is to paint the cut broom stems with
glyphosate paint immediately after cutting, and he asked if this was recommended. The
landscape architect said sometimes this is the best thing to do with invasive trees and
plants.
Ms. Gaspar said she discussed this with her biologist to ensure they were adding correct
verbiage. There are a number of options to get rid of it, but it will take many years,
especially with the neighboring property that has it. There were people who had interest
in removing the French Broom, but she did not have an opinion on the glyphosate paint.
Councilmember Beckman referred to the upper parcel and he confirmed the trail that
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exists will remain a trail for public use unless Marin County Open Space decides it should
be closed for maintenance reasons. He also confirmed the invasive species will be
mitigated for the upper parcel as well.
Councilmember Beckman stated affordable and/or workforce housing is important to him.
He asked if there were any rent calculations for the ADUs to ensure a teacher could afford
to live in one of the ADUs. He noted at Tam Ridge, even the discounted units were very
expensive.
Mr. Ullian explained that based on a recent San Rafael project of about 140 units, the
affordable by design concept played strongly in that development due to the unit sizes and
this is why California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) allowed
certification of Corte Madera’s Housing Element to utilize second units for a portion of the
demand. While they do not know the exact rental numbers for this project given it will be 2
years from now and possibly a different economic climate, projections put the second units
at the low end of the moderate range because of their size.
Councilmember Beckman asked if an elementary school teacher fell into the moderate
income range. Mr. Ullian said this is the reason the marketing plan was targeted at those
types of people due to their proximity but also their affordability matching their pay and
roles. So, this includes teachers and classic moderate to lower moderate income levels.
Councilmember Beckman said in looking at Exhibit B which is the MMRP, he sees
everything here is monitored by the Town, and he asked if this was paid for by taxpayers or
the applicant.
Mr. Wolff stated the actual assessments are done by the applicant. There is review of that
information that must be submitted to the Town, and the Planning Director will ultimately
approve those and give the owner the authority to move forward. The actual experts hired
to undertake the assessments and analyses are undertaken by the applicant. There is not
an explicit condition that staff time will be paid for, but it is generally not included in other
similar projects. If there is an overlap or extra time needed for the building department to
undertake permit review, he can bill time for site inspections through the inspection
process.
Councilmember Kunhardt said there is a restriction for second units to be rented to the
same family in the primary unit. He asked if a grandmother would be allowed to rent the
unit.
Mr. Ullian clarified this is not AIMCO’s policy but a condition of approval of the application
proposed by the Town. The way it was worded was very careful to absolutely allow an
aging in place relative or care provider to rent the ADU. It is designed to be a different
human being renting the ADU. Mr. Wolff pointed to Condition No. 51 in the packet.
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Councilmember Kunhardt asked and confirmed that the views described were taken from
the second story. He asked if it was the Town’s policy to protect primary unit occupancy
space views like from the living room or dining room of a house.
Mr. Wolff said it is really a case-by-case analysis. Staff finds it is difficult to unilaterally say a
view can only be valued from a certain room because people use space differently. The
views they often see that are important to individuals are from their living rooms or
bedrooms or particular outdoor areas set up to capture a view.
Councilmember Kunhardt asked if the Town was being asked to remove the hillside
standard and apply a PD standard, while still maintaining the standards of both for low
density of the hillside and flexible setbacks.
Mr. Wolff said yes and frankly they would have done both, but the code states they cannot
have a PD and hillside land capacity (HLC) at the same time. It has been negotiated to
achieve both and he recognized the applicant for coming forward with this.
Councilmember Kunhardt asked if the wood in the project was hardy board and fire safe.
Mr. Ullian said yes and it will look just as good 10 years later.
Mayor Ravasio asked Mr. Martin to address the fire standards and why the development
will be fire resistant.
Mr. Martin explained that under the California Building Code and California Residential
Code, buildings that are built within a wildland urban interface must meet a certain
standard for exterior wall fire ignition to resist fire. They recommend a cementitious
exterior siding, Class B roof assembly where the standing seam metal roof meets, using a
tempered glaze window to prevent glass from shattering and fire getting inside the house.
Therefore, all of the compliance standards for this development are being met.
Town Attorney Teresa Stricker clarified that there was a question asked earlier about the
maintenance obligation with respect to the private road and if this were eventually
converted to private ownership and whether that would follow. She referred to paragraph
71 in the CC&Rs and said there is a maintenance declaration for all shared facilities and a
list of examples. If the Council wanted to list specifically the private road, she spoke with
AIMCO’s attorney and they have no objection if the Council wished to add that as an
express example. She did not think it was absolutely needed, but the Council could do so.
Vice Mayor Andrews stated he would like to add it because it is a privately maintained road
with access from the public.
Ms. Stricker agreed that the Council could add to Condition No. 71 in the CC&Rs, Item E;
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“Maintenance Declaration for all Shared Facilities”. There are several examples listed for
access, parking, water lines, storm drains, sewer lines, etc. and she could add “private road”
before “etc.” if the Council wishes to move forward with it.
Mayor Ravasio opened the public comment period.
CARLA CONDON, Paradise Drive, spoke of the conceptual application made 20 years ago for
nearly 300 units on this site. At that time, the Town had an out of compliance Housing
Element and many protested this type of development feeling it was inappropriate. While
on the Planning Commission and Council she worked to add language for granny units and
ADUs to the Housing Element and felt AIMCO has done a fabulous job in what they are
presenting.
She requested the applicant consider the following changes: 1) move down the slope of the
two houses that impact 15 Cibrian Drive toward the flat pad; 2) asked if the ceiling heights
of those two homes could be reduced because of solar installations; and 3) to “beef up”
landscaping on Robin Drive and Paradise Drive.
DAVID MCPHEARSON voiced support of the project and said he appreciates the developer’s
fair share for the multi-use path. However, he asked if the Town could impose and the
applicant agree to pay for the actual cost of construction. His concern is that it is unlikely
the Town will be able to afford to complete the multi-use path and he asked for a condition
that the actual cost for the multi-use path be completed by the applicant.
The gap in front of Marin Country Day School is slotted to be completed, as well, and this
has been a priority of the Town. This means that tenants would be able to go from their
homes all the way to the ferry building on a grade separated, multi-use path on foot, bike,
electric scooter, skateboard or wheelchair which would be a fantastic goal. He also asked
to see happen a switchback path from upper Robin Drive to come all the way down to the
multi-use path, similar to the Buckeye Restaurant.
JIM MALLOT said he is an architect and used to be on the Tiburon Design Review Board
where he developed the Town’s design guidelines and provided copies to staff. He is
representing Ms. Harris and Mr. Lupe on this at 15 Cibrian Drive, but one issue he feels is
the most important is on the colors of the buildings. Everything except for the white board
disappears into the white background. He spoke of tree colors and thinks the houses
should be camouflaged in that same color. The beiges are lower, but the white needs to be
changed to a darker value. Otherwise, they will stand out just like the apartment buildings
do now and can be seen from 20 miles away.
Secondly, he said there is a screening issue at 15 Cibrian Drive, stating they are wide open
because of the needle grass issue down the hill and very little planting will camouflage or
provide privacy for tenants downhill and those living at 15 Cibrian Drive uphill. He asked
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for a resolution to this issue, and thinks there needs to be a further extension of this
hearing to resolve the screening issue.
Lastly, the exterior lighting consists of 25-30 fixtures which are flat and while they look
nice, at nighttime they will brighten the pole and they need to be deeper shielded down
lights and a different fixture.
Vice Mayor Andrews asked Mr. Mallot to point to which color he was questioning, which
Mr. Mallot pointed to, stating the white will stand out in the hillside.
ANNETTE HARRIS, Tiburon, said she attended the Planning Commission meeting, thanked
the AIMCO team for being available and for holding community meetings. She said some of
what the Council has seen by way of slides is not completely accurate, and said her views of
Mt. Tam are not blocked if she turns her head to the sides. Also, second floor living space is
not defined by every household and she asked the Town Council to take into consideration
people who live here and who want to continue to live in harmony with neighbors.
Councilmember Kunhardt asked about the situation when turning her head, and he
clarified that Mt. Tam is not obstructed by any of this development.
Ms. Harris clarified that one slide indicated that it was taken from the second floor of her
property and that the Mt. Tam view was not being obstructed. This is only correct when
one is standing in one spot and only looking in that direction. There is also a water view
and a view of Paradise Drive going downhill.
Vice Mayor Andrews referred to Ms. Harris’ comments regarding landscaping and asked
what she would propose and where.
Ms. Harris said ideally she would work collaboratively with the AIMCO landscaper and
determine what would be feasible. She said she cannot plant trees just anywhere on her
property versus where the needle grass is located without changing the CC&Rs she must
abide by. Therefore, she would like to work collaboratively with AIMCO.
MARK LUPE said he is the resident at 15 Cibrian Drive and he thanked the Council for
responding to his email written today. The project should be approved without a doubt,
but he suggested the Council approve the project subject to a landscape screening
condition to be determined. His wife is correct in that they cannot plant anything given
their CC&Rs, so he asked for as much as can be shielded from down below. He said their
primary living area is very sensitive to them and said he simply would like a condition for
landscaping to be determined.
Rebuttal – Applicant
64

Corte Madera Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes
April 2, 2019

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43

18

RILEY HURD, Applicant Attorney, said in addressing comments from Mr. Lupe and Ms.
Harris, AIMCO agrees with them whole-heartedly. The collaboration requested is built into
the proposed approval documents, under Condition No. 64 on page 106. The condition
strikes the balance between the presence of needle grass and the desire for screening. The
condition requires “In consultation with the CEQA consultant and biologist, and being
sensitive to the needle grass, find the best that can be done for screening from 15 Cibrian
Drive.” The findings do not rely on vegetative screening on pages 93 and 94 but they rely
on the distance between the structures, topography change between the homes and the fact
they are 80 feet away in a town where there are 6-10 foot side yard setbacks. AIMCO
agrees to the condition and will work to provide as much screening as possible.
He appreciates the support from former Councilmember Carla Condon, said they looked at
moving the homes even further away, but they ran out of space. The solar panels are as
much as matte finish as possible and are placed in between the seams of the roof and rolled
out as almost a paper-like structure. Lastly, regarding the issue of the color, it was in
response to the Planning Commission and at past hearings. A black and grey development
was not right for this site, but the facades that face uphill to Cibrian Drive are brown clad
facades which were purposeful, and the stucco faces their own development.
Mayor Ravasio read Condition No. 64 which states “Property owner will be required to
maintain screening to ensure vegetation does not substantially impair primary views of Mt.
Tam and the Bay from 15 Cibrian Drive, rear yard swimming pool and patio and west facing
windows in the residence and shall be evaluated by the Planning Director and will consider
evidence provided by the 15 Cibrian Drive project site property owners and may be
contingent upon a site visit to 15 Cibrian Drive.”
Mayor Ravasio, Vice Mayor Andrews and Councilmembers voiced support of Option #2.
Vice Mayor Andrews said he can make the findings, support the project with the caveat that
“private roads” be added to the list of examples under paragraph 7 of the CC&Rs, and to
ensure there is clear direction for maintenance of open space in good fire management
conditions.
Councilmember Beckman recognized the robust process, thanked staff and the Planning
Commission for their diligence, and thinks the project results in minimal impacts to traffic,
views, and adds to the Town’s RHNA count and workforce housing needs. Regarding
environmental aspects, this site is not prime habitat and the site is basically an infill site.
He understands there are sensitive habitats in the upper and lower portion, but he was
supportive of the mitigation measures to address any concerns. The biggest win for the
project is the condition that the upper parcel will be protected in perpetuity as private
open space but accessible to the public.
Mayor Ravasio echoed Councilmember Beckman’s comments and added the project is
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consistent with the General Plan and Housing Element. He disclosed he visited the site with
Councilmember Kunhardt and he likes the fact the Town is getting a significant
contribution of a path for bicyclists and pedestrians and he would love it if it could develop
to the Larkspur ferry. An even better win is taking 11 of 15 acres and developing them as
open space and the fact that the Fire Marshal supports the project. He was confident that
the owner has done a terrific job with Preserve at Marin which is a nice community. He
therefore voiced his support, with conditions as stated by Vice Mayor Andrews.
Councilmember Kunhardt echoed comments and he disclosed that he visited the property,
suggested using the paint colors being suggested by homeowners on Cibrian, and thinks
the project has become refined through careful consideration by the applicant and
involvement with neighbors.
He thanked AIMCO for their work and recognized
sustainability features.
EXTEND MEETING
MOTION:

Moved by Andrews, seconded by Beckman, and approved
unanimously by the following vote: 4-0-1 (Ayes: Andrews, Beckman,
Kunhardt and Ravasio; Noes: None; Absent: Bailey)
To extend the meeting 30 minutes to 10:00 p.m.

Councilmember Kunhardt asked staff for the number of motions needed for approval. Mr.
Wolff stated staff can identify which resolution should include the condition regarding the
private road. As part of the motion, he asked to refer to the MMRP which was excluded
from Draft Resolution 13/2019 which is the first to be considered.
MOTION:

Moved by Kunhardt, seconded by Beckman, and approved
unanimously by the following vote: 4-0-1 (Ayes: Andrews, Beckman,
Kunhardt and Ravasio; Noes: None; Absent: Bailey)
To adopt Resolution 13/2019 adopting the Initial Study and Mitigated
Negative Declaration inclusive of the Mitigation Monitoring and
Reporting Program as an exhibit to Resolution 13/2019.

Mr. Wolff suggested the Council refer to the alternative site plan in Attachment 19 in
making a motion and the requested language in Condition No. 71 such that Paragraph E
reads “maintenance declarations for all shared facilities, access, parking, water lines, storm
drains, sewer lines, private road and open space, etc.”
MOTION:

Moved by Andrews, seconded by Beckman, and approved
unanimously by the following vote: 4-0-1 (Ayes: Andrews, Beckman,
Kunhardt and Ravasio; Noes: None; Absent: Bailey)
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To adopt Resolution 14/2019, approving the alternative site plan in
Attachment 19 and adding the requested language in Condition No. 71
such that Paragraph E read, “maintenance declarations for all shared
facilities, access, parking, water lines, storm drains, sewer lines,
private road and open space vegetative plan, etc.”
MOTION:

Moved by Kunhardt, seconded by Beckman, and approved
unanimously by the following vote: 4-0-1 (Ayes: Andrews, Beckman,
Kunhardt and Ravasio; Noes: None; Absent: Bailey)
To adopt Resolution 15/2019, approving the Precise Plan and Design
Review, as amended, to approve the alternative site plan in
Attachment 19 and adding the requested language in Condition No. 71
such that Paragraph E read, “maintenance declarations for all shared
facilities, access, parking, water lines, storm drains, sewer lines,
private road and open space vegetative plan, etc.”

MOTION:

Moved by Kunhardt, seconded by Beckman, and approved
unanimously by the following vote: 4-0-1 (Ayes: Andrews, Beckman,
Kunhardt and Ravasio; Noes: None; Absent: Bailey)
To waive first reading and introduce Ordinance No. 985 Amending the
Official Zoning Map of the Town of Corte Madera by Changing the
Zoning Designation of the Residences from the Hillside Land Capacity
Overlay Zoning to the Planned Development Overlay Zoning, to
Facilitate the Creation of a 19-Lot Subdivision and Private Street with
16 Single-Family Homes and 8 Accessory Dwelling Units, including
Associated Landscaping, Tree Removal, And Site Improvements.

6.

BUSINESS ITEMS – None

7.

COUNCIL AND TOWN MANAGER REPORTS
- Town Manager Report
 Mr. Cusimano presented the FAQ for the Chipper Program which is active
and said he recognized Marla Orth which has coordinated a schedule for the
program of Meadowcrest and Fairview Ridge of 18 homes, Hidden Valleys of
75 homes, Upper Chapman of 83 homes, Lower Chapman of 360 homes, and
Christmas Tree Hill of 285 homes for work between now and May 30th.
 $300,000 has been dedicated to this work and the Town will help with
$150,000 for some of the shared properties to clear pathways as well as
streets going up Christmas Tree Hill. On May 1st, staff is sending out
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information regarding the ordinance to alert neighbors they need to abide by
the ordinance with consequences if they do not.
He has been monitoring parking issues with the school district and
coordinating with Larkspur and CMPA and will coordinate with the
neighborhood. He plans to follow-up with permit parking if needed to
restrict parking.

Council Reports


Councilmember Kunhardt gave the following report:
o Mr. R.J. Suokko did a great job at the Marin County Sea Level Rise
Adaptation Workshop in presenting the Town’s plan and resilience
plan which was well received.



Councilmember Beckman gave the following report:
o He attended the Chamber of Commerce meeting this morning and the
Executive Director voiced concerns regarding the Town’s leash law
adopted which was a conflict of badly behaved dogs and large crowds
on the 4th of July. However, Mr. Cusimano noted that they have never
had a dog bite in Town Park and allayed concerns.
o He attended a meeting of the working group for the Town Hall Annex
project last Friday which is progressing well. They are moving
towards scheduling the first public workshop.



Vice Mayor Andrews had no report.



Mayor Ravasio gave the following report:
o He attended the Mayors’ Meals on Wheels a couple of weeks ago and
visited several households delivering lunch.
o The State of the Town will be held tomorrow at noon.

8.

REVIEW OF DRAFT AGENDA FOR UPCOMING TOWN COUNCIL MEETING
A.
Review of Draft Agenda for April 16, 2019 Town Council Meeting

Vice Mayor Andrews requested adding a Business Item regarding Consideration of
Authorizing the Mayor to send a letter to the League of California Cities concerning their
participation in the Marin Open Space District Community Venture Partners lawsuit and
the fact that the Town was not consulted prior to getting involved.
Mr. Cusimano stated the League of California Cities has an interest with all cities on rulings
regarding CEQA, but this is at the County level and it was a question regarding decisionmaking under CEQA. Therefore, he did not believe it impacts cities and towns at this time
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as it is at the County level at this time.
Vice Mayor Andrews said he was concerned that they did not consult with any of the local
jurisdictions at all. Councilmember Beckman suggested he and Vice Mayor Andrews met
with Nancy Hall-Bennett to discuss this further and thereafter, it could be agendized at that
time.
Councilmember Kunhardt stated there have been many things done for Fair Housing
Month at the County level, one of which is discrimination based on income levels, and he
suggested visiting this issue. He said the Council also discussed moving and enhancing
what the Town of San Anselmo has done for electric vehicles and asked to discuss this at
some time in the future, as well.
Mr. Cusimano stated the Town was expecting a potential appeal which may be resolved and
staff can bring the cannabis ordinance to the Council on April 16th depending on noticing
requirements. He suggested taking this up soon, given busy summer months. He also asked
for a business item to discuss how the Council supports legislation, the process, and how to
place issues on the agenda and timing of sustainability items. He said Councilmember
Beckman has been discussing having a sustainability committee and then come before the
Council as a recommendation of the committee. Therefore, he would like to agendize this
for the next meeting, and Mayor Ravasio concurred with the need to discuss how to
address these types of items.
9.

ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned to the Sanitary District Meeting at 9:50 p.m. and thereafter to
the April 16, 2019 regular meeting at Town Hall Council Chambers.

69

CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: April 9, 2019
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2019
TO:

Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council

FROM:

R.J. Suokko, Senior Civil Engineer

SUBJECT:

Adopt Resolution No. 17/2019 Approving the Proposed Central Marin Regional
Pathways Gap Closure Project and Approving the Initial Study and Mitigated
Negative Declaration for the Gap Closure Project


RECOMMENDED ACTION:
That the Town Council adopt Resolution No. 17/2019, approving the proposed Central Marin
Regional Pathways Gap Closure Project and approving the Initial Study and Mitigated Negative
Declaration for the Gap Closure Project.

BACKGROUND:
In 2017, the Town was successful in securing Active Transportation Program (ATP) funds for the
environmental, preliminary engineering and design phases of the Gap Closure Project. The Town
is contributing the required local match of $54,515, most of which is in staff time. No construction
grant funds have been secured to date. The project site for the Central Marin Regional Pathways
Gap Closure Project (project) sits at the nexus of five active transportation pathways and routes.
Current conditions in the project site vicinity leave users with sub-standard and aging pedestrian
and bicycle infrastructure, uncontrolled pedestrian crossings, lack of bicycle facilities, challenging
intersections, and congested streets. The project involves providing a number of pedestrian,
bicycle, and vehicular improvements on Wornum Drive, Nellen Avenue, and Fifer Avenue in the
Town of Corte Madera (see Figure 1 through Figure 3 in the attached Initial Study found in
Attachment 2).
Project components consist of the following:
A. Improving the multi-use pathway along the south side of Wornum Drive between
Tamal Vista Boulevard and Redwood Highway Frontage Road: Improving the
multi-use pathway by either 1) rehabilitating the existing pathway’s pavement, or 2)
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5.A.

relocating Wornum Drive’s southern curb about 3 feet to the north, thereby allowing
rehabilitation and widening of the pathway to 10 feet with up to 5 feet of separation
between the pathway and Wornum Drive’s vehicular travel lanes (see Figure 3 in Initial
Study). Either option would require modification to existing trees along the pathway’s
alignment. The existing pathway along the south side of Wornum Drive is a substandard
path that would likely be improved to standard Class I conditions.
B. Installing a roundabout at the intersection of Wornum Drive and Nellen Avenue:
Providing a mini-modern roundabout allowing vehicular turning movements into and
out of Nellen Avenue, high-visibility pedestrian crosswalks with refuge islands, and a
connector from Wornum Drive’s multi-use pathway to the two-way cycle track
proposed for Nellen Avenue. This intersection is maintained by the City of Larkspur.
C. Providing a two-way cycle track on Nellen Avenue between Wornum Drive and
Fifer Avenue: Widening Nellen Avenue easterly to enable provision of, from west to
east, a two-way cycle track with buffer zone, on-street parallel parking, a southbound
vehicular travel lane, and a northbound vehicular travel lane. These changes would
prohibit parking along the roadway’s western curb and would require removal and
replanting of some trees between Nellen Avenue’s current eastern curb and the Caltrans
right-of-way. The proposed Nellen Avenue cycle track would be a Class IV facility.
D. Enhancing uncontrolled pedestrian/bicycle crossings across Fifer Avenue at Nellen
Avenue: Reconfiguring the uncontrolled crosswalks across Fifer Avenue near U.S.
Highway 101’s southbound ramps to potentially enable pedestrian and bicycle crossings
of one lane of traffic at a time via a “staggered crossing” with a center median refuge
island and providing a walkway along the island to the U.S. Highway 101 bus stop.
E. Enabling direct vehicular access to southbound Nellen Avenue via eastbound Fifer
Avenue: Providing a vehicular accessway allowing vehicles to turn right from
eastbound Fifer Avenue onto southbound Nellen Avenue in order to reduce congestion
levels along southbound Tamal Vista Boulevard.
Some of the above project components could be accommodated as stand-alone projects and others
would likely be implemented together. For example, improvements to the multi-use pathway along
Wornum Drive could be implemented as an individual project, as could an enhanced
pedestrian/bicycle crossing of Fifer Avenue at Nellen Avenue. On the other hand, provision of the
two-way cycle track on Nellen Avenue would benefit from an enhanced pedestrian/bicycle
crossing across Fifer Avenue at Nellen Avenue and a roundabout with bicycle crossing at Wornum
Drive at Nellen Avenue. Similarly, enabling direct vehicular access to southbound Nellen Avenue
at Fifer Avenue would benefit from a roundabout at the Wornum Drive/Nellen Avenue
intersection.
Some project components or packages of components could be implemented in the near term or
phased for construction in the longer range. Construction is not yet funded, but any construction
would occur during the dry season. Local and grant funding is anticipated to allow the project to
move forward. No federal funding is being sought at this time. The highest priorities are expected
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to be the Wornum Drive pathway improvements and the cycle track on Nellen Avenue.
Project elements would occur within existing rights-of-way and would not require the purchase of
any land. A portion of the project near the intersection of Wornum Drive and Nellen Avenue would
take place in the City of Larkspur.
History of Project and Relationship to Corte Madera Bicycle/Pedestrian Plan
The Central Marin Regional Pathways Gap Closure Project has spanned more than 10 years of
planning efforts involving a wide range of stakeholders, including the Town of Corte Madera, local
citizens, school parents, local advocacy groups, the City of Larkspur, Caltrans, the Bay Trail, and
the Transportation Authority of Marin. These efforts resulted in the award of a competitive Active
Transportation Program (ATP) grant for the further planning and design of project elements.
Elements of the project are included in the Town of Corte Madera’s 2016 Bicycle/Pedestrian Plan.
These include:






Wornum Drive multi-use pathway (Project #12): Widen the existing Class I multiuse path on the south side of Wornum Drive from Tamal Vista Boulevard to Redwood
Highway Frontage Road.
Nellen Avenue cycle track (Project #29): Study a Class IV protected bicycle lane on
Nellen Avenue from Wornum Drive to Fifer Avenue.
Fifer Avenue/Nellen Avenue intersection (Project #35): Study the potential for
intersection alterations that accommodate bicycle and pedestrian travel, including a
proposed rectangular rapid flashing beacon.
Wornum Drive/Nellen Avenue (Project #36): Study the potential for intersection
alterations that accommodate bicycle and pedestrian travel, including a proposed traffic
signal.

Grading, Drainage, and Tree Removal
Minor grading would be required at the intersection of Nellen Avenue and Wornum Drive. With
the construction of the proposed roundabout, the existing sidewalk at the northeast corner of the
intersection would be pushed back approximately 8 feet. Currently the toe of the sloping ground
ends approximately at the same location, and a low retaining wall would likely be required to limit
the amount of regrading to stabilize this sloped area.
Nellen Avenue is sloped longitudinally and drains to the north and to the south. If a right-turn slip
lane from Fifer Avenue is constructed, an existing inlet draining Nellen Avenue’s cul-de-sac would
be relocated and a new drainage inlet would need to be installed to catch runoff from both sides of
the new right-turn slip lane. To the south, drainage utilities would remain as little or no regrading
of the roadway is anticipated; existing drainage patterns are expected to remain as is.
The Nellen Avenue cycle track would include widening Nellen Avenue to the east, requiring
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removal of trees in the narrow strip of land between the existing curb and Caltrans right-of-way.
No tree replanting in this area would be possible, as only 1 foot of clear space would remain
between the new curb and the Caltrans right-of-way. Some replanting may be possible just south
of Fifer Avenue after the addition of the proposed right-turn slip lane from eastbound Fifer Avenue
to southbound Nellen Avenue, but this is to be determined.
Surrounding Land Uses and Setting: The project site adjoins U.S. Highway 101 to the east and
developed areas along both Nellen Avenue and Wornum Drive that include the offices of the Marin
Municipal Water District, the Tam Ridge multi-family residential development, and new
commercial development at the intersection of Fifer Avenue and Wornum Drive. The parking lot
of the California Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) adjoins the south side of Wornum Drive
near its intersection with Tamal Vista Boulevard. The Tam Ridge residential project is located on
the north side of Wornum Drive and extends from Tamal Vista Boulevard to Nellen Avenue.
Other public agencies whose approval is required (e.g., permits, financing approval, or
participation agreement.)
The project is mostly within the jurisdiction of the Town of Corte Madera, which is the lead agency
for this project. However, a portion of the project site is within the City of Larkspur. The following
are potential permits associated with the project:






Encroachment permit from the City of Larkspur for the Town of Corte Madera and the
Town’s contractors.
Encroachment permit from the Town of Corte Madera for the subcontractors that are not
tied to the prime contractor’s contract.
Marin County Environmental Health Services Drilling Permit (if geotechnical borings
needed).
Encroachment permit from Caltrans to do work related to roundabout implementation
near or in their ROW as well as pedestrian improvements adjacent to Caltrans US101
on/off ramps at Fifer.

DISCUSSION:
On August 16, 2018 Public Works introduced the project to the Town’s Bicycle and Pedestrian
Advisory Group to discuss the scope that was approved as part of the Active Transportation
Program Grant (ATP). On December 13, 2018 Public Works and the consultant team, lead by
Parisi Transportation, presented the project scope and goals in further detail and obtained feedback
from the committee and community. This stakeholder feedback was then analyzed by the project
team and was used to develop several alternatives for the main project components; improvements
to Wornum Dr. multi-use path, pedestrian crossing at Fifer Ave., vehicular connection between
Fifer Ave. and Nellen Ave. and roundabout at Nellen Ave. and Wornum. These alternatives were
then presented at a stand-alone public workshop on February 27, 2019 at Town Hall where
additional community feedback was obtained. Leading up to this community meeting, extensive
public outreach was provided through Nextdoor, the Town’s webpage, Larkspur Corte Madera
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School District newsletters, and through City of Larkspur Public Works.
At this time, the Public Works Department wishes to complete the environmental analysis so that
various funding mechanisms to complete the construction can be pursued. These may include
grant applications and/or Town funding. The environmental issues of concern have been identified
and the Town is willing to complete the identified mitigation measures recommended in the Initial
Study.
The project can be completed in phases and the Town Council may wish to discuss the highest
priority projects. Some components can stand-alone and others should not. For example, the
Wornum Drive pathway improvements can be a stand-alone project, as could the enhanced
pedestrian/bicycle crossing of Fifer Avenue at Nellen Avenue. On the other hand, provision of
Nellen Avenue’s two-way cycle track would benefit with the enhanced pedestrian/bicycle crossing
across Fifer Avenue at Nellen Avenue and a roundabout with bicycle crossing at Wornum Drive
at Nellen Avenue. Similarly, enabling direct vehicular access to southbound Nellen Avenue at
Fifer Avenue would benefit from a roundabout at the Wornum Drive/Nellen Avenue intersection.
The environmental issues studied in the Initial Study have helped to provide guidance to the
designers of the project and these will be considered in the designs moving forward, e.g., protecting
existing tree roots along Wornum Drive.

FISCAL IMPACT:
The environmental, preliminary engineering and design phases are funded by $415,000 in Active
Transportation Program (ATP) funds having a required local match of $54,515, which may consist
of “in-kind” contributions such as Town staff time. No funds have been obtained yet for
construction although several grant applications have been submitted without success. Staff will
continue to pursue any promising grant opportunities concurrent with the design phase and will
return to Council at a future meeting for any requests for construction funding.
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT:
It was determined that this project could have a potential impact on the environment per the
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines due to the potential impact on trees and
potential air emissions during construction. Therefore, an Initial Study and Mitigated Negative
Declaration was prepared. The Initial Study was distributed for public review on March 5, 2019
and the close of the 30-day public comment period was April 3, 2019. The Initial Study was posted
on the Town’s website on March 5, 2019 and notices of its availability were mailed to neighbors
within 300 feet of the site boundaries and to relevant agencies and interest groups. During the
review period, comment letters were received from the California Department of Transportation
and the Marin Audubon Society. The Caltrans letter addressed the need for an encroachment
permit if any work is done within the Caltrans right of way. At this time, no work is proposed in
the Caltrans right of way. The Marin Audubon Society letter expressed concern about removal of
trees, the connection to potential projects east of the site and issue of segmenting project, and the
desire to redesign Wornum multi-use path to avoid damage to tree roots. In response to this, it
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should be clarified that the proposed projects are independent of any other projects outside of those
identified herein. No segmenting of projects has taken place. The biological analysis of the Initial
Study identified mitigation measures considered adequate for the potential impacts related to trees.
The Town may have an opportunity to plant additional trees in the Wornum vicinity but this would
not be required as mitigation measures.
Two mitigation measures were suggested as part of the Initial Study which are the following:
Mitigation Measure AIR-1: During any construction-period ground disturbance, the Town of
Corte Madera shall ensure that the project contractor implement measures to control dust and
exhaust. Implementation of the measures recommended by the Bay Area Air Quality
Management District (BAAQMD) and listed below would reduce the air quality impacts
associated with grading and new construction to a less-than-significant level. The contractor
shall implement the following best management practices (BMPs) that are required of all
projects:
1. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas, staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, and unpaved
access roads) shall be watered two times per day.
2. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other loose material off-site shall be covered.
3. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent public roads shall be removed using wet
power vacuum street sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry power sweeping is
prohibited.
4. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be limited to 15 miles per hour (mph).
5. All roadways, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved shall be completed as soon as possible.
6. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing
the maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by the California Airborne Toxics Control
Measure Title 13, Section 2485 of California Code of Regulations [CCR]). Clear signage
indicating this requirement shall be provided for construction workers at all access points.
7. All construction equipment shall be maintained and properly tuned in accordance with
manufacturer’s specifications. All equipment shall be checked by a certified mechanic and
determined to be running in proper condition prior to operation.
8. A publicly visible sign shall be posted listing the telephone number and person to contact at
the Lead Agency regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and take corrective
action within 48 hours. The BAAQMD phone number shall also be visible to ensure
compliance with applicable regulations.
9. An independent construction monitor hired by the Town of Corte Madera shall conduct
periodic site inspections, but in no event fewer than four total inspections during the course
of construction to ensure that these mitigation measures are implemented and shall issue a
report to the Town documenting the inspection results. Reports indicating non-compliance
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with construction mitigation measures shall be cause to issue a stop work order until such
time as compliance is achieved.
The combination of the above measures would reduce the potential impact from construction
dust and the possibility that the project would result in a cumulatively considerable net increase
of criteria pollutants for which the project region is non-attainment to a less-than-significant
level. (LTS)
Mitigation Measure BIO-1: The project shall comply with the provision of Chapter 15.50 of the
Corte Madera Municipal Code regarding proposed tree removal and requirements for adequate
protection of trees to be preserved and replacement tree plantings. Of particular concern are the
native coast live oak trees of regulated size along the south side of the Wornum Drive right-ofway at the north edge of the parking lot for the California Department of Vehicles office on
Tamal Vista Boulevard. A certified arborist shall be responsible for defining appropriate tree
avoidance and protection measures to ensure that trees to be preserved are not damaged during
construction. These measures may include slightly elevating any proposed improvements to the
bicycle/pedestrian pathway along the south side of Wornum Drive to minimize disturbance to the
tree root zones along the south side of the pathway. The certified arborist shall be present during
construction when tree root systems may be affected to provide appropriate treatment. Any trees
that are regulated under the Tree Protection Ordinance and are to be removed and shall be
replaced at a minimum 1:1 ratio with 15-gallon-sized plantings, or as determined by the Town of
Corte Madera based on size of replacement plantings and survivability criteria. This measure
would reduce the potential impact due to tree removal to a less-than-significant level. (LTS)
OPTIONS:
1. Adopt Resolution No. 17/2019 approving the Proposed Project and Mitigated Negative
Declaration as presented; adopting the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program; and
direct staff to file the Notice of Determination (NOD).
2. Approve the Proposed Project and Mitigated Negative Declaration with modifications; adopt
the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (with modifications if needed); and direct
staff to file the Notice of Determination (NOD).
3. Take no action at this time.

ATTACHMENTS:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Attachment 1 – Draft Resolution No. 17/2019
Attachment 2 – Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration
Attachment 3 – Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program
Attachment 4 - Letters Received on Initial Study

THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN MANAGER.
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ATTACHMENT 1
Draft Resolution No. 17/2019
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RESOLUTION NO. 17/2019
RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF CORTE MADERA
APPROVING THE CENTRAL MARIN REGIONAL PATHWAYS GAP CLOSURE
PROJECT LOCATED AT WORNUM DRIVE, NELLEN AVENUE AND FIFER
AVENUE AND APPROVING A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION FOR THE
PROJECT

WHEREAS, the Town of Corte Madera Public Works Department is proposing bicycle and
pedestrian improvements in the Town as part of the Central Marin Regional Pathways Gap Closure
Project;
WHEREAS, the proposed project would improve bicycle and pedestrian safety and general
circulation in this northern portion of the Town; and
WHEREAS, on March 5, 2019, the Notice of Completion and Draft Initial Study for the proposed
project was filed with the State Clearinghouse and posted on the Town’s website; and
WHEREAS, on March 5, 2019 the Notice of Availability and Notice of Intent to Adopt a Mitigated
Negative Declaration was filed with the Marin County Clerk, mailed to residents and property
owners within a minimum 300 foot radius from the project site, distributed to interested groups,
and placed on the Town’s website as a news flash item; and
WHEREAS, on March 5, 2019 a Notice of Public Hearing for the April 16, 2019 hearing was
included in the Notice of Intent to Adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration mailed to property
owners within a minimum 300 foot radius from the project site, and distributed to interest groups;
and
WHEREAS, on April 16, 2019, the Town Council conducted a public hearing on the proposed
Project, including the environmental determination, and heard and considered all oral and written
comments submitted to the Town regarding same prior to taking its action on the environmental
determination pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15074; and
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Town Council of the Town of Corte Madera
does hereby find and resolve as follows:
1. Recitals
The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated into the findings herein.
2. Record
The Record of Proceedings (“Record”) upon which the Town Council bases its decision includes,
but is not limited to:
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(1) the 2009 Corte Madera General Plan, (2) the FEIR certified for the 2009 General Plan, including the
appendices and technical reports cited in and/or relied upon in preparing the FEIR (3) all staff reports, Town
files and records and other documents, including the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration
prepared for and/or submitted to the Town Council relating to the project, (4) all documentary and
oral comments received at public hearings or submitted to the Town relating to the project (5) all
matters of common knowledge to the Town, including, but not limited to, Town, State, and federal
laws, policies, rules and regulations, reports, records and projections related to development in the
Town and surrounding areas.
3. Compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)
Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15074, prior to approving the Mitigated Negative
Declaration prepared for the Project, the Town Council must consider the proposed Mitigated
Negative Declaration and make the following findings:
1.

The Mitigated Negative Declaration was prepared in accordance with the California
Environmental Quality Review Act.

2.
Acceptable mitigation measures have been identified and have been incorporated into the
proposed project and shall be required as conditions of approval to reduce the level of all
potentially significant impacts to the level of insignificance.
3. The Town Council has considered the proposed Mitigated Negative Declaration, together
with the whole record, including all public comments received during the public review
process, and based on the whole record, the Town Council finds that the project with the
mitigation measures will not have a significant effect on the environment.
4.

The Mitigated Negative Declaration reflects the lead agency’s independent judgement and
analysis.

5.

Pursuant to §21081.6 of the Public Resources Code, a Mitigating Monitoring and Reporting
Program has been prepared and incorporated into the conditions of approval for this project.

6.

Pursuant to §21081.6(a)(2) of the Public Resources Code, the Corte Madera Public Works
Department, located at 300 Tamalpais Drive, Corte Madera, CA, is the custodian and
location of the documents and other materials that constitute the record of proceedings
upon which the Town Council’s decision memorialized in this Resolution is based.

The Town Council of the Town of Corte Madera has reviewed the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative
Declaration prepared by Amy Skewes-Cox, AICP, for the Town of Corte Madera Public Works
Department, dated March 2019, and based on its independent judgement and analysis determines
that the Mitigated Negative Declaration was prepared in accordance with the California
Environmental Quality Review Act and that based on the whole record, including public comments
received during the public review process, finds that the project with the mitigation measures will
not have a significant effect on the environment.
In particular, the Town Council has reviewed the Mandatory Findings of Significance (Pg. 47 of
the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration) and concurs with the findings that the Project
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will have a less than significant impact on the environment for the reasons specified.
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing resolution was duly and regularly adopted by the Town
Council of Corte Madera at a regular meeting held on the 16th day of April, 2019, by the following
vote, to wit:
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:

Councilmembers:
Councilmembers:
Councilmembers:

__________________________________
Bob Ravasio, Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________
Rebecca Vaughn, Town Clerk
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ATTACHMENT 2
Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration
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INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION

CENTRAL MARIN REGIONAL PATHWAYS
GAP CLOSURE PROJECT

Prepared for

Town of Corte Madera Public Works Department
March 2019

Prepared by

Amy O. Skewes-Cox, AICP
Environmental Planner
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CHAPTER I
PROJECT DESCRIPTION

1.

Project Title: Central Marin Regional Pathways Gap Closure Project

2.

Lead Agency Name and Address:
Town of Corte Madera Public Works Department
300 Tamalpais Drive
Corte Madera, CA 94925

3.

Contact Person and Phone Number: Mr. R.J. Suokko, Senior Civil Engineer (415-927-5118)

4.

Project Location: Nellen Avenue and Wornum Drive, just west of U.S. Highway 101

5.

Project Sponsor's Name and Address:
Town of Corte Madera Public Works Department
300 Tamalpais Drive
Corte Madera, CA 94925

6.

General Plan Designation: Roadways associated with the project do not have Town of Corte
Madera General Plan designations. Adjacent areas are designated in the Town’s General Plan
as Public and Semi-Public Facilities, Mixed-Use Gateway Area, and Mixed-Use Commercial.

7.

Zoning: Roadways associated with the project do not have zoning. Adjacent areas are zoned by
the Town of Corte Madera as Light Industrial (M), Public and Semi-Public Facilities (P/SP), and
Highway Commercial (C-3).

8.

Description of Project: The project site sits at the nexus of five active transportation pathways
and routes. Current conditions in the project site vicinity leave users with sub-standard and aging
pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure, uncontrolled pedestrian crossings, lack of bicycle facilities,
challenging intersections, and congested streets.
The Central Marin Regional Pathways Gap Closure Project (project) involves providing a number
of pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular improvements on Wornum Drive, Nellen Avenue, and Fifer
Avenue in the Town of Corte Madera (see Figure 1 through Figure 3).

88
CEQA_Checklist_Gap Closure_FINAL (03/01/19)

1

(

(

(

M#8->NH#$->)O8++%E*P)QH#$->+8%)H+;<+%-R)
74S)'9),8#K+&-)9,#%9#8T)"#$%-P)'9)(+*.)=#8)
,8#K+&-N*,,8#6*()*%.)J%*().+9';%T)
"#%9-8$&5#%)=$%.9)E+8+).'6+8-+.)-#)9>#6+(!
8+*.P)HS4U7),*->)A+-E++%)4%.+89#%)*%.)
B%.)H-T)'%)H*%)U*=*+()

X*8V9,$8)'9)(+*.'%;)
+F#8-)-#),$89$+)A'V+N
,+.)'<,8#6+<+%-9)#%)
U+.E##.)YEP)

(

SOURCE: Parisi Transporation Consulting

(

(

(

L'V+N:+.)A8'.;+)&8#99'%;)'9)
&#9-),8#>'A'56+)*%.)'9)%#-)
&$88+%-(P)A+'%;),$89$+.)

CENTRAL MARIN
REGIONAL PATHWAYS
GAP CLOSURE
PROJECT

((

Figure 1

REGIONAL AND PROJECT LOCATION

M#8->NH#$->)O8++%E*P)
QM#8->+8%)H+;<+%-RT)
74S)'9)(+*.'%;),8#K+&-)
*%.)&#%9-8$&5#%)'9)
*%5&',*-+.)'%)BC1W)

89

SOURCE: Parisi Transporation Consulting, CSW, Design Group

PROJECT SITE PLAN

Figure 2
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Project components consist of the following:
A.

Improving the multi-use pathway along the south side of Wornum Drive between
Tamal Vista Boulevard and Redwood Highway Frontage Road: Improving the multi-use
pathway by either 1) rehabilitating the existing pathway’s pavement, or 2) relocating
Wornum Drive’s southern curb about 3 feet to the north, thereby allowing rehabilitation and
widening of the pathway to 10 feet with up to 5 feet of separation between the pathway and
Wornum Drive’s vehicular travel lanes (see Figure 3). Either option would require
modification to existing trees along the pathway’s alignment. The pathway along the south
side of Wornum Drive is a substandard path that would likely be improved to standard Class
I conditions.

B.

Installing a roundabout at the intersection of Wornum Drive and Nellen Avenue:
Providing a modern roundabout allowing vehicular turning movements into and out of
Nellen Avenue, high-visibility pedestrian crosswalks with refuge islands, and a connector
from Wornum Drive’s multi-use pathway to the two-way cycle track proposed for Nellen
Avenue. This intersection is maintained by the City of Larkspur.

C.

Providing a two-way cycle track on Nellen Avenue between Wornum Drive and Fifer
Avenue: Widening Nellen Avenue easterly to enable provision of, from west to east, a twoway cycle track with buffer zone, on-street parallel parking, a southbound vehicular travel
lane, and a northbound vehicular travel lane. These changes would prohibit parking along
the roadway’s western curb and would require modification to trees between Nellen
Avenue’s current eastern curb and the Caltrans right-of-way. The proposed Nellen Avenue
cycle track would be a Class IV facility.

D.

Enhancing uncontrolled pedestrian/bicycle crossings across Fifer Avenue at Nellen
Avenue: Reconfiguring the uncontrolled crosswalks across Fifer Avenue near U.S.
Highway 101’s southbound ramps to potentially enable pedestrian and bicycle crossings of
one lane of traffic at a time via a “staggered crossing” with a center median refuge island
and providing a walkway along the island to the U.S. Highway 101 bus stop.

E.

Enabling direct vehicular access to southbound Nellen Avenue via eastbound Fifer
Avenue: Providing a vehicular accessway allowing vehicles to turn right from eastbound
Fifer Avenue onto southbound Nellen Avenue in order to reduce congestion levels along
southbound Tamal Vista Boulevard.

Some of the above project components could be accommodated as stand-alone projects and
others would likely be implemented together. For example, improvements to the multi-use
pathway along Wornum Drive could be implemented as an individual project, as could an
enhanced pedestrian/bicycle crossing of Fifer Avenue at Nellen Avenue. On the other hand,
provision of the two-way cycle track on Nellen Avenue would benefit from an enhanced
pedestrian/bicycle crossing across Fifer Avenue at Nellen Avenue and a roundabout with bicycle
crossing at Wornum Drive at Nellen Avenue. Similarly, enabling direct vehicular access to
92
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southbound Nellen Avenue at Fifer Avenue would benefit from a roundabout at the Wornum
Drive/Nellen Avenue intersection.
Some project components or packages of components could be implemented in the near term or
phased for construction in the longer range. Construction is not yet funded, but any construction
would occur during the dry season. Local versus other types of funding is likely to allow the
project to move forward. No federal funding is being sought at this time. The highest priorities are
expected to be the Wornum Drive pathway improvements and the cycle track on Nellen Avenue.
Project elements would occur within existing rights-of-way and would not require the purchase of
any land. A portion of the project near the intersection of Wornum Drive and Nellen Avenue
would take place in the City of Larkspur.
History of Project and Relationship to Corte Madera Bicycle/Pedestrian Plan
The Central Marin Regional Pathways Gap Closure Project has spanned more than 10 years of
planning efforts involving a wide range of stakeholders, including the Town of Corte Madera,
local citizens, school parents, local advocacy groups, the City of Larkspur, Caltrans, the Bay
Trail, and the Transportation Authority of Marin. These efforts resulted in the award of a
competitive Active Transportation Program (ATP) grant for the further planning and design of
project elements.
Elements of the project are included in the Town of Corte Madera’s 2016 Bicycle/Pedestrian
Plan. These include:



Wornum Drive multi-use pathway (Project #12): Widen the existing Class I multi-use path
on the south side of Wornum Drive from Tamal Vista Boulevard to Redwood Highway
Frontage Road.



Nellen Avenue cycle track (Project #29): Study a Class IV protected bicycle lane on Nellen
Avenue from Wornum Drive to Fifer Avenue.



Fifer Avenue/Nellen Avenue intersection (Project #35): Study the potential for
intersection alterations that accommodate bicycle and pedestrian travel, including a
proposed rectangular rapid flashing beacon.



Wornum Drive/Nellen Avenue (Project #36): Study the potential for intersection alterations
that accommodate bicycle and pedestrian travel, including a proposed traffic signal.

Grading, Drainage, and Tree Removal
Minor grading would be required at the intersection of Nellen Avenue and Wornum Drive. With
the construction of the proposed roundabout, the existing sidewalk at the northeast corner of the
intersection would be pushed back approximately 8 feet. Currently the toe of the sloping ground
ends approximately at the same location, and a low retaining wall would likely be required to limit
the amount of regrading to stabilize this sloped area.
CEQA_Checklist_Gap Closure_FINAL (03/01/19)
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Nellen Avenue is sloped longitudinally and drains to the north and to the south. If a right-turn slip
lane from Fifer Avenue is constructed, an existing inlet draining Nellen Avenue’s cul-de-sac
would be relocated and a new drainage inlet would need to be installed to catch runoff from both
sides of the new right-turn slip lane. To the south, drainage utilities would remain as little or no
regrading of the roadway is anticipated; existing drainage patterns are expected to remain as is.
The Nellen Avenue cycle track would include widening Nellen Avenue to the east, requiring
removal of trees in the narrow strip of land between the existing curb and Caltrans right-of-way.
No tree replanting in this area would be possible, as only 1 foot of clear space would remain
between the new curb and the Caltrans right-of-way.
Some replanting may be possible just south of Fifer Avenue after the addition of the proposed
right-turn slip lane from eastbound Fifer Avenue to southbound Nellen Avenue, but this is to be
determined.
9.

Surrounding Land Uses and Setting: The project site adjoins U.S. Highway 101 to the east
and developed areas along both Nellen Avenue and Wornum Drive that include the offices of the
Marin Municipal Water District, the Tam Ridge multi-family residential development, and new
commercial development at the intersection of Fifer Avenue and Wornum Drive. The parking lot
of the California Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) adjoins the south side of Wornum Drive
near its intersection with Tamal Vista Boulevard. The Tam Ridge residential project is located on
the north side of Wornum Drive and extends from Tamal Vista Boulevard to Nellen Avenue.

10.

Other public agencies whose approval is required (e.g., permits, financing approval, or
participation agreement.)
The project is mostly within the jurisdiction of the Town of Corte Madera, which is the lead
agency for this project. However, a portion of the project site is within the City of Larkspur. The
following are potential permits associated with the project:

11.



Encroachment permit from the City of Larkspur for the Town of Corte Madera and the Town’s
contractors.



Encroachment permit from the Town of Corte Madera for the subcontractors that are not tied
to the prime contractor’s contract.



Marin County Environmental Health Services Drilling Permit (if geotechnical borings
needed).

Have California Native American tribes traditionally and culturally affiliated with the
project area requested consultation pursuant to Public Resources Code Section
21080.3.1? If so, is there a plan for consultation that includes, for example, the
determination of significance of impacts to tribal cultural resources, procedures regarding
confidentiality, etc.?
No California Native American tribes have requested consultation.
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REFERENCES
Town of Corte Madera, 1994. Town of Corte Madera Zoning Ordinance. Adopted August 2.
Town of Corte Madera, 2009. Town of Corte Madera General Plan, April.
Town of Corte Madera, 2016. Town of Corte Madera Bicycle/Pedestrian Plan, July 26. Prepared by
Alta Planning & Design.
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Environmental Factors Potentially Affected:
The environmental factors checked below would be potentially affected by this project, involving at
least one impact that is a “Potentially Significant Impact” as indicated by the checklist on the following
pages.
 Aesthetics

 Biological Resources






Geology and Soils
Hydrology and Water Quality
Noise
Recreation
Utilities and Service Systems









Agricultural and Forestry Resources  Air Quality
Cultural Resources
 Energy
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
 Hazards and Hazardous Materials
Land Use and Planning
 Mineral Resources
Population and Housing
 Public Services
Transportation
 Tribal Cultural Resources
Wildfire
 Mandatory Findings of Significance

Determination.
On the basis of this initial evaluation:


I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and a
NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared.



I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, there
will not be a significant effect in this case because revisions in the project have been made by or
agreed to by the project proponent. A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared.



I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required.



I find that the proposed project MAY have a “potentially significant impact” or “potentially
significant unless mitigated” impact on the environment, but at least one effect 1) has been
adequately analyzed in an earlier document pursuant to applicable legal standards, and 2) has
been addressed by mitigation measures based on the earlier analysis as described on attached
sheets. An ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required, but it must analyze only the effects
that remain to be addressed.



I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment,
because all potentially significant effects (a) have been analyzed adequately in an earlier EIR or
NEGATIVE DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or
mitigated pursuant to that earlier EIR or NEGATIVE DECLARATION, including revisions or
mitigation measures that are imposed upon the proposed project, nothing further is required.
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CHAPTER II
ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST

INTRODUCTION
The Checklist below addresses 20 environmental topics. Whenever a potentially significant impact is
identified, a mitigation measure is identified. A summary of the identified mitigation measures is
included as Appendix A. At the end of each mitigation measure, the level of significance of the impact
after mitigation is shown as “Less than Significant” (LTS) or “Potentially Significant” (PS). 1
I.

I.

AESTHETICS
Potentially
Significant
Impact

Potentially
Significant
Unless
Mitigation
Incorporated




Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact












AESTHETICS. Except as provided in Public Resources Code
Section 21099, would the project:
a)

Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?

b)

Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not
limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and historic buildings
within a State scenic highway?

c)

In non-urbanized areas, substantially degrade the existing
visual character or quality of public views of the site and its
surroundings? (Public views are those that are experienced
from publicly accessible vantage points.) If the project is in an
urbanized area, would the project conflict with applicable
zoning and other regulations governing scenic quality?









d)

Create a new source of substantial light or glare which would
adversely affect day or nighttime views in the area?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?

Less Than Significant Impact
The proposed project would have no substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista as any road or
pathway improvements would be at ground level; thus, no views would be blocked by any new
1 This Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) includes a discussion of impacts of the environment on the project, which, pursuant to
recent California Supreme Court authority, are not California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) impacts. The Town of Corte Madera has
included this discussion based on traditional checklist questions in order to be more thorough in the overall analyses.
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structure. Some trees along Wornum Drive may be affected by the improvements to the multi-use
pathway along Wornum Drive, and some trees along Nellen Avenue may be removed to provide a twoway cycle track on Wornum Drive. The impact on trees is addressed in more detail in Section IV,
Biological Resources, below.
b)

Would the project substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock
outcroppings, and historic buildings within a State scenic highway?

No Impact
U.S. Highway 101 runs along the east side of the project site area. This highway is not a designated
State scenic highway.
c)

In non-urbanized areas, would the project substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of
public views of the site and its surroundings? (Public views are those that are experienced from publicly
accessible vantage points.) If the project is in an urbanized area, would the project conflict with applicable
zoning and other regulations governing scenic quality?

No Impact
The project site is in an urbanized area, surrounded by residential and commercial development and
U.S. Highway 101. No public views would be significantly affected, and the project would not conflict
with zoning or other regulations related to scenic quality.
d)

Would the project create a new source of substantial light or glare which would adversely affect day or
nighttime views in the area?

No Impact
No lighting would be associated with the project; thus, no light or glare would be created.
II.

AGRICULTURAL AND FORESTRY RESOURCES
Potentially
Significant
Impact

II.

AGRICULTURAL AND FORESTRY RESOURCES. In determining
whether impacts to agricultural resources are significant
environmental effects, lead agencies may refer to the California
Agricultural Land Evaluation and Site Assessment Model (1997)
prepared by the California Dept. of Conservation as an optional
model to use in assessing impacts on agriculture and farmland. In
determining whether impacts to forest resources, including
timberland, are significant environmental effects, lead agencies
may refer to information compiled by the California Department of
Forestry and Fire Protection regarding the state’s inventory of
forest land, including the Forest and Range Assessment Project
and the Forest Legacy Assessment project; and forest carbon
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Less Than
Significant
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No
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Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significance
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

measurement methodology provided in Forest Protocols adopted
by the California Air Resources Board. Would the project:
a)

Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of
Statewide Importance (Farmland), as shown on the maps
prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring
Program of the California Resources Agency, to a nonagricultural use?









b)

Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a
Williamson Act contract?









c)

Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forest
land (as defined in Public Resources Code section 12220(g)),
timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code section
4526), or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as
defined by Government Code section 51104(g))?









d)

Result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest land to
non-forest use?









e)

Involve other changes in the existing environment which, due
to their location or nature, could result in conversion of
Farmland to non-agricultural use or conversion of forest land
to non-forest use?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance
(Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of
the California Resources Agency, to a non-agricultural use?

No Impact
The project site does not include Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide
Importance. No impacts would occur.
b)

Would the project conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract?

No Impact
No specific zoning applies to the project site since the project is within the right-of-way of existing
roads. No Williamson Act contracts exist for the site.
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c)

Would the project conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public
Resources Code section 12220(g)), timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code section 4526), or
timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government Code section 51104(g))?

No Impact
Forest land is not located on or adjacent to the site. Therefore, there would be no impacts as related to
forest land (as defined in Public Resources Code Section 12220(g)), timberland (as defined by Public
Resources Code Section 4526), or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by
Government Code Section 51104(g)).
d)

Would the project result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest land to non-forest use?

No Impact
Refer to the discussion under (c) above.
e)

Would the project involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their location or nature,
could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use or conversion of forest land to non-forest
use?

No Impact
Refer to the discussion under (a) through (d) above.
III. AIR QUALITY

III.

Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

AIR QUALITY. Where available, the significance criteria
established by the applicable air quality management district or air
pollution control district may be relied upon to make the following
determinations. Would the project:
a)

Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air
quality plan?









b)

Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any
criteria pollutant for which the project region is non-attainment
under an applicable federal or State ambient air quality
standard?









c)

Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant
concentrations?









d)

Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors)
adversely affecting a substantial number of people?
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IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan?

No Impact
The project is too small for its air pollutant emissions to exceed any of the operational significance thresholds
established by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) Clean Air Plan. The project includes
providing a vehicular accessway allowing motorists to turn right from eastbound Fifer Avenue onto southbound
Nellen Avenue in order to reduce congestion levels along southbound Tamal Vista Boulevard. With this opening
to traffic on Nellen Avenue, it is estimated that about a 25 percent to 40 percent of the traffic that now travels
southbound on Tamal Vista Boulevard and turns left onto Wornum Drive would be re-routed to travel east on
Fifer Avenue before turning south on Nellen Avenue to connect to Wornum Drive. This traffic is only likely to
occur if the Nellen Avenue/Wornum Drive intersection has traffic controls, such as provided by the proposed
roundabout, to enable motorists on Nellen Avenue to conveniently enter Wornum Drive. These proposed
changes to the roadway and vehicular travel network would not increase overall traffic volumes, but would
decrease congestion and idling of stopped southbound left-turning cars at the Tamal Vista Boulevard/Wornum
Drive intersection. In general, reducing traffic congestion (while not increasing traffic volumes) would decrease
pollutant emissions and would therefore not conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality
plan.
b)

Would the project result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the
project region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or State ambient air quality standard?

Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated
The California Air Resources Board (CARB) and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)
currently focus on the following air pollutants as indicators of ambient air quality: ozone, particulate
matter, nitrogen dioxide (NO2), carbon monoxide (CO), sulfur dioxide (SO2), and lead. Because these
are the most prevalent air pollutants known to be deleterious to human health and extensive healtheffects criteria documents are available, they are commonly referred to as “criteria air pollutants.”
California and national ambient air quality standards (CAAQSs and NAAQSs, respectively) have been
developed by the CARB and EPA, respectively, for the six criteria air pollutants to assess regional air
quality impacts. California has also established ambient air quality standards for sulfates, visibilityreducing particles, hydrogen sulfide, and vinyl chloride. The CAAQSs and NAAQSs are intended to
incorporate an adequate margin of safety to protect the public health and welfare, including people who
are most susceptible to air pollutants, known as “sensitive receptors.”
The CAAQSs, which are based on meteorological conditions unique to California, are either equal to or
more stringent than the NAAQSs. Areas in California are classified as either in “attainment” or “nonattainment” for each criteria air pollutant, based on whether or not the NAAQSs or CAAQSs have been
achieved.
To assess the regional attainment status, the BAAQMD collects air quality data from about 40
monitoring sites within the San Francisco Bay Area Air Basin (SFBAAB). Based on the monitoring data,
102
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the SFBAAB is currently designated as a non-attainment area for ozone, PM10, and PM2.5, and is
designated as an attainment or unclassified area for all other pollutants.
The project would not result in an increase in operational emissions of criteria pollutants because no
new development that could result in criteria pollutant emissions is proposed and no increase in vehicle
miles traveled (VMT) would occur. Some traffic could be re-routed, but the distance would be similar to
the current route.
However, construction activities, particularly during site preparation and grading, would temporarily
generate fugitive dust in the form of PM10 and PM2.5. Sources of fugitive dust would include disturbed
soils at the construction site and trucks possibly carrying uncovered loads of soils. That said, little
excavation is expected with the proposed project. Unless properly controlled, vehicles leaving the site
would deposit mud on local streets, which could be an additional source of airborne dust after it dries.
Fugitive dust emissions would vary from day to day, depending on the nature and magnitude of
construction activity and local weather conditions. Fugitive dust emissions would also depend on soil
moisture, silt content of soil, wind speed, and the amount of equipment operating. Larger dust particles
would settle near the source, while fine particles would be dispersed over greater distances from the
construction site.
The BAAQMD CEQA Air Quality Guidelines consider impacts from fugitive dust emissions during
construction to be less than significant if best management practices (BMPs) are employed to reduce
these emissions. Implementation of Mitigation Measure AIR-1 would reduce this impact to a less-thansignificant level.
Mitigation Measure AIR-1: During any construction-period ground disturbance, the Town of Corte
Madera shall ensure that the project contractor implement measures to control dust and exhaust.
Implementation of the measures recommended by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District
(BAAQMD) and listed below would reduce the air quality impacts associated with grading and
new construction to a less-than-significant level. The contractor shall implement the following
best management practices (BMPs) that are required of all projects:
1. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas, staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, and
unpaved access roads) shall be watered two times per day.
2. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other loose material off-site shall be covered.
3. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent public roads shall be removed using wet power
vacuum street sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry power sweeping is prohibited.
4. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be limited to 15 miles per hour (mph).
5. All roadways, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved shall be completed as soon as possible.
6. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing
the maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by the California Airborne Toxics Control
Measure Title 13, Section 2485 of California Code of Regulations [CCR]). Clear signage
indicating this requirement shall be provided for construction workers at all access points.
103
CEQA_Checklist_Gap Closure_FINAL (03/01/19)

16

INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION FOR THE
CENTRAL MARIN REGIONAL PATHWAYS GAP CLOSURE PROJECT

7. All construction equipment shall be maintained and properly tuned in accordance with
manufacturer’s specifications. All equipment shall be checked by a certified mechanic and
determined to be running in proper condition prior to operation.
8. A publicly visible sign shall be posted listing the telephone number and person to contact at
the Lead Agency regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and take corrective
action within 48 hours. The BAAQMD phone number shall also be visible to ensure
compliance with applicable regulations.
9. An independent construction monitor hired by the Town of Corte Madera shall conduct
periodic site inspections, but in no event fewer than four total inspections during the course
of construction to ensure that these mitigation measures are implemented and shall issue a
report to the Town documenting the inspection results. Reports indicating non-compliance
with construction mitigation measures shall be cause to issue a stop work order until such
time as compliance is achieved.
The combination of the above measures would reduce the potential impact from construction
dust and the possibility that the project would result in a cumulatively considerable net increase
of criteria pollutants for which the project region is non-attainment to a less-than-significant level.
(LTS)
c)

Would the project expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations?

Less Than Significant Impact
The project would include short-duration construction activity that would involve the use of diesel
equipment that would emit diesel particulate matter, a toxic air contaminant (TAC). Prolonged exposure
to TACs is required for health effects to sensitive receptors. The proposed construction activity would
be of such short duration (i.e., less than 10 months), that no substantial exposure to nearby receptors
during construction would occur. No new emissions of TACs after construction would occur. Therefore,
the project would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations.
d)

Would the project result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a
substantial number of people?

Less Than Significant Impact
The project proposes relatively routine in-road construction activity that would use diesel equipment.
This activity is not considered odor-generating. After construction, the project would not include any
sources of odors that would cause complaints from surrounding uses. Odor impacts would be less than
significant.
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IV.

IV.

BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES
Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES. Would the project:
a)

Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through
habitat modifications, on any species identified as a
candidate, sensitive, or special status species in local or
regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California
Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife
Service?









b)

Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or
other sensitive natural community identified in local or
regional plans, policies, regulations, or by the California
Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife
Service?









c)

Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally
protected wetlands (including, but not limited to, marsh,
vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling,
hydrological interruption, or other means?









d)

Interfere substantially with the movement of any native
resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or with
established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or
impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites?









e)

Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting
biological resources, such as a tree preservation policy or
ordinance?









f)

Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat
Conservation Plan, Natural Community Conservation Plan or
other approved local, regional, or State habitat conservation
plan?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any
species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in local or regional plans, policies, or
regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?

No Impact
Special-status species 2 are plants and animals that are legally protected under the State of California
and/or federal Endangered Species Acts 3 or other regulations, as well as other species that are
2 Special-status species include designated rare, threatened, or endangered and candidate species for listing by the California
Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW); designated threatened or endangered and candidate species for listing by the U.S. Fish and
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considered rare enough by the scientific community and trustee agencies to warrant special
consideration, particularly with regard to protection of isolated populations, nesting or denning
locations, communal roosts, and other essential habitat. Species with legal protection under the
Endangered Species Acts often represent major constraints to development, particularly when the
species are wide-ranging or highly sensitive to habitat disturbance and where proposed development
would result in a "take"4 of these species.
Figure 4 show the known occurrences of special-status plant and special-status animal species in the
Corte Madera vicinity, based on occurrence data of the California Natural Diversity Data Base
(CNDDB) of the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW). The CNDDB provides the most
comprehensive data on the distribution of special-status species and sensitive natural communities in
the state and is routinely updated by the Biogeographic Data Branch of the CDFW. However, it only
serves as an indication of the distribution of a particular special-status species based on known
occurrences, and does not provide for a known determination on presence or absence from a particular
location, which typically requires site-specific field investigation.
As indicated in Figure 4, numerous special-status plant species have been reported from the upland
and coastal salt marsh habitats of Corte Madera. These include the federal-listed endangered showy
Indian clover (Trifolium amoenum), the state- and federal-listed endangered white-rayed pentachaeta
(Pentachaeta bellidiflora), the state- and federal-listed threatened Marin western flax (Hesperolinon
congestum), the state- and federal-listed threatened Tiburon mariposa lily (Calochortus tiburonensis),
and the state-listed threatened and federal-listed endangered Tiburon Indian paintbrush (Castelleja
affinis ssp. neglecta) and Point Reyes bird’s-beak (Cordylanthus maritimus ssp. palustris). All of these
species are maintained on List 1B of the California Native Plant Society (CNPS) Inventory of Rare and
Endangered Plants of California, and are therefore considered rare under Section 13580 of the CEQA
Guidelines. However, no suitable habitat for these or any other special-status plant species occurs on
the site based on the habitat suitability assessment conducted by the Initial Study biologist on February
19, 2019. The site has been extensively modified by roadway improvements and urbanization, and no
natural habitat remains that could support occurrences of special-status plants. No potential impacts on
special-status plant species are anticipated and no mitigation is required.
Special-status animal species have also been reported from the shoreline, bay, and streams of the
Corte Madera, as indicated in Figure 4. These include the state- and federal-listed endangered salt
marsh harvest mouse (Reithrodontomys raviventris); the state- and federal-listed endangered
Wildlife Service (USFWS) and National Marine Fisheries Service (NOAA Fisheries); species considered rare or endangered under the
conditions of CEQA Guidelines Section 15380 such as those plant species with a ranking of 1A, 1B, and 2 in the Inventory of Rare and
Endangered Plants of California of the California Native Plant Society (CNPS); and possibly other species that are considered sensitive or
of special concern due to limited distribution or lack of adequate information to permit listing or rejection for state or federal status, such
as those with a ranking of 3 in the CNPS Inventory or identified as California Species of Special Concern (SSC) by CDFW.
3 The federal Endangered Species Act (FESA) of 1973 declares that all federal departments and agencies shall use their authority to
conserve endangered and threatened plant and animal species. The California Endangered Species Act (CESA) of 1984 parallels the
policies of the FESA and pertains to native California species.
4 "Take" as defined by the FESA means "to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture or collect" a threatened or
endangered species. "Harm" is further defined by the USFWS to include the killing or harming of wildlife due to significant obstruction of
essential behavior patterns (i.e., breeding, feeding, or sheltering) through significant habitat modification or degradation. The CDFW also
considers the loss of listed species habitat as take, although this policy lacks statutory authority and case law support under the CESA.
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Special Status Plants
Diablo helianthella (Dh)
Marin knotweed (Mk)
Marin western flax (Mwf )
marsh microseris (mm)
Mt. Tamalpais manzanita (MTm)
Napa false indigo (Nfi)
Opler's longhorn moth (Olm)
Point Reyes salty bird's-beak (PRsb-b)
Santa Cruz tarplant (SCt)
small groundcone (sg)
Tiburon buckwheat (Tb)
Tiburon mariposa-lily (Tm-l)
Tiburon paintbrush (Tp)
two-fork clover (t-fc)
white-rayed pentachaeta (w-rp)
Special Status Animals
California black rail (Cbr)
California giant salamander (Cgs)
California Ridgway's rail (CRr)
longfin smelt (ls)
Marin hesperian (Mh)
mimic tryonia (mt)
obscure bumble bee (obb)
pallid bat (pb)
salt-marsh harvest mouse (s-mhm)
San Pablo song sparrow (SPss)
tidewater goby (tg)
western bumble bee (wbb)

Species and Acronyms

´

Mw f

Special-Status Species and Sensitive Natural Communities
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California clapper rail (Rallus longirostris obsoletus); the state-listed threatened California black rail
(Laterallus jamaicensis coturniculus); saltmarsh common yellowthroat (Geothlypis trichas sinuosa)
which is considered a California Species of Special Concern (SSC) by the CDFW, the federal-listed
endangered tidewater goby (Eucyclogobis trichas sinuosa); and the state-listed endangered and
federal-listed threatened Coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch). However, no suitable habitat for these
or any other special-status animal species occurs on the project site based on the habitat suitability
assessment conducted by the Initial Study biologist during the field reconnaissance in February 2019.
Suitable bay, stream, and coastal salt marsh habitat for all of these reported species is absent in the
vicinity of the site. Similarly, suitable habitat for other special-status animal species known or suspected
from central and eastern Marin County, such as the federal-listed threatened California red-legged frog
(Rana aurora draytoni) and Northern spotted owl (Strix occidentalis caurina), is also absent from the
site. No potential impacts on special-status animal species are anticipated and no mitigation is
required.
Finally, federal and state regulations have been enacted to protect birds and their nests when the nests
are in active use. Bird nests in active use are protected under the federal Migratory Bird Treaty Act and
provisions of the State Fish and Game Code. However, no evidence of any bird nests or nesting
activity was observed during the field reconnaissance in February 2019 by the Initial Study biologist,
nor has any evidence been reported from the site by the CNDDB. Trees and other vegetation that
would be removed to accommodate proposed roadway improvements are located immediately
adjacent to existing roadways that are in active use and are unlikely to serve as nesting locations for
birds. Given the high unlikelihood that new nests would be established in the immediate vicinity of the
roadway improvements, no loss of nests in active use is anticipated and no mitigation is considered
necessary.
b)

Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural
community identified in local or regional plans, policies, regulations, or by the California Department of Fish
and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?

No Impact
Sensitive natural communities are community types recognized by the CDFW and other agencies
because of their rarity. In the Corte Madera vicinity, known sensitive natural community types include
marshlands, riparian woodlands, and native grasslands. Figure 4 shows the occurrences of coastal salt
marsh, coastal terrace prairie, and serpentine bunchgrass reported by the CNDDB in the surrounding
area, along the shoreline of the bay and Ring Mountain on the Tiburon Peninsula.
Proposed changes to the circulation system on Fifer Avenue, Nellen Avenue, and Wornum Drive would
take place in an area where natural communities have been eliminated by past development of
roadways, ornamental landscaping, and urbanization. Sensitive natural community types are absent
from the site and vicinity of proposed construction, and therefore no adverse impacts are anticipated
and no mitigation is required.
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c)

Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally protected wetlands (including, but
not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or
other means?

No Impact
Although definitions vary to some degree, wetlands are generally considered to be areas that are
periodically or permanently inundated by surface or ground water and support vegetation adapted to
life in saturated soil. Wetlands are recognized as important features on a regional and national level
due to their high inherent value to fish and wildlife, use as storage areas for storm and flood waters,
and water recharge, filtration, and purification functions.
The CDFW, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps), and California Regional Water Quality Control
Board (RWQCB) have jurisdiction over modifications to wetlands and other "waters of the United
States." Jurisdiction of the Corps is established through provisions of Section 404 of the Clean Water
Act, which prohibits the discharge of dredged or fill material without a permit. The RWQCB jurisdiction
is established through Section 401 of the Clean Water Act, which requires certification or waiver to
control discharges in water quality, and the State Porter-Cologne Act. Jurisdictional authority of the
CDFW over wetland areas is established under Sections 1600-1607 of the State Fish and Game Code,
which pertain to activities that would disrupt the natural flow or alter the channel, bed, or bank of any
lake, river, or stream.
A preliminary wetland assessment was conducted during the field reconnaissance by the Initial Study
biologist in February 2019, and no indication of jurisdictional waters was observed on the site.
Jurisdictional waters are absent from the site and vicinity of proposed construction, and therefore no
adverse impacts are anticipated and no mitigation is required.
d)

Would the project interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or
wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of
native wildlife nursery sites?

Less Than Significant Impact
The proposed project would not have any significant adverse impacts on wildlife movement
opportunities or adversely affect native wildlife nursery sites. Wildlife in the vicinity of the site are
already acclimated to human activity, and construction-related disturbance would not cause any
significant impacts on common wildlife species found in the area. Wildlife species commonly
associated with suburban habitat would eventually frequent the site again following construction, using
the remaining trees, ornamental landscaping, and even structures for foraging, roosting, and other
activities. No substantial disruption of movement corridors or access to native wildlife nursery sites is
anticipated. Potential impacts on wildlife movement opportunities would be less than significant and no
mitigation is required.
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e)

Would the project conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a
tree preservation policy or ordinance?

Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated
The Resource Conservation and Sustainability Element of the Town of Corte Madera General Plan
includes a discussion of biological and wetland resources. Most of the provisions in this element pertain
to protection and management of open space, wetlands, and sensitive resources. The proposed project
would not conflict with any goals or policies of the Town of Corte Madera related to protection of
biological resources. No special-status species, sensitive natural communities, or wetlands would be
adversely affected and no significant adverse impacts on sensitive biological resources would occur as
a result of project implementation.
Chapter 15.50 of the Corte Madera Municipal Code regulates the removal or modification to any tree
within the town limits, and requires that a permit be secured prior to any removal or modification, unless
such work is specifically exempted from tree permit requirements. Regulated trees where a permit for
removal or modification is required include those with a single trunk circumference of at least 50 inches
(or multi-stemmed trees having an aggregate circumference of less than 120 inches), measured 4.5
feet above grade. The minimum trunk circumference sizes for a regulated tree translate to a trunk
diameter of about 16 inches for a single trunk and an aggregate diameter of about 38 inches for multistemmed trees. A number of tree species are considered “undesirable” for a variety of reasons and are
therefore not regulated, including blue gum eucalyptus (Eucalyptus globulus), sugar gum eucalyptus
(Eucalyptus cladocalyx), manna gum eucalyptus (Eucalyptus viminalis), black acacia (Acacia
melanoxylon), green wattle acacia (Acacia decurrens), Monterey pine (Pinus radiata), juniper
(Juniperus spp.), and Lombardy poplar (Populus nigra "Italica”). However, for larger undesirable
species with a trunk circumference of 50 inches or more (or multi-stemmed tree having an aggregate
circumference of 120 inches or more), the Town requires that an inspection be performed prior to its
removal, destruction, or alteration to confirm species only, and does not require a permit.
Trees in the vicinity of the proposed roadway improvements were inspected during the February 2019
field reconnaissance by the Initial Study biologist. Most of the trees along the roadways do not qualify
as a regulated tree because of their size under the minimum trunk size specified in the Tree Protection
Ordinance or because they are considered an undesirable species. All of the trees along Nellen
Avenue are either of insufficient size or are undesirable species under the Tree Protection Ordinance.
These include plantings of coast redwood and flowering pear at the southern edge of the intersection
with Fifer Avenue, and scattered blue gum eucalyptus, black acacia, and pines growing along the
eastern edge of Nellen Avenue. Similarly, the few trees to be removed near the intersection of Wornum
Drive and Redwood Highway Frontage Road consist of small flowering pears, pines and an undersized
crape myrtle tree.
Trees within the Wornum Drive right-of-way near the Tamal Vista Boulevard intersection consist of
undersized flowering pear trees. However, numerous mature trees grow in the adjacent landscaped
median of the parking lot for the California Department of Motor Vehicles office, with roots and
canopies that extend into the Wornum Drive right-of-way. These include five native coast live oak trees
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with trunk circumferences ranging from 18 to 75 inches, six black acacia trees with trunk
circumferences ranging from 9 to 62 inches, and five pines with trunk circumferences ranging from 60
to 125 inches. These trees vary in overall condition, but most show signs of compromised conditions as
a result of the adjacent parking lot, topping for clearance of overhead lines, and construction of the
existing bicycle/pedestrian pathway along the south side of Wornum Drive. While direct removal of
these trees is not proposed as part of the project, they could be damaged during installation of the
bicycle/pedestrian improvements proposed by the project. Potentially damaging activities could include
grading within the tree root zone within the Wornum Drive right-of-way, cutting or removal of major
trees, removal of limbs, and possible damage to the tree trunks. Of particular concern are the native
coast live oak trees, two of which meet the minimum trunk sizes for regulation under the Tree
Protection Ordinance. Loss or damage that could lead to the decline and eventual death of a regulated
tree would be a significant impact requiring mitigation, as recommended below.
Mitigation Measure BIO-1: The project shall comply with the provision of Chapter 15.50 of the
Corte Madera Municipal Code regarding proposed tree removal and requirements for adequate
protection of trees to be preserved and replacement tree plantings. Of particular concern are the
native coast live oak trees of regulated size along the south side of the Wornum Drive right-ofway at the north edge of the parking lot for the California Department of Vehicles office on Tamal
Vista Boulevard. A certified arborist shall be responsible for defining appropriate tree avoidance
and protection measures to ensure that trees to be preserved are not damaged during
construction. These measures may include slightly elevating any proposed improvements to the
bicycle/pedestrian pathway along the south side of Wornum Drive to minimize disturbance to the
tree root zones along the south side of the pathway. The certified arborist shall be present during
construction when tree root systems may be affected to provide appropriate treatment. Any trees
that are regulated under the Tree Protection Ordinance and are to be removed shall be replaced
at a minimum 1:1 ratio with 15-gallon-sized plantings, or as determined by the Town of Corte
Madera based on size of replacement plantings and survivability criteria. This measure would
reduce the potential impact due to tree removal to a less-than-significant level. (LTS)
f)

Would the project conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community
Conservation Plan or other approved local, regional, or State habitat conservation plan?

No Impact
No Habitat Conservation Plan or other similar plan exists for this portion of the Town of Corte Madera
and no impacts are therefore anticipated.
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V.

V.

CULTURAL RESOURCES
Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

CULTURAL RESOURCES. Would the project:
a)

Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of
a historical resource pursuant to Section 15064.5?









b)

Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of
an archaeological resource pursuant to Section 15064.5?









c)

Disturb any human remains, including those interred
outside of dedicated cemeteries?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource pursuant
to Section 15064.5?

No Impact
No historical resources would be affected by the project, which would primarily take place within
existing paved areas within or adjoining Nellen Avenue, Fifer Avenue, or Wornum Drive.
b)

Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource
pursuant to Section 15064.5?

Less Than Significant Impact
See (a) above. No significant excavation for the project would take place and archaeological resources
are not expected to be affected. The project would include near-surface disturbance of soils during
grading for construction. However, the depth of disturbance would not exceed 4 feet. These upper soils
have already been disturbed by historic grading and road-building activities.
c)

Would the project disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of dedicated cemeteries?

No Impact
Refer to (a) and (b) above.
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VI. ENERGY

VI.

Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
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Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
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No
Impact

ENERGY. Would the project:
a)

Result in a potentially significant environmental impact due
to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of
energy resources, during project construction or operation?









b)

Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable
energy or energy efficiency?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project result in a potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or
unnecessary consumption of energy resources, during project construction or operation?

No Impact
Wasteful or inefficient consumption of energy resources during project construction would not occur.
Ultimately, during project operations, energy savings may result from the improvement of bicycle
pathways for this critical link area in central Marin County.
b)

Would the project conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency?

No Impact
The project would not obstruct any state or local plan for improved energy efficiency or the use of
renewable energy. Ultimately, during project operations, energy savings may result from the
improvement of bicycle pathways for this critical link area in central Marin County.
VII. GEOLOGY AND SOILS

VII.

Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

Directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse
effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving:









i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on
the most recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning
Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or
based on other substantial evidence of a known fault?
Refer to Division of Mines and Geology Special
Publication 42.









ii) Strong seismic ground shaking?









GEOLOGY AND SOILS. Would the project:
a)
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iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction?
iv) Landslides?

Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated






Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact




















b)

Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil?

c)

Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that
would become unstable as a result of the project, and
potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral
spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse?

d)

Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of
the Uniform Building Code (1994), creating substantial
direct or indirect risks to life or property?









e)

Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of
septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems
where sewers are not available for the disposal of
wastewater?









f)

Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological
resource or site or unique geologic feature?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss,
injury, or death involving: i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent AlquistPriolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on other
substantial evidence of a known fault? Refer to Division of Mines and Geology Special Publication 42;
ii) Strong seismic ground shaking; iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction; iv) Landslides?

No Impact
The Liquefaction Hazard map of the Town’s General Plan shows the project site as “Very Low” for the
risk of liquefaction (Town of Corte Madera, 2008). The Town’s Landslide Hazards map shows the site
as “surficial deposits.” The site is in a level area where landslide hazards would not exist. No known
active faults or Alquist-Priolo earthquake hazard zones occur within Corte Madera (Town of Corte
Madera, 2008); thus, with the proposed project, few risks associated with earthquakes, liquefaction, or
landslides would exist. In addition, the type of project being proposed is not particularly susceptible to
seismic shaking hazards.

114
CEQA_Checklist_Gap Closure_FINAL (03/01/19)

27

INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION FOR THE
CENTRAL MARIN REGIONAL PATHWAYS GAP CLOSURE PROJECT

b)

Would the project result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil?

Less Than Significant Impact
If not properly managed, the project could result in erosion during ground disturbance associated with
project construction. In accordance with Town’s Urban Runoff Pollution Prevention Ordinance, Title 9,
Chapter 9.33.100, the Town would implement Best Management Practices (BMPs) during construction,
with the use of wattles and other measures to minimize erosion impacts, as necessary. (Erosion control
is discussed further in Section X, Hydrology and Water Quality, below).
c)

Would the project be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a
result of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence,
liquefaction, or collapse?

No Impact
Based on General Plan mapping, the project site is not subject to liquefaction, lateral spreading (which
tends to occur where liquefaction hazards are high), or landslides. No groundwater pumping, which
could lead to subsidence, is proposed, so impacts related to subsidence would not occur.
d)

Would the project be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code
(1994), creating substantial direct or indirect risks to life or property?

Less Than Significant Impact
Expansive soils are characterized by the potential for shrinking and swelling as the moisture content of
the soil decreases and increases, respectively. Shrink-swell potential is influenced by the amount and
type of clay minerals present and can be measured by the percent change of the soil volume. The
project site is within a portion of the Town of Corte Madera where the soil type is Xerorthents-Urban
Land Complex, 0-9 percent slopes. These soils can contain a substantial amount of clay and therefore
could be expansive.
The potential effects of expansive soils are typically addressed through the use of standard
geotechnical engineering practices that routinely evaluate backfill soils and foundation soils for their
expansion potential. If not engineered appropriately, any expansive soils left beneath proposed
improvements could, over time, result in damage to pavements and structures through cyclical changes
in soil volumes from the shrink-swell characteristics of expansive soils. Typical geotechnical mitigation
efforts include replacement of soils with engineered fills that have low expansion properties or the
addition of soil treatments to existing soils that reduce the expansion potential. Implementation of these
standard practice geotechnical measures would ensure that this impact would be less than significant.
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e)

Would the project have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative waste
water disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of wastewater?

No Impact
No septic systems are associated with the project.
f)

Would the project directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic
feature?

No Impact
As the project site is located in a relatively level, geologically featureless part of town, there are no
unique geologic features at the site. The project would include near-surface disturbance of soils during
grading for construction. However, the depth of disturbance would not exceed 4 feet. These upper soils
have already been disturbed by historic grading and road-building activities. Therefore, no intact unique
paleontological resources would be encountered or disturbed.
VIII. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS
Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

VIII. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS. Would the project:
a)

Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or
indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the
environment?









b)

Conflict with an applicable plan, policy, or regulation adopted
for the purpose of reducing the emissions of greenhouse
gases?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project generate greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a
significant impact on the environment?

No Impact
The proposed improvements to the bicycle system in this part of central Marin County would encourage
more bicycle use (and less automobile use) and likely lead to reduced GHG emissions. The traffic
diverted onto Nellen Avenue from Tamal Vista Boulevard would not result in increased GHG emissions
as the diverted traffic would travel the same distance, albeit along a different route, and the project
would not result in an overall increase in traffic. Provision of the roundabout at Nellen Avenue/Wornum
Drive would possibly reduce overall emissions as automobiles would avoid stopping, idling, and
starting, which can be associated with increased emissions.
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b)

Would the project conflict with an applicable plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing
the emissions of greenhouse gases?

No Impact
The Climate Action Plan (CAP) of the Town of Corte Madera specifically encourages new bike lanes
and routes. Traffic calming measures and intersection improvements are also addressed in the CAP to
control speeding and improve pedestrian and cyclist safety. The proposed roundabout at Nellen
Avenue/Wornum Drive would comply with this policy (Marin Climate & Energy Partnership, 2016).
Therefore, the project would not conflict with an applicable plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the
purpose of reducing the emissions of GHGs.
IX. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

IX.

Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
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Mitigation
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Less Than
Significant
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No
Impact

HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. Would the project:
a)

Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment
through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous
materials?









b)

Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment
through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident
conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into
the environment?









c)

Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely
hazardous materials, substances, or waste within onequarter mile of an existing or proposed school?









d)

Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous
materials sites compiled pursuant to Government Code
Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a
significant hazard to the public or the environment?









e)

For a project located within an airport land use plan or,
where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of
a public airport or public use airport, would the project result
in a safety hazard or excessive noise for people residing or
working in the project area?









f)

Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an
adopted emergency response plan or emergency
evacuation plan?









g)

Expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a
significant risk of loss, injury or death involving wildland
fires?
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IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport,
use, or disposal of hazardous materials?

Less Than Significant Impact
Project construction activities are expected to involve the routine transport, use, and disposal of
hazardous materials (e.g., motor fuels, paints, oils, and grease) that could pose a threat to human
health or the environment if not properly managed. Although small amounts of these materials would
be transported, used, and disposed of during project construction, these materials are typically used in
construction projects and are not considered acutely hazardous. Workers who handle hazardous
materials are required to adhere to health and safety requirements enforced by the federal
Occupational Health and Safety Administration (OSHA) and California Division of Occupational Safety
and Health (Cal/OSHA). Hazardous materials must be transported to and from the project site in
accordance with Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) and U.S. Department of
Transportation regulations, and also disposed of in accordance with RCRA regulations at a facility that
is permitted to accept the waste. Because compliance with existing regulations is mandatory, project
construction is not expected to create a significant hazard to public health or the environment through
the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials.
During project operation, it is not anticipated that the project would involve the use of hazardous
materials.
b)

Would the project create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably
foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the
environment?

Less Than Significant Impact
If past land uses resulted in releases of hazardous materials to the subsurface and those contaminants
are still present in surface soils, it is possible that construction workers and the public could be exposed
to adverse health effects during project grading. Based on review of Geotracker (State Water
Resources Control Board) and Envirostor (Department of Toxic Substances Control) databases, no
known active hazardous materials release sites are located at or adjacent to the project site. Therefore,
this impact is less than significant.
c)

Would the project emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials,
substances, or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school?

No Impact
The nearest school is Redwood High School, which is 0.9 mile from the project site. No other schools
are proposed in the vicinity and no significant hazardous materials would be used during construction
or operation.
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d)

Would the project be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled
pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a significant hazard to the
public or the environment?

No Impact
The project site does not include any hazardous materials site pursuant to Government Code Section
65962.5 (Town of Corte Madera, 2008). There was an Exxon site at 200 Nellen Avenue that once had
a known hazardous material release, but this site has now been closed. A release identified for the
Marin Municipal Water District (220 Nellen Avenue) was found to be non-applicable and to pose no or
very little risk to public safety, and also was not on the Cortese List (Section 65962.5) (Town of Corte
Madera, 2008).
e)

For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within two
miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result in a safety hazard or excessive noise
for people residing or working in the project area?

No Impact
The nearest public use airport to the project site is the Marin County Airport at Gnoss Field in Novato,
approximately 15 miles to the north. The nearest general aviation airport is the San Rafael Airport in
San Rafael, approximately 7 miles to the north. The project site is not located in a land use plan for
either airport, and no other sources of aviation hazards are present at the project site. The project
would therefore have no impact in relation to this criterion.
f)

Would the project impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response
plan or emergency evacuation plan?

Less Than Significant Impact
During construction, the Town would ensure that no interference with emergency access would occur
on Wornum Drive, Nellen Avenue, or Fifer Avenue. The opening of Nellen Avenue to two-way traffic,
with access from Fifer Avenue, would improve emergency access. No significant impacts related to
interference with an emergency evacuation plan would occur.
g)

Would the project expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury
or death involving wildland fires?

No Impact
The project site is not within or near a forested area that would be subject to wildland fire. The site is
within the urbanized portion of the Town of Corte Madera, adjacent to U.S. Highway 101 and near the
edge of San Francisco Bay. The Fire Threat Map of the Town’s General Plan shows the project area as
“Moderate” (Town of Corte Madera, 2008). The project involves roadway and bike path improvements
that would not expose people or structures to significant wildland fire risk.
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X.

X.

HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY
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HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY. Would the project:
a)

Violate any water quality standards or waste discharge
requirements or otherwise substantially degrade surface or
groundwater quality?









b)

Substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere
substantially with groundwater recharge such that the
project may impede sustainable groundwater management
of the basin?









c)

Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site
or area, including through the alteration of the course of a
stream or river or through the addition of impervious
surfaces, in a manner which would:













(iii) create or contribute runoff water which would exceed
the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage
systems or provide substantial additional sources of
polluted runoff; or









(iv) impede or redirect flood flows?























(i) result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site;
(ii) substantially increase the rate or amount of surface
runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or offsite;

d)

In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiches zones, risk release of
pollutants due to project inundation?

e)

Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality
control plan or sustainable groundwater management
plan?

IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project violate any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or otherwise
substantially degrade surface or groundwater quality?

Less Than Significant Impact
Almost the entire project site is currently covered with impervious surfaces (pavement), and all
stormwater runoff from the project site is directed to the Town’s stormwater collection system.
Stormwater collected in the Town stormwater/flood control system, which includes a number of lagoons
and waterways, ultimately is discharged to Corte Madera Creek and/or San Francisco Bay. The project
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would disturb (i.e., excavate and/or conduct grading) on approximately 0.99 acre and would add
approximately 7,300 square feet (0.17 acre) of new impervious surface area.
The State Water Resources Control Board and nine regional water quality control boards (RWQCBs)
regulate water quality of surface water and groundwater bodies throughout California. In the Bay Area,
including the project site, the San Francisco Bay RWQCB is responsible for implementation of the
Water Quality Control Plan (Basin Plan). The Basin Plan establishes beneficial water uses for
waterways and water bodies within the region.
Runoff water quality is regulated by the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)
program (established through the federal Clean Water Act). The NPDES program objective is to control
and reduce pollutant discharges to surface water bodies. Compliance with NPDES permits is mandated
by state and federal statutes and regulations. Locally, the NPDES program is overseen by the
RWQCB. The Marin County Stormwater Pollution Prevention Program (MCSTOPPP) assists cities,
towns, and the County with coordination and consistency of approaches across the county in
implementing the RWQCB requirements.
Potential stormwater impacts in development projects may occur during construction and operation
phases. Any construction activities, including grading, that would result in the disturbance of 1 acre of
land or more would be required to comply with the General Permit for Storm Water Discharges
Associated with Construction and Land Disturbance Activity (Construction General Permit). Since the
project would disturb less than 1 acre of land, it would not be subject to the Construction General
Permit (and therefore a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan [SWPPP] for the site would not be
required). However, under the Town’s Urban Runoff Pollution Prevention Ordinance, Title 9, Chapter
9.33.100, “Any person engaged in activities which will or may result in pollutants entering the town
storm drains shall undertake all practicable measures to cease such activities, and/or eliminate or
reduce such pollutants.” These activities include construction-related ground-disturbing activities.
Under subsection 9.33.100(c), projects including ground-disturbing activities are required to implement
construction-phase BMPs to prevent the discharge of construction wastes or contaminants from
construction materials, tools, and equipment from entering the storm drain system or any watercourse
and to include erosion and sediment controls and pollution prevention practices.
Project operations could also discharge pollutants to the stormwater system. Section E.12 of the
current Phase II MS4 Permit addresses requirements for retention and treatment of stormwater
generated by development and redevelopment projects. The project would create more than 5,000
square feet of impervious surfaces and therefore would be subject to these requirements. Section E.12
and Attachment 4 both require the use of Low Impact Development (LID) in new development projects.
LID must include measures to encourage infiltration and/or capture and treat runoff from impervious
surfaces. To reduce project site runoff, measures such as porous pavement or vegetated swales can
be used. These measures can also serve to prevent hydromodification (changes in natural watershed
characteristics due to urban development).
The Town of Corte Madera’s Municipal Stormwater Ordinance is located under Title 9 of the Corte
Madera Municipal Code, Chapter 9.33, Urban Runoff Pollution Prevention Ordinance. It requires
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stormwater protection measures for stormwater discharges, including those not regulated under an
NPDES permit. It includes prohibitions on littering, housekeeping standards for parking lots and similar
structures, and requirements for implementation of BMPs for new development and redevelopment
projects.
Compliance with Town and NPDES permit stormwater requirements would reduce the project’s
potential impacts on stormwater and groundwater quality to less-than-significant levels.
b)

Would the project substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater
recharge such that the project may impede sustainable groundwater management of the basin?

Less Than Significant Impact
The project site is located within the boundary of a Department of Water Resources (DWR)
groundwater sub-basin 2-028, Ross Valley. This groundwater sub-basin has been designated as very
low priority under the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA), indicating that there are no
current conditions present in this basin (e.g., overdraft, water quality problems, population growth
pressure) that threaten sustainability of this basin aquifer. The low priority status indicates that
preparation of a groundwater sustainability plan is not required.
The proposed project does not include pumping or use of groundwater. Also, the project’s relatively
modest increase in impervious cover would not interfere substantially with groundwater recharge.
Therefore, a less-than-significant impact would occur related to impeding sustainable groundwater
management of the basin.
c)

Would the project substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the
alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of impervious surfaces, in a manner
which would: (i) result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site; (ii) substantially increase the rate or
amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or off-site; (iii) create or contribute
runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage systems or
provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff; or (iv) impede or redirect flood flows?

Less Than Significant Impact
The project would not alter the course of a stream or river, and would not alter the existing drainage
pattern that exists on-site or off-site. Given the level nature of the site and the fact that the Town would
install wattles and other measures to ensure no significant siltation occurs off the site during
construction, no significant impacts related to siltation or erosion would occur. About 7,300 square feet
of new impervious surface area would be added due to the widening of Nellen Avenue, the new
roundabout, the Wornum Drive improvements, and the Fifer Avenue to Nellen Avenue slip lane. This
relatively small increase would not create significant new runoff, or increase the rate of runoff such that
on-site or off-site flooding would result or the capacity of the stormwater drainage system would be
exceeded. Flood flows would not be impeded or redirected. The Town has not observed any flooding
problems in this portion of Corte Madera.
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d)

In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiches zones, would the project risk release of pollutants due to project
inundation?

Less Than Significant Impact
The project site is not within the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 100-year flood
hazard zone according to the Corte Madera General Plan EIR (Town of Corte Madera, 2008). The site
is in a relatively low-lying area near the bay and may be subject to inundation associated with coastal
hazards, including sea level rise and tsunamis. Specifically, the project site is adjacent to the tsunami
wave run-up and sea level rise hazard areas as mapped by the Bay Conservation Development
Commission (BCDC). The project consists of roadway and bike path improvements, which are not
particularly susceptible to inundation hazards, and does not include materials or facilities that could
release pollutants to stormwater during inundation. Therefore, potential impacts related to coastal
hazards are less than significant.
e)

Would the project conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable
groundwater management plan?

No Impact
No groundwater management plan would be relevant to the project since no groundwater would be
used. Water quality is addressed above under (a).
XI. LAND USE AND PLANNING
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LAND USE AND PLANNING. Would the project:
a)

Physically divide an established community?

b)

Cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict
with any land use plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the
purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect?

IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project physically divide an established community?

No Impact
The project would take place entirely within existing rights-of-way and would not divide any community.
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b)

Would the project cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any land use plan, policy,
or regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect?

No Impact
The project would not conflict with any relevant plan or policy. In fact, the project would comply with
recommendations of the Town’s Bicycle/Pedestrian Plan (Town of Corte Madera, 2016).
XII. MINERAL RESOURCES
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MINERAL RESOURCES. Would the project:
a)

Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral
resource that would be of value to the region and the
residents of the State?









b)

Result in the loss of availability of a locally-important
mineral resource recovery site delineated on a local
general plan, specific plan, or other land use plan?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the
region and the residents of the State?

No Impact
No mineral resources would be affected by the project.
b)

Would the project result in the loss of availability of a locally-important mineral resource recovery site
delineated on a local general plan, specific plan, or other land use plan?

No Impact
Refer to (a) above.
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XIII. NOISE
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XIII. NOISE. Would the project result in:
a)

Generation of a substantial temporary or permanent
increase in ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the project
in excess of standards established in the local general plan
or noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other
agencies?









b)

Generation of excessive ground borne vibration or ground
borne noise levels?









c)

For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip
or an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not
been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public
use airport, would the project expose people residing or
working in the project area to excessive noise levels?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project result in generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise
levels in the vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise
ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies?

Less Than Significant Impact
Noise would be generated by the operation of heavy equipment during project construction. However,
all construction activities would be conducted during normal working hours (no nighttime work) to
minimize impacts on nearby residents of the Tam Ridge residential project. No extremely noisy
activities (e.g., pile driving) would be required for project construction. No significant increase in
ambient noise levels during project operation would be expected.
b)

Would the project result in generation of excessive ground borne vibration or ground borne noise levels?

Less Than Significant Impact
No pile driving or other actions would be required that could generate excessive ground borne
vibration. Short-term jackhammering may be required to break up existing paving. The Town would
conform with any restrictions on times and days of allowed construction. No excessive vibration would
be associated with such jack hammering.
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c)

For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where such a plan
has not been adopted, within 2 miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project expose
people residing or working in the project area to excessive noise levels?

No Impact
The project would not be located in the vicinity of a private or public airstrip or within an area covered
by an airport land use plan.
XIV. POPULATION AND HOUSING
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XIV. POPULATION AND HOUSING. Would the project:
a)

Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area,
either directly (for example, by proposing new homes and
businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of
roads or other infrastructure)?









b)

Displace substantial numbers of existing people or housing,
necessitating the construction of replacement housing
elsewhere?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area, either directly (for example,
by proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of roads or other
infrastructure)?

No Impact
No substantial inducement of population growth would result from the project. The proposed
improvements would serve the existing population.
b)

Would the project displace substantial numbers of existing people or housing, necessitating the
construction of replacement housing elsewhere?

No Impact
No displacement of people or housing would result from the project.
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XV. PUBLIC SERVICESS
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PUBLIC SERVICES. Would the project:
a)

Result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated
with the provision of new or physically altered governmental
facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental
facilities, the construction of which could cause significant
environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable
service ratios, response times, or other performance
objectives for any of the public services:
Fire protection?
Police protection?
Schools?
Parks?
Other public facilities?

IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or
physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental facilities, the
construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service
ratios, response times, or other performance objectives for any of the public services: Fire protection, police
protection, schools, parks, other public facilities?

No Impact
No impacts on public services would occur, as the proposed circulation improvements would not bring
in a new population base that would require such services. It is estimated that emergency vehicle
access would be improved by the opening of Nellen Avenue to traffic from Fifer Avenue and the
proposed roundabout at the Nellen Avenue/Wornum Drive intersection. The roundabout would be
designed to allow unimpeded fire truck access (e.g., potentially through a paved surface in the center
of the roundabout).
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XVI. RECREATION
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XVI. RECREATION.
a)

Would the project increase the use of existing neighborhood
and regional parks or other recreational facilities such that
substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or
be accelerated?









b)

Does the project include recreational facilities or require the
construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might
have an adverse physical effect on the environment?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational
facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated?

No Impact
The project would not increase demands on local or regional parks.
b)

Does the project include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of recreational
facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the environment?

Less Than Significant Impact
The project includes improved bicycle and pedestrian facilities; however, these facilities would not have
an adverse impact on the environment assuming that the mitigation measures identified in this Initial
Study are adopted and put in place.
XVII. TRANSPORTATION
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XVII. TRANSPORTATION. Would the project:
a)

Conflict with a program, plan, ordinance, or policy addressing
the circulation system, including transit, roadway, bicycle, and
pedestrian facilities?









b)

Conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines Section
15064.3, Subdivision (b)?
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c)

Substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design
feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or
incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)?









d)

Result in inadequate emergency access?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project conflict with a program, plan, ordinance, or policy addressing the circulation system,
including transit, roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities?

No Impact
As stated in Section XI, Land Use and Planning, above, the project would comply with
recommendations of the Town’s Bicycle/Pedestrian Plan (Town of Corte Madera, 2016). Most of the
proposed improvements have been addressed in this plan. The project would not conflict with any
programs, plans, ordinances, or policies addressing the circulation system.
b) Would the project conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3, Subdivision (b)?

Less Than Significant Impact
The project would not conflict with CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3(b). By improving bicycle and
pedestrian access in the Town of Corte Madera, the project is intended to result in fewer vehicle miles
traveled (VMT) by residents in private automobiles. As stated in Section 15064.3(b), “Projects that
decrease vehicle miles traveled in the project area compared to existing conditions should be
presumed to have a less than significant transportation impact.” (CEQA Guidelines, 2019) The CEQA
Guidelines go on to state that “Transportation projects that reduce, or have no impact on, vehicle miles
traveled should be presumed to cause a less than significant transportation impact.”
c)

Would the project substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or
dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)?

No Impact
No hazards due to geometric design features and incompatible uses would be associated with the
project. The proposed roundabout would be designed to minimize hazards.
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d)

Would the project result in inadequate emergency access?

Less Than Significant Impact
The proposed improvements would not result in inadequate emergency access. To the contrary, the
opening of Nellen Avenue at Fifer Avenue in the southbound direction would improve emergency
access in the Town of Corte Madera. The proposed roundabout would also not interfere with
emergency access.
XVIII.

TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES
Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

i) Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of
Historical Resources, or in a local register of historical
resources as defined in Public Resources Code
section 5020.1(k); or,









ii) A resource determined by the lead agency, in its
discretion and supported by substantial evidence, to
be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in
subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code Section
5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision
(c) of Public Resource Code Section 5024.1, the lead
agency shall consider the significance of the resource
to a California Native American tribe.









XVIII. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES. Would the project:
a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in
the significance of a tribal cultural resource, defined in
Public Resources Code section 21074 as either a site,
feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically
defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape,
sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California
Native American tribe, and this is:

IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource,
defined in Public Resources Code section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural landscape that is
geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, sacred place, or object with cultural
value to a California Native American tribe, and that is: (i) Listed or eligible for listing in the California
Register of Historical Resources or in a local register of historical resources as defined in Public Resources
Code section 5020.1(k); or ii) A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by
substantial evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public Resources
Code Section 5024.1?
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No Impact
No significant grading or excavation would be required for the project; thus, no impacts on tribal cultural
resources are anticipated. The depth of disturbance would not exceed 4 feet. These upper soils have
already been disturbed by historic grading and road-building activities. No historical resources would be
affected by the project as the improvements would occur within existing rights-of-way.
XIX. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS
Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

XIX. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS. Would the project:
a)

Require or result in the relocation or construction of new or
expanded water, wastewater treatment, or stormwater
drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications
facilities, the construction or relocation of which could cause
significant environmental effects?









b)

Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project
and reasonably foreseeable future development during
normal, dry, and multiple dry years?









c)

Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment
provider which serves or may serve the project that it has
adequate capacity to serve the project’s projected demand
in addition to the provider’s existing commitments?









d)

Generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards,
or in excess of the capacity of local infrastructure, or
otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction
goals?









e)

Comply with federal, State, and local management and
reduction statutes and regulations related to solid waste?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, wastewater
treatment, or stormwater drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities, the
construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental effects?

No Impact
No relocation of utility lines is anticipated for the project, and no expanded water, wastewater,
stormwater, or other services/utilities would be required.
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b)

Would the project have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project and reasonably foreseeable
future development during normal, dry, and multiple dry years?

No Impact
No increased water demands would be associated with the project.
c)

Would the project result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve
the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project’s projected demand in addition to the
provider’s existing commitments?

No Impact
No increased wastewater demands would be associated with the project.
d)

Would the project generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of
local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction goals?

No Impact
The project would not result in any increased generation of solid waste.
e)

Would the project comply with federal, State, and local management and reduction statutes and regulations
related to solid waste?

No Impact
Refer to (d) above.
XX. WILDFIRE

XX.

Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

WILDFIRE. If located in or near state responsibility areas or
lands classified as very high fire hazard severity zones, would the
project:
a)

Substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan
or emergency evacuation plan?









b)

Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate
wildfire risks, and thereby expose project occupants to
pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled
spread of a wildfire?
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Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

c)

Require the installation or maintenance of associated
infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, emergency water
sources, power lines, or other utilities) that may exacerbate
fire risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing impacts
to the environment?









d)

Expose people or structures to significant risks, including
downslope or downstream flooding or landslides, as a result
of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Would the project substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation
plan?

No Impact
The project would not impair an adopted emergency response plan or evacuation plan. As stated
earlier, the opening of Nellen Avenue at Fifer Avenue may improve emergency access.
b)

Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, would the project exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby
expose project occupants to pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire?

No Impact
No factors associated with the project site or the project would increase the risk or intensity of wildfire.
c)

Would the project require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel
breaks, emergency water sources, power lines, or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that may
result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment?

No Impact
No infrastructure associated with the project would exacerbate fire risks.
d)

Would the project expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream
flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes?

No Impact
The project would not expose structures or people to these potential hazards.
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XXI. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Potentially
Significant
Impact

Less Than
Significant
with
Mitigation
Incorporated

Less Than
Significant
Impact

No
Impact

XXI. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE.
a)

Does the project have the potential to substantially degrade
the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the
habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife
population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to
eliminate a plant or animal community, substantially reduce
the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered
plant or animal, or eliminate important examples of the major
periods of California history or prehistory?









b)

Does the project have impacts that are individually limited,
but cumulatively considerable? (“Cumulatively considerable”
means that the incremental effects of a project are considerable when viewed in connection with the effects of past
projects, the effects of other current projects, and the effects
of probable future projects.)









c)

Does the project have environmental effects which will
cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either
directly or indirectly?









IMPACT EVALUATION
a)

Does the project have the potential to substantially degrade the quality of the environment, substantially
reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below selfsustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, substantially reduce the number or
restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal, or eliminate important examples of the major
periods of California history or prehistory?

Less Than Significant Impact
No significant impacts would occur with the implementation of the identified mitigation measures. The
project’s biological impacts would be very limited, as discussed in Section IV, Biological Resources,
above. The project would have less than significant impacts on historical and archaeological resources,
as discussed in Section V, Cultural Resources, above.
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b)

Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively considerable? (“Cumulatively
considerable” means that the incremental effects of a project are considerable when viewed in connection
with the effects of past projects, the effects of other current projects, and the effects of probable future
projects.)

Less Than Significant Impact
The only project in the project site vicinity that is now under construction but not occupied is the 200
Nellen Avenue project that is proposed as a two-story, mixed use development with retail on the
ground floor and administrative offices on the upper floor. Access would be from Fifer Avenue, with an
egress-only driveway onto Nellen Avenue. This project is located near the intersection of Nellen
Avenue and Fifer Avenue. No other cumulative projects are proposed in the project site vicinity. With
the mitigation measures identified for the project, any cumulative impacts would be less than
significant. The 200 Nellen Avenue project would not exacerbate potential impacts of the proposed
project.
c)

Does the project have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects on human beings,
either directly or indirectly?

Less Than Significant Impact
Any potential impacts of the project are able to be mitigated to less than significant and would not
cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly. Refer to Appendix A for
a list of all identified mitigation measures, which would be adopted as part of the Initial Study/Mitigated
Negative Declaration.

REFERENCES
California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), 2019. Website on scenic highways:
http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LandArch/scenic_highways/; viewed on February 13, 2019.
CEQA Guidelines, 2019. California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines, as amended January 1.
Marin Climate & Energy Partnership, 2016. Town of Corte Madera Climate Action Plan, March.
Town of Corte Madera, 2008. Town of Corte Madera Draft Environmental Impact Report for the Town
of Corte Madera General Plan, April.
Town of Corte Madera, 2016. Town of Corte Madera Bicycle/Pedestrian Plan, July 26. Prepared by
Alta Planning & Design.
Town of Corte Madera, 2019. Municipal Code. Website: https://library.municode.com/ca/corte_
madera/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT15BUCO; viewed on February 25, 2019.
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APPENDIX A
MITIGATION MEASURES TO BE INCORPORATED INTO THE PROJECT
Mitigation Measure AIR-1: During any construction-period ground disturbance, the Town of Corte
Madera shall ensure that the project contractor implement measures to control dust and exhaust.
Implementation of the measures recommended by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District
(BAAQMD) and listed below would reduce the air quality impacts associated with grading and new
construction to a less-than-significant level. The contractor shall implement the following best
management practices (BMPs) that are required of all projects:
1. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas, staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, and unpaved
access roads) shall be watered two times per day.
2. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other loose material off-site shall be covered.
3. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent public roads shall be removed using wet power
vacuum street sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry power sweeping is prohibited.
4. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be limited to 15 miles per hour (mph).
5. All roadways, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved shall be completed as soon as possible.
6. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing the
maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by the California Airborne Toxics Control Measure
Title 13, Section 2485 of California Code of Regulations [CCR]). Clear signage indicating this
requirement shall be provided for construction workers at all access points.
7. All construction equipment shall be maintained and properly tuned in accordance with
manufacturer’s specifications. All equipment shall be checked by a certified mechanic and
determined to be running in proper condition prior to operation.
8. A publicly visible sign shall be posted listing the telephone number and person to contact at the
Lead Agency regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and take corrective action
within 48 hours. The BAAQMD phone number shall also be visible to ensure compliance with
applicable regulations.
9. An independent construction monitor hired by the Town of Corte Madera shall conduct periodic site
inspections, but in no event fewer than four total inspections during the course of construction to
ensure that these mitigation measures are implemented and shall issue a report to the Town
documenting the inspection results. Reports indicating non-compliance with construction mitigation
measures shall be cause to issue a stop work order until such time as compliance is achieved.
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The combination of the above measures would reduce the potential impact from construction dust and
the possibility that the project would result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of criteria
pollutants for which the project region is non-attainment to a less-than-significant level. (LTS)
Mitigation Measure BIO-1: The project shall comply with the provision of Chapter 15.50 of the Corte
Madera Municipal Code regarding proposed tree removal and requirements for adequate protection of
trees to be preserved and replacement tree plantings. Of particular concern are the native coast live
oak trees of regulated size along the south side of the Wornum Drive right-of-way at the north edge of
the parking lot for the California Department of Vehicles office on Tamal Vista Boulevard. A certified
arborist shall be responsible for defining appropriate tree avoidance and protection measures to ensure
that trees to be preserved are not damaged during construction. These measures may include slightly
elevating any proposed improvements to the bicycle/pedestrian pathway along the south side of
Wornum Drive to minimize disturbance to the tree root zones along the south side of the pathway. The
certified arborist shall be present during construction when tree root systems may be affected to
provide appropriate treatment. Any trees that are regulated under the Tree Protection Ordinance and
are to be removed shall be replaced at a minimum 1:1 ratio with 15-gallon-sized plantings, or as
determined by the Town of Corte Madera based on size of replacement plantings and survivability
criteria. This measure would reduce the potential impact due to tree removal to a less-than-significant
level. (LTS)
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MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measure

Party
Responsible
for Ensuring
Implementation

Compliance Verification
Party
Responsible
for Monitoring

Monitoring
Timing

Initial

Date

Project/
Comments

Air Quality
AIR-1: During any construction-period ground disturbance, the Town of Corte Madera shall
ensure that the project contractor implement measures to control dust and exhaust.
Implementation of the measures recommended by the Bay Area Air Quality Management
District (BAAQMD) and listed below would reduce the air quality impacts associated with
grading and new construction to a less-than-significant level. The contractor shall
implement the following best management practices (BMPs) that are required of all
projects:

Town of Corte
Madera Public
Works Department
and Project
Contractor

Town of Corte
Madera Public
Works Department

During construction

1. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas, staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, and
unpaved access roads) shall be watered two times per day.
2. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other loose material off-site shall be covered.
3. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent public roads shall be removed using wet
power vacuum street sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry power sweeping is
prohibited.
4. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be limited to 15 miles per hour (mph).
5. All roadways, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved shall be completed as soon as
possible.
6. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use or
reducing the maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by the California Airborne
Toxics Control Measure Title 13, Section 2485 of California Code of Regulations
[CCR]). Clear signage indicating this requirement shall be provided for construction
workers at all access points.
7. All construction equipment shall be maintained and properly tuned in accordance with
manufacturer’s specifications. All equipment shall be checked by a certified mechanic
and determined to be running in proper condition prior to operation.
8. A publicly visible sign shall be posted listing the telephone number and person to
contact at the Lead Agency regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and
take corrective action within 48 hours. The BAAQMD phone number shall also be
visible to ensure compliance with applicable regulations.
9. An independent construction monitor hired by the Town of Corte Madera shall conduct
periodic site inspections, but in no event fewer than four total inspections during the
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MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measure

Party
Responsible
for Ensuring
Implementation

Compliance Verification
Party
Responsible
for Monitoring

Monitoring
Timing

Initial

Date

Project/
Comments

course of construction to ensure that these mitigation measures are implemented and
shall issue a report to the Town documenting the inspection results. Reports indicating
non-compliance with construction mitigation measures shall be cause to issue a stop
work order until such time as compliance is achieved.
The combination of the above measures would reduce the potential impact from
construction dust and the possibility that the project would result in a cumulatively
considerable net increase of criteria pollutants for which the project region is nonattainment to a less-than-significant level.
Biological Resources
BIO-1: The project shall comply with the provision of Chapter 15.50 of the Corte Madera
Municipal Code regarding proposed tree removal and requirements for adequate protection
of trees to be preserved and replacement tree plantings. Of particular concern are the
native coast live oak trees of regulated size along the south side of the Wornum Drive rightof-way at the north edge of the parking lot for the California Department of Vehicles office
on Tamal Vista Boulevard. A certified arborist shall be responsible for defining appropriate
tree avoidance and protection measures to ensure that trees to be preserved are not
damaged during construction. These measures may include slightly elevating any
proposed improvements to the bicycle/pedestrian pathway along the south side of Wornum
Drive to minimize disturbance to the tree root zones along the south side of the pathway.
The certified arborist shall be present during construction when tree root systems may be
affected to provide appropriate treatment. Any trees that are regulated under the Tree
Protection Ordinance and are to be removed shall be replaced at a minimum 1:1 ratio with
15-gallon-sized plantings, or as determined by the Town of Corte Madera based on size of
replacement plantings and survivability criteria. This measure would reduce the potential
impact due to tree removal to a less-than-significant level.

Town of Corte
Madera Public
Works Department
and Arborist
Retained by Town

Town of Corte
Madera Public
Works Department

Prior to and during
construction
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Letters Received on Initial Study
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Marin Audubon Society
P.o. Box 599

I

MILL VALLEY,

CA 9494 2 - 0 599

tARI' UDUBON.ORG

April 2, 2019
JR Soroka
Department of Public Works
Town of Corte Madera
Tamalpais Ave
Corte Madera, CA 94925
RE: Central :\Jlarin Gap Closure Project Initial St udy/Neg ative Declaration
Dear Mr. Soroka:
The Central Marin Gap Closure project has long been a con cern for MAS because of th e pote ntial
adverse impacts of certain segments on the endangered Ridgway's Rail an d their Ecological Reserve
habitats. The full project extends fro m lhe north bank of Corte Madera Creek south, a and includi ng
Wornum Drive. The jurisdictions involved have divid ed th e project into segments and the segment that
is the subject of this Initial Study includes Nellen Ave. and Wo rnum Drive fro m Ta mal Vi sta t o the
Frontage Road. The Town has prepared an Initial Study/Nega t ive Dec laratio n (I S) f o r th is se gment .
While we found no significant environm2:tal impacts, w e do have a few commen t s and
recom mendations.
The IS reports that this segment remove would trees, altho ugh how ma ny is not identified, and t hat
most of the trees in the vicinity of the proposed im'"prove ments do not qu alify as regu lated trees In Cort e
Madera. The only native trees mentioned are Coast Red w oods whic h are plant ed but app aren tly do not
meet the size criteria, and Coast Live Oak. The Coast Live Oaks are on the DM V property and, while
reportedly these would not be removed, their roots cou ld be dam age d whi ch cou ld eventua lly lea d to
the death of the tree. The nonnative trees that would be impacted are eucalyptus, aca cia, pi ne, and
poplar
The mitigation idemified for potential impacts to the Coa st Live Oak is to sli ghtly eleva te the bik e path to
minimize disturbance to the root zone. It should be ex plain ed how t his wou ld protect th e treE roo t s. it
is not clear how covering the roots with mo re fill wo uld prot ect t he m. Ot her al t erna t ive s t hat shou ld be
considered is realigning the path away from the trees and narrowing the path adjacent to the tree s. The
most protective of these mitigation options should be requ ired and imp lemented. In ad dition, we
recommend that native trees be planted for each of the no n-native trees tha t would be cut down.
Although this is not required by CEQA it would be in the public int erest as it wo Id im prove habitat as
well as helping to combat climate change. The mitigati on t ree s wou ld simi larl y sequ ester ca rb on as had
the non-native trees and woul d co mpensate for the gas ses th at wo uld be rel eased when t he mature
non-native tr·ees are removed.
We also have a real concern that the approa ch of di vid ing t he Ga p Clo sure proj ect into segme nts w ith
different lead agencies, has the pote ntial fo r adverse impacts to min imize d or not identified. CEQA
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requires a cumulative impact analysis to ensure cu mu lative impacts are addressed, but unfortunately
this requirement is o nly for project s su bject to an EIR . By segmenting th e project, t he ju risdictions can
avoid a cumulative impact evaluation and fail to identify cum ulatively significant impacts that may not
be obvious segment by segment. This is not in the pu bl ic interest.
We al so have bee n info rmed that a public hearin g for t his project too k place on February 27, 2019 .
While we have been invited to many ot her me etings o n th e Gap Closure project, for some reason w e
were not notified of this meeting. We req uest t o be placed o n the notification list fo r an y future pu blic
meetings o n the Gap Closure Project. Pleas e sen d notices to: M arin Au d ubon Soci ety, 48 Ardm o re
Ro ad, Larkspur, CA 949 39.
Thank you for considering our comme nts,

g

Since,rel y,

" a
fo~
~.

.

0 chair

.
Conservation Committee
.

/

~~fe~on, l&.l112ch
Con servation Committee

CC: City of Larkspur
TAM

•
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CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: April 4, 2019
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2019
TO:

Mayor and Town Council

FROM:

Daria Carrillo, Finance Director

SUBJECT:

Annual Independent Audit Report for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2018


RECOMMENDED ACTION:
That the Town Council accept the following reports prepared by Cropper Accountancy
Corporation, Certified Public Accountants:




Independent Auditors’ Report
Basic Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules
Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Accounting Standards

BACKGROUND:
Cropper Accountancy Corporation, Certified Public Accountants, has completed the audit for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 2018. Based on their examination of the Town’s records and
procedures, they have issued a clean, or unmodified, opinion on the financial statements as well as
the Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
The conclusion presented in the Independent Auditors’ Report is that the basic financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Town as of June 30, 2018. The
change in financial position and cash flows are in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. This conclusion is known as a “clean audit report”.
The Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Accounting Standards, the auditor did not identify any material weaknesses over
internal controls or any instances of noncompliance.
Cropper Accountancy Corporation been the Town and Sanitary District’s auditor since the fiscal
1
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year ending June 30, 2012. Copies of the documents listed above are included in the Council
packet. They are also included as part of the agenda packet available for public viewing on the
Town’s website. John Cropper of Cropper Accountancy will present the report to the Town
Council on April 16, 2019. Following action by the Town Council, the document will be available
for public viewing in the Finance Department for a period of 30 days and will be posted on the
Town’s website.

DISCUSSION:
The basic financial statements include the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities. This section includes government-wide financial statements as required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). This information regarding the Town’s
financial position includes such items as valuation of the Town’s fixed assets, capitalization and
depreciation of those assets, indebtedness related to those assets, and information on debt service,
as well as employee benefit obligations. This is presented on the full accrual basis of accounting,
which means that the financial effect of events that impact the Town is recognized, regardless of
whether the cash was received or spent.
Also included in this section is the reporting of the Town’s unfunded net pension liability as
required by GASB No. 68. This liability includes both employer and employee contributions,
investment earning and benefits paid out by the pension plan trustee, CalPERS. The annual
expense is reported and calculated based upon investment earnings and member pension
contributions, less benefits paid out. The Town’s net pension liability as of June 30, 2018 is
$19,180,989. This liability includes both safety (Fire Department) and miscellaneous employer.
The Town has begun contributing to a pension stabilization fund in order to mitigate the volatility
of the required CalPERS payments for its unfunded liability.
Beginning in 2017-2018, a new Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) accounting standard is
required by GASB No. 75. GASB No. 75 affects public agencies with defined benefit programs
other than pension. In the Town’s case, these other benefits are retiree health benefits. The
requirements of GASB No. 75 include the recognition of the entire OPEB liability. The
implementation of this accounting standard resulted in the restatement of the beginning year net
position; the beginning year net position was reduced by $3,503,000. The Town’s total OPEB
liability as of June 30, 2018 is $9,522,000.
The government-wide statements show that the Town’s net position is $54,260,738, an increase of
$6,333,180. Please notice that approximately $26,247,651 of this total net position is due to the
Sanitary District, which is a component unit of the Town. $2,485,269 of the increase is attributable
to the Sanitary District.
The Town’s General Fund’s combined ending fund balance as of June 30, 2018 was $11,127,253,
an increase of $2,767,018 as compared with June 30, 2017. This balance includes the Corte
Madera Sales Tax Fund, which has a balance of $7,474,576 and the Park Madera Center Fund,
which has a deficit balance of ($1,939,591). Other funds included in the General Fund as presented
in the fund financial statements are the Street Impact Fee Fund, the Equipment and Technology
Fund, the Recreation Fund and the Recreation Capital Fund. The Town’s operating fund has a
balance of $3,561,547 as of June 30, 2018. The Town, unless directed otherwise by the Town
2

148

Council, will continue to keep each of these funds separate for its own internal records.

FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no fiscal impact associated with accepting these reports.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT:
This activity is not defined as a project under CEQA (Section 15378 CEQA Guidelines).

OPTIONS:
1. Accept the attached reports.
2. Take no action at this time.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Town of Corte Madera Basic Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules, June 30,
2018

THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN MANAGER.
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ATTACHMENT 1
Town of Corte Madera Basic Financial Statements and Supplementary
Schedules, June 30, 2018
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Town of Corte Madera, California
Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management for the Town of Corte Madera (Town), we offer readers of the Town’s financial
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Town for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS




The Town’s governmental activities net position increased by $3,835,898 (from $24,177,189 to
$28,013,087).
The Town’s net position for business-type activities increased by $2,497,282 (from $23,750,369
to $26,247,651).
Revenues exceeded expenditures in the General Fund by $3,101,471 during the fiscal year.

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Town’s basic financial
statements. The Town’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report
also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.
Government-wide financial statements present the financial picture of the Town from the economic
resources measurement focus using the accrual basis of accounting similar to a private-sector business.
The statement of net position presents information on all of the Town’s assets and liabilities, with the
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position
may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Town is improving or
deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how the Town’s net position changed during
the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses
are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods
(e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

This space intentionally left blank.
157
3

Town of Corte Madera, California
Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Continued

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the Town that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that
are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (businesstype activities).
The governmental activities of the Town consist of general government, community development, public
safety, public works, culture and leisure, and pension and OPEB expense. The business-type activities
of the Town include Sanitary District No. 2 and Age-Friendly Corte Madera.
The government-wide financial statements include not only the Town itself (known as the primary
government), but also Sanitary District No. 2, a legally separate entity, whose operations are totally
integrated with the legislative, legal, administrative, finance, and public works engineering and
maintenance functions of the Town, and therefore has been included as an integral part of the primary
government.
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 19-21 of this report.
Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Town, like other state
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements. All of the funds of the Town can be divided into three categories: governmental
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.
Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at
the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the Town’s near-term financing
requirements.
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the Town’s near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between
governmental funds and governmental activities.
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
The Town maintains twelve individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
governmental fund Balance Sheet and in the governmental fund statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balances for the general fund. Data from the other twelve governmental funds are
combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.
The Town adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund and all governmental funds. A
budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the general fund and the nonmajor funds to
demonstrate compliance with this budget.
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 24-29 of this report.
Proprietary funds. The Town maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are
used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements. The Town uses enterprise funds to account for Sanitary District No. 2, and Age-Friendly
Corte Madera. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs
internally among the Town’s various functions. The Town uses internal service funds to account for its
self-insurance activities. Because this service predominately benefits governmental rather than businesstype functions, it has been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements.
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements,
only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for all of the
Town’s proprietary funds as they are all considered to be major funds by the Town. Conversely, the
internal service fund is combined into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary financial
statements. More detailed information for the internal service fund is provided in the form of combining
statements elsewhere in the report.
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 30-35 of this report.
Fiduciary funds. Agency funds are fiduciary funds that account for assets held by the Town in a purely
custodial capacity. The reporting entity includes seven agency funds. Since agency funds are custodial
in nature (i.e. assets equal liabilities) they do not involve the measurement of results of operations.
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements for this reason.
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on page 36 of this report.
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
Notes to the basic financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes
to the basic financial statements can be found on pages 39-82 of this report.
Required Supplementary Information on the funding status of the pension plans can be found on pages
84-87 of this report.
The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds and
internal service and fiduciary funds can be found on pages 90-107 of this report.
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the Town’s financial position.
In the case of the Town, net position was $54,260,738 at the close of the most recent fiscal year. By far
the largest portion of the Town’s net position, approximately 98.5%, reflects its investment in capital
assets (e.g., land, infrastructure, buildings, machinery, equipment, and vehicles), less any related debt
used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The Town uses these capital assets to provide
services to its citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the
Town’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot
be used to liquidate these liabilities.
Town of Corte Madera's Net Position
Governmental Activities
2018
2017
Current and other assets
$ 14,498,872
Noncurrent assets
48,312,139
Total assets
62,811,011
Deferred Outflows of Resources
6,892,871
Current and other liabilities
2,540,399
Long-term liabilities
38,669,722
Total liabilities
41,210,121
Deferred Inflows of Resources
480,674
Net position:
Invested in capital assets, net of
related debt
37,753,363
Unrestricted (deficit)
(9,740,276)
Total net position

$ 28,013,087

$

$

Business-type Activities
2018
2017
$

Total
2018

2017

7,946,796
16,547,631
24,494,427
744,058
744,058
-

$ 25,197,396
64,000,591
89,197,987
6,892,871
2,679,724
38,669,722
41,349,446
480,674

$ 19,554,944
63,439,733
82,994,677
6,199,244
2,907,197
33,931,141
36,838,338
925,025

11,608,148
46,892,102
58,500,250
6,199,244
2,163,139
33,931,141
36,094,280
925,025

$ 10,698,524
15,688,452
26,386,976
139,325
139,325
-

36,379,457
(8,699,268)

15,688,452
10,559,199

16,083,663
7,666,706

53,441,815
818,923

52,463,120
(1,032,562)

27,680,189

$ 26,247,651

$ 23,750,369

$ 54,260,738

$ 51,430,558
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Continued
Governmental Activities
The cost of all Governmental activities this year was $20,271,769 as shown in the Statement of Activities
on pages 20 and 21. Property taxes paid $6,399,601 toward this cost, program revenue paid $2,529,286
toward this cost, other governments and organizations subsidized certain programs with grants and
contributions ($1,298,214) for operations and ($1,721,836) for capital. Town general revenue, some of
which was restricted to only certain expenditures, in the amount of $8,322,832 was used to pay for the
remaining of governmental activities. The remaining revenue of $3,835,898 was added to ending net
position.
Available net position includes those amounts not subject to restriction in the current period, typically
classified as nonspendable, committed or unassigned fund balance. These amounts are converted to net
position by adding long-term assets and subtracting long-term liabilities. A graphic illustration of this
conversion is as follows:
Unassigned,
2,157,189 ,
17%

Fund Balance
Assigned,
6,590,526 ,
50%

Non‐
spendable,
4,424 , 0%

Committed,
4,300,000 ,
33%

Net Position
Unrestricted,
9,740,276 ,
21%

Invested in
capital
assets,
37,753,363 ,
79%
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Continued
Governmental Activities, Continued
Operating resources (program revenues) and operating expenses can be depicted graphically as follows:

Operating Resources
Community
development,
641,187 , 11%

Public works,
1,777,868 , 32%

General
government,
424,532 , 8%
Culture and
Leisure,
666,858 , 12%

Public safety,
2,038,891 , 37%

Operating Expenses
Community
development,
3,101,166 , 15%

Public works,
3,891,731 , 19%

General
government,
3,373,680 , 17%
Culture and
Leisure,
1,264,469 , 6%
Pension &
OPEB, 580,401 ,
3%

Public safety,
8,060,322 , 40%
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Continued
Business-type Activities
The Town’s business-type activities include: the Sanitary District, and Age-Friendly Corte
Madera.
Total resources available during the year to finance business-type activities were $6,402,077. This
consisted of $3,096,351 in program revenues and $3,305,726 in general revenues. Total businesstype activities expenses during the year were $3,866,795; thus the net position at July 1, 2017, of
$23,750,369, was increased by $2,497,282, resulting in an ending net position of $26,247,651.
The cost of all Business-type activities this year was $3,866,795. However, as shown in the
Statement of Activities on pages 20 and 21, the amount that was paid by charges for services and
operating and capital grants and contributions ($3,096,351) with a remaining net cost balance of
$770,444. The Town paid for the majority of the remaining “public benefit” portion of businesstype activities with $3,192,487 in property taxes (which could only be used for Sanitary District
purposes) and with other revenues totaling $113,239 (which could only be used for Sanitary
District purposes). The result was net position was increased by $2,497,282.
Operating revenues and expenses can be depicted graphically as follows:

Operating Expenses

Operating Revenues
Sanitary District

Sanitary District

Age‐Friendly
Corte Madera

Age‐Friendly
Corte Madera
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Continued
Business-type Activities, Continued
Each program’s net cost (total cost less revenues generated by the activities) is presented below.
The net cost shows the financial burden that was placed on the Town’s taxpayers by each of these
functions.

Operating Revenues
2018
Business-type activities:
Sanitary District
Park Madera
Age-Friendly Corte Madera
Total business-type activities

Net (Expense)
and Changes in
Net Cost

Operating Expense

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

$

3,095,351
1,000

$

3,411,049
128,898
300

$

3,860,797
5,998

$

4,726,137
128,898
986

$

(765,446)
(4,998)

$

(1,315,088)
(686)

$

3,096,351

$

3,540,247

$

3,866,795

$

4,856,021

$

(770,444)

$

(1,315,774)

Cash Management
To obtain flexibility in cash management, the Town employs a pooled cash system (Reference
Note 2 in the notes to the basic financial statements). Under the pooled cash concept, the Town
invests the cash of all funds with maturities planned to coincide with cash needs. Idle cash is
invested in certain eligible securities as constrained by law and further limited by the Town's
Investment Policy. The goals of the Town's Investment Policy are safety, liquidity, and yield in
that order.
Capital Assets
The capital assets of the Town are those assets which are used in the performance of the Town’s
functions including infrastructure assets. At June 30, 2018, net capital assets totaled $63,020,720.
The following table shows the Town’s Capital Assets net of depreciation:
Governmental
Activities
2018
2017
Land
Infrastructure
Structures and improvements
M achinery and equipment
Vehicles
Accumulated depreciation
Total

Business-type
Activities
2018
2017

$ 19,440,491
50,821,093
12,326,341
1,372,365
2,662,714
(39,290,736)

$ 10,147,205
59,306,668
12,227,461
1,225,853
2,744,956
(39,291,073)

$

580,265
18,919,940
15,826,205
45,721
451,867
(20,135,546)

$ 47,332,268

$ 46,361,070

$ 15,688,452

$

580,265
18,554,687
15,386,591
45,721
451,867
(18,935,468)

$ 16,083,663

Total
2018

2017

$ 20,020,756
69,741,033
28,152,546
1,418,086
3,114,581
(59,426,282)

$ 10,727,470
77,861,355
27,614,052
1,271,574
3,196,823
(58,226,541)

$ 63,020,720

$ 62,444,733
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Continued
Capital Assets, Continued
Additional information on the Town’s capital assets can be found in Note 4 on page 61 of this
report.
LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Long-term obligations, considered a liability of governmental activities, increased by $4,745,896
as shown in Note 7. This included a reduction of Debt of ($402,708), an increase of the
compensated absences obligation of $56,805, an increase of the Net “OPEB” Obligation of
$3,316,000, an increase in the net pension liability of $1,905,379, and a decrease in the liability
for claims of $129,580.
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES
In considering the Town Budget for fiscal year 2018-2019, the Town Council and management
used the following criteria:
The key assumptions in our revenue forecast were:
1. Property tax revenue for the Town was expected to increase by 4.5%.
2. Sales tax revenues was expected to remain steady. However, information received since
the budget adoption indicates that the sales tax revenue will increase by 16% in 201819, due mostly to one time events. The local Corte Madera sales tax will increase by
approximately 32%, due mainly to an increase in the rate effective October 2018.
3. Other tax revenues are expected to increase by 1.0%.
4. Interest earnings should be approximately the same.
5. Charges for services and permits are expected to be approximately the same.
6. Sewer user service charges will remain at $498 per sewer user unit, the same rate as
levied since fiscal year 2009-2010.
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES, Continued
The adopted budget for all Town funds for the new fiscal year of 2018-2019 was $34,266,230 and
is summarized as follows:

General fund
Special revenue funds
Enterprise funds
Internal service funds
Capital project funds
Total budget

Original Budget
FY 2017-18
$ 24,976,400
97,000
6,845,100
438,900
2,870,400
$

35,227,800

Original Budget
FY 2018-19
$ 25,473,174
6,345,995
483,536
1,963,525
$

34,266,230

Amount
Change
$
496,774
(97,000)
(499,105)
44,636
(906,875)
$

(961,570)

Percentage
Change
2.0%
(100.0)%
(7.3)%
10.2%
(31.6)%
(2.7)%
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES, Continued
1. General Fund - Shows an increase of $496,774 or 2%. Please note the following changes:














Administration and Finance budgeted expenditures decreased by $135,642, or 8.8%
due to the retirement of the Town Treasurer. Additionally, the salary schedule for
all employees except for the Town Manager increased by 3%.
Building and Planning budgeted expenditures increased by $66,824, or 6.39% due
to promotions, step increases and a 3 % increase to the salary schedule. Also
included in the increase is $20,000 for contract work related to cannabis
regulations.
Central Marin Police Authority budgeted expenditures increased by $195,013 or
5.7%. The increase is due to a 3% cost of living increase, a payment into a reserve
fund and increased pension costs.
Fire Department budgeted expenditures increased by $150,800, or 3.7%. This
includes a 3% cost of living increase as well as step increases.
Public Works Administration and Engineering increased $52,803 or 6.24%. This
includes step increases and a 3% increase to the salary schedule. Also included is
an associate engineer hired in 2017-18 as a specialist for the Sanitary District.
100% of her costs are recovered by fees and through the Sanitary District.
Public Works Maintenance and Operations budgeted expenditures decreased by
$256,790, or 9.4%, due to departmental reorganization.
California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS): the lump sum
payment to address Corte Madera’s portion of CalPERS’ unfunded liability has
increased $240,290 (24.6%). The Town has established a Pension Stabilization
Trust in order to mitigate volatility related to mandatory payment to CalPERS. The
payment to the trust for 2018-2019 has increased by $570,000. The funds in the
trust can only be used to pay retirement costs.
Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB): the Town has established a trust and
makes payments toward retiree health unfunded liability. The Town decreased its
contribution by $250,000 (from $500,000) in 2018-2019. The balance in trust as
of July 2018 was approximately $2,276,000.
Budgeted expenditures related to capital fees collected by the Recreation
Department decreased by $51,100.
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2. Special Revenue Funds – Gas Tax Funds are now consolidated into one fund and shown in
the Capital Funds.

Traffic Safety Fund
Gas Tax 2107 Fund
Gas Tax 2107.5 Fund
Disability Access
Total budget

Original Budget
FY 2017-18
$
25,000
70,000
2,000
$

Original Budget
FY 2018-19
$
-

97,000

$

-

Amount
Change
$ (25,000)
(70,000)
(2,000)
-

Percentage
Change
(100.0)%
(100.0)%
(100.0)%
0.0%

$ (97,000)

(100.0)%

3. Enterprise Funds – Show a decrease of ($499,105) or (7.3%).

Sanitary District
Park Madera
Age-Friendly Corte Madera
Total budget

Original Budget
FY 2017-18
$
6,712,200
132,900
$

6,845,100

Original Budget
FY 2018-19
$
6,345,995
$

6,345,995

Amount
Change
$ (366,205)
(132,900)
$

Percentage
Change
(5.5)%
(100.0)%
0.0%

(499,105)

(7.3)%

Park Madera Center expenditures previously shown in the Enterprise Funds are now
included in the General Fund.
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES, Continued

4. Internal Service Funds - Show an increase of $44,636 or 10.2%.
Original Budget
FY 2017-18
Workers' Comp Insurance
$
179,600
259,300
Property and Liability Insuranc
Other Employee Insurance
Totals

$

Original Budget
FY 2018-19
$
205,527
269,909
8,100

438,900

$

483,536

Amount
Change
$
25,927
10,609
8,100
$

Percentage
Change
13.7%
(14.0%)
62.7%

44,636

10.2%

5. Capital Projects Funds - Show a decrease of $(906,875) or 31.6%.

Storm drainage tax
Gas tax & TAM
Gas Tax
SB1 / Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation
Capital improvement
Traffic improvement
Marin parks
Totals

Original Budget
FY 2017-18
$
1,190,000
310,000
1,132,700
25,000
212,700
$

2,870,400

Original Budget
FY 2018-19
$
200,000
433,342
210,525
706,658
413,000
$

1,963,525

Amount
Change
$
(990,000)
(310,000)
433,342
210,525
(426,042)
388,000
(212,700)
$

(906,875)

The Storm Drainage Tax was discontinued as of 2018-2019. The budgeted amount
represents amounts remaining as of July 1, 2018.
Gas Tax and Transportation Authority of Marin (TAM) funds were previously combined.
Gas Tax is now shown separately and TAM is included in the Capital improvement line.
Traffic Improvement includes Tam Ridge Traffic Improvement and Village Traffic
Improvement Funds, as well as the Traffic Improvement Fund.
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CONTACTING THE TOWN’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and
creditors with a general overview of the Town’s finances and to show the Town’s accountability
for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report, require a separate report of the
Town’s component unit, Sanitary District No. 2, or need any additional financial information,
contact the Office of the Director of Administrative Services at the Corte Madera Town Hall, 300
Tamalpais Drive, P.O. Box 159, Corte Madera, CA 94976-0159, telephone number (415) 927–
5055, e-mail finance_dept@tcmmail.org .
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for June 30, 2017)

Governmental
Activities

Business-Type
Activities

2018

2017

$ 11,981,818
10,000
2,409,613
30,000
3,924
63,517
14,498,872

$ 10,608,618
115,222
(63,517)
38,201
10,698,524

$ 22,590,436
10,000
2,524,835
30,000
3,924
38,201
25,197,396

$ 17,299,450
23,151
2,191,021
3,121
38,201
19,554,944

20,020,756

10,727,470

Totals

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments
Receivables (net)
Deposits
Inventory and prepaid items
Internal balances
Other assets
Total current assets
Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Depreciable capital assets:
Infrastructure
Buildings, property, and equipment
Accumulated Depreciation
Total capital assets
Investments in certificates of deposit
Total noncurrent assets
TOTAL ASSETS

19,440,491

580,265

50,821,093
16,361,420
(39,290,736)
47,332,268
979,871
48,312,139

18,919,940
16,323,793
(20,135,546)
15,688,452
15,688,452

69,741,033
32,685,213
(59,426,282)
63,020,720
979,871
64,000,591

77,861,355
32,082,449
(58,226,541)
62,444,733
995,000
63,439,733

62,811,011

26,386,976

89,197,987

82,994,677

1,075,000
5,817,871

-

1,075,000
5,817,871

6,199,244

69,703,882

26,386,976

96,090,858

89,193,921

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred OPEB
Deferred pension
TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES
LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deposits
Current portion of long term debt
Compensated absence obligation- current portion
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long term debt, net of current portion
Compensated absence obligation- LT portion
Net OPEB obligation
Net pension liability
Liability for claims
Total noncurrent liabilities

1,721,362
375,966
410,023
33,048
2,540,399

139,325
139,325

1,860,687
375,966
410,023
33,048
2,679,724

2,312,878
402,708
191,611
2,907,197

9,168,882
297,431
9,522,000
19,180,989
500,420
38,669,722

-

9,168,882
297,431
9,522,000
19,180,989
500,420
38,669,722

9,578,905
240,626
6,206,000
17,275,610
630,000
33,931,141

TOTAL LIABILITIES

41,210,121

139,325

41,349,446

36,838,338

55,000
425,674

-

55,000
425,674

925,025

41,690,795

139,325

41,830,120

37,763,363

15,688,452
10,559,199
$ 26,247,651

53,441,815
818,923
$ 54,260,738

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred OPEB
Deferred pension
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED
INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
NET POSITION

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Unrestricted (deficit)
TOTAL NET POSITION

37,753,363
(9,740,276)
$ 28,013,087

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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52,463,120
(1,032,562)
$ 51,430,558
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Activities
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2017)

Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government
Community development
Public safety
Public works
Culture and leisure
Pension and OPEB expense

Expenses

$

Total governmental activities
Business-type activities:
Sanitary District
Park Madera
Age-Friendly Corte Madera
Total business-type activities
Total primary government

Charges for
Services

$

3,373,680
3,101,166
8,060,322
3,891,731
1,264,469
580,401

$

423,080
641,187
742,129
127,982
594,908
-

Program Revenues
Operating
Grants and
Contributions

$

1,452
1,296,762
-

Capital
Grants and
Contributions

$

1,649,886
71,950
-

20,271,769

2,529,286

1,298,214

1,721,836

3,860,797
5,998
3,866,795

2,946,524
2,946,524

1,000
1,000

148,827
148,827

24,138,564

$

5,475,810

$

1,299,214

$

1,870,663

General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes in-lieu of MVLF
Property taxes, levied for sanitary district purposes
Sales and use tax
Sales tax override
Transient occupancy tax, levied for general purposes
Transient occupancy tax, levied for community promotion
Franchise tax
Business license tax
Real property transfer tax
Intergovernmental:
State property tax relief
State motor vehicle in-lieu tax (MVLF)
Use of money and property
Miscellaneous
Total general revenues
Transfers
Total general revenues and transfers
Change in net position
Net position:
Beginning of year, as restated
Net position - Ending
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Assets
Governmental
Activities

$

(2,949,148)
(2,459,979)
(6,021,431)
(2,113,863)
(597,611)
(580,401)

Business-Type
Activities

$

(14,722,433)

$

Totals

2018

-

$

-

(2,949,148)
(2,459,979)
(6,021,431)
(2,113,863)
(597,611)
(580,401)

2017

$

(1,615,306)
(5,343,147)
(7,092,623)
(1,014,579)
(1,521,894)
474,106

(14,722,433)

(16,113,443)

-

(765,446)
(4,998)
(770,444)

(765,446)
(4,998)
(770,444)

(1,315,088)
(686)
(1,315,774)

(14,722,433)

(770,444)

(15,492,877)

(17,429,217)

5,387,621
1,011,980
8,689,138
972,734
243,183
1,091,728
582,371
98,977

3,192,487
-

5,387,621
1,011,980
3,192,487
8,689,138
972,734
243,183
1,091,728
582,371
98,977

5,047,310
955,124
3,058,803
6,369,507
2,470,862
802,262
200,565
1,080,588
546,579
89,431

22,470
4,993
787,589
107,547
19,000,331
(442,000)
18,558,331

14,747
98,492
3,305,726
(38,000)
3,267,726

37,217
4,993
886,081
107,547
22,306,057
(480,000)
21,826,057

37,007
4,186
888,708
33,201
21,584,133
21,584,133

3,835,898

2,497,282

6,333,180

4,154,916

24,177,189
28,013,087

$

23,750,369
26,247,651

$

47,927,558
54,260,738

$

43,772,642
47,927,558
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for June 30, 2017)

Major Fund

Totals

General

Other
Governmental
Funds

2018

2017

$ 10,525,425

$ 1,895,701

$ 12,421,126

$ 9,373,367

2,312,603
61,905
3,924

12,885
20,105
2,115
-

2,325,488
20,105
2,115
61,905
3,924

1,911,829
5,721
40,006
19,506
68,981
63,504
44,639
49,524
3,121

$ 12,903,857

$ 1,930,806

$ 14,834,663

$ 11,580,198

$ 1,367,590
375,966
33,048

$

5,910
-

$ 1,373,500
375,966
33,048

$ 1,223,411
49,524
191,611

1,776,604

5,910

1,782,514

1,464,546

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Taxes
Fines
Interest
Intergovernmental subventions
Intergovernmental grants
Service charges
Loans
Assessments
Expense reimbursements
Due from other funds
Inventory
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deposits
Due to other funds
Vacation and compensated absence obligation
Total liabilities
Fund balances:
Nonspendable:
Inventory
Petty cash
Committed for contingencies
Assigned for capital projects
Unassigned, (deficit) reported in:
General fund
Capital projects funds

3,924
500
4,300,000
4,665,640

1,924,896

3,924
500
4,300,000
6,590,536

3,121
500
1,800,000
5,812,031

818,136
1,339,053

-

818,136
1,339,053

2,500,000
-

Total fund balances

11,127,253

1,924,896

13,052,149

10,115,652

$ 12,903,857

$ 1,930,806

$ 14,834,663

$ 11,580,198

Total liabilities and fund balances

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
to the Statement of Net Position
For the year ended June 30, 2018

$13,052,149

Total fund balances - total governmental funds
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net
Position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the
governmental funds balance sheet.

47,332,268

Internal services funds are used by management to charge the costs
of certain activities, such as insurance, to individual funds. The
assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are (net of amount
allocated to business-type activities):
Current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Net amount allocated to business-type activities
Deferred outflows of resources not reported on governmental funds
balance sheet
OPEB
Pension
g
p y
p
and, therefore, they are not reported in the government's fund
balance sheets. Includes internal service funds noncurrent
liabilities.

$ 580,563
(17,448)
63,517

626,632

1,075,000
5,817,871

6,892,871

Long term Debt
Interest payable
Long term portion of compensated absences
Net OPEB obligation
Net pension liability
Liability for claims

(9,578,905)
(330,414)
(297,431)
(9,522,000)
(19,180,989)
(500,420)

Deferred inflows of resources not reported on governmental funds
balance sheet
OPEB
Pension

(55,000)
(425,674)

Net position of governmental activities

(480,674)
$28,013,087

179
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2017)

Totals

Major Fund

General
REVENUES:
Taxes
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Use of money and property
Charges for services
Other revenues

$ 18,572,853
10,548
818,556
779,526
2,529,286
475,222

Other
Governmental
Funds
$

884,907
268,581
5,779
94,578

2018
$

2017

19,457,760
10,548
1,087,137
785,305
2,529,286
569,800

$ 18,867,259
35,260
803,281
834,211
2,260,738
796,364

23,185,991

1,253,845

24,439,836

23,597,113

3,086,450
1,342,301
1,401,061
8,114,751
3,925,751
1,298,489

-

3,086,450
1,342,301
1,401,061
8,114,751
3,925,751
1,298,489

2,697,736
1,395,709
8,808,192
2,773,491
2,598,816

363,100
301,039
251,578

1,084,366

363,100
301,039
1,335,944

175,511
291,894
4,092,219

Total expenditures

20,084,520

1,084,366

21,168,886

22,833,568

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES

3,101,471

169,479

3,270,950

763,545

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General government
Pension liability
Community development
Public safety
Public works
Culture and leisure
Debt service:
Principal
Interest
Capital outlay

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Proceeds from sale of assets
Transfers in
Transfers out
Transfers out - Park Madera Center
Total other financing sources (uses)

107,547
(704,140)
262,140

-

107,547
(704,140)
262,140

30,200
91,045
(91,045)
-

(334,453)

-

(334,453)

30,200

Net change in fund balances

2,767,018

169,479

2,936,497

793,745

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS):
Beginning of year

8,360,235

1,755,417

10,115,652

9,321,907

13,052,149

$ 10,115,652

End of year

$ 11,127,253

$

1,924,896

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the year ended June 30, 2018

$

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

2,936,497

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures while
governmental activities report depreciation expense to allocate those
expenditures over the life of the assets:
Capital asset purchases, capitalized
Capital asset retirements
Depreciation expense

1,335,023
(364,161)
337

971,199

402,708
7,329

410,037

Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds,
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net
Position:
Debt service principal payments
Interest payable
Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use
of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures
in governmental funds:
Accrued compensated absences (long-term portion)
Change in net pension liability of GASB 68
Change in net OPEB liability of GASB 75

(56,805)
(1,787,401)
1,207,000

Internal services funds are used by management to charge the costs of
certain activities, such as insurance, to individual funds. The net revenue
(expense) for the internal service funds of $170,098 plus $2,284 of interest
income less $17,011 for services to business-type activities included in
internal balances is reported with governmental activities for a total of
$155,371.
Change in net position of governmental activities
for the year ended June 30, 2018

155,371

3,835,898

June 30, 2017 net position of governmental activities

24,177,189

June 30, 2018 net position of governmental activities

$ 28,013,087

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Equity - Budget and Actual
General Fund
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative actual amounts for the year ended June 30, 2017)

REVENUES:
Taxes:
Property taxes
Property tax in-lieu of MVLF
Sales and use tax
Sales tax override
Transient occupancy tax
Franchise tax
Business license tax
Real property transfer tax
Paramedic special tax
Total taxes
Fines and forfeitures
Use of money and property:
Investment income
Lease income - Park Madera Center
Lease income
Total use of money and property
Intergovernmental:
State fire disaster reimbursement
State property tax relief
State public safety
Excess MVLF's
Total intergovernmental
Charges for services:
Building charges
Engineering charges
Planning charges
Fire charges
Ambulance charges
Public works parks maintenance charges
Parks and recreation rentals and fees
Parks and recreation facilities capital fees
Other charges and fees
Total charges for services
Street impact fees
Other

Amended
Budget

Original
Budget
$

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
General government
Pension liability
Community development
Public safety
Public works
Culture and leisure
Debt service
Capital Outlay
Total expenditures

5,111,100
993,000
9,250,000
6,700,000
1,050,000
1,098,000
550,000
90,000
510,000
25,352,100
7,000

$

5,268,100
1,012,000
9,250,000
2,550,000
1,050,000
1,098,000
550,000
90,000
510,000
21,378,100
7,000

$

119,521
(20)
(560,862)
(2,550,000)
165,917
(6,272)
32,371
8,977
(14,879)
(2,805,247)
3,548

$

5,047,310
955,124
6,369,507
2,470,862
1,002,827
1,080,588
546,579
89,431
489,313
18,051,541
9,756

(31,409)
744,482
66,453
779,526

(31,409)
744,482
12,553
725,626

37,563
657,554
131,478
826,595

22,000
80,000
102,000

22,000
80,000
102,000

706,875
22,470
84,218
4,993
818,556

706,875
470
4,218
4,993
716,556

363,886
22,356
79,748
4,186
470,176

563,900
125,000
170,000
11,000
769,000
18,000
343,000
437,500
2,437,400
(188,000)
-

563,900
125,000
170,000
11,000
769,000
18,000
343,000
437,500
2,437,400
(188,000)
-

503,210
127,982
137,977
60,794
681,335
594,908
423,080
2,529,286
473,770
1,452

(60,690)
2,982
(32,023)
49,794
(87,665)
(18,000)
251,908
(14,420)
91,886
661,770
1,452

368,375
117,021
189,819
36,701
701,067
18,153
575,983
177,363
76,256
2,260,738
225,797
23,002

27,764,400

23,790,400

23,185,991

(604,409)

21,867,605

3,022,100
1,343,200
1,300,500
7,725,000
9,184,300
1,411,200
673,400
2,056,499
26,716,199

2,986,261
1,343,200
1,333,339
7,739,000
9,545,300
1,574,200
673,400
2,337,599
27,532,299

3,086,450
1,342,301
1,401,061
8,114,751
3,925,751
1,298,489
664,139
251,578
20,084,520

(100,189)
899
(67,722)
(375,751)
5,619,549
275,711
9,261
2,086,021
7,447,779

2,697,736
1,395,709
8,808,192
2,677,808
2,598,816
467,405
2,131,575
20,777,241

3,101,471

(8,052,188)

1,090,364

(3,741,899)

12,000
(2,413,499)
25,000
(2,376,499)

12,000
(2,413,499)
25,000
(2,376,499)

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES
AND OTHER FINANCING (USES)

(1,328,298)

(6,118,398)

$

5,387,621
1,011,980
8,689,138
1,215,917
1,091,728
582,371
98,977
495,121
18,572,853
10,548

53,900
53,900

1,048,201

FUND BALANCES:
Beginning of year
End of year

$

2017
Actual

53,900
53,900

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Proceeds from sale of assets
Transfers out
Transfers in
Total other financing sources (uses)

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

2018
Actual

8,360,235
7,031,937

$

8,360,235
2,241,837

107,547
(704,140)
262,140
(334,453)

95,547
1,709,359
237,140
2,042,046

2,767,018

$

8,360,235
11,127,253

30,200
(90,904)
(60,704)

(6,010,142)

$

(6,010,142)

1,029,660

$

7,330,575
8,360,235

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Expenditures by Department - Budgetary Level of Control - Budget and Actual
General Fund
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative actual amounts for the year ended June 30, 2017)
Original
Budget
General government:
Mayor and council
Legal services
Town administration
Administrative services
Marin General Services Authority
Marin LAFCO
Property tax collection services
Other post retirement benefits
Non-departmental
Total general government
Pension liability:
CalPERS unfunded liability
Pension stabilization trust
Total pension liability
Community development:
Planning
Building regulation
Code enforcement
CM Chamber of Commerce
Marin Housing Authority
4th of July Program
Total community development
Public safety:
Fire Department
Central Marin Police Authority
Disaster preparedness
Animal control services
Marin Emergency Radio Authority
Marin Telecommunications Agency
Total public safety
Public works:
Engineering and public works administration
Flood control and storm drainage
Street maintenance
Transportation Authority of Marin
NPDES
Total public works
Culture and leisure:
Recreation department
Parks and beautification
Total culture and leisure
Debt service:
Police Facility Land
Park Madera Center
Total debt service
Capital Outlay
Equipment replacement
Street impact fees
Park and recreation capital fees
Transfer to capital improvement fund
Transfer to equipment fund
Sales tax override
Total Capital Outlay
Total expenditures

$

$

119,200
135,000
572,300
969,700
9,000
15,000
985,000
216,900
3,022,100

Amended
Budget
$

119,200
135,000
572,300
969,700
9,000
15,000
985,000
181,061
2,986,261

2018
Actual
$

88,234
284,517
610,463
940,257
6,789
12,374
1,008,320
135,496
3,086,450

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)
$

30,966
(149,517)
(38,163)
29,443
2,211
2,626
(23,320)
45,565
(100,189)

2017
Actual
$

976,600
366,600
1,343,200

976,600
366,600
1,343,200

976,301
366,000
1,342,301

1,061,300
210,000
21,000
8,200
1,300,500

1,061,300
32,839
210,000
21,000
8,200
1,333,339

1,130,341
32,839
201,966
18,507
17,408
1,401,061

(69,041)
8,034
2,493
(9,208)
(67,722)

650,875
493,118
19,942
200,565
19,209
12,000
1,395,709

4,103,200
3,377,400
63,600
88,000
64,800
28,000
7,725,000

4,117,200
3,377,400
63,600
88,000
64,800
28,000
7,739,000

4,486,447
3,443,717
30,801
89,366
38,447
25,973
8,114,751

(369,247)
(66,317)
32,799
(1,366)
26,353
2,027
(375,751)

5,511,133
3,101,400
22,830
86,507
63,564
22,758
8,808,192

5,899,800
150,000
3,113,500
21,000
9,184,300

6,260,800
150,000
3,113,500
21,000
9,545,300

1,637,718
11,445
2,256,913
19,675
3,925,751

4,623,082
138,555
856,587
1,325
5,619,549

671,819
794,129
1,102,625
19,675
89,560
2,677,808

1,386,200
25,000
1,411,200

1,549,200
25,000
1,574,200

1,275,976
22,513
1,298,489

273,224
2,487
275,711

1,349,549
1,249,267
2,598,816

673,400
673,400

673,400
673,400

664,139
664,139

9,261
9,261

79,413
387,992
467,405

98,400
20,000
71,700
1,866,399
2,056,499

98,400
301,100
71,700
1,866,399
2,337,599

75,512
176,066
251,578

22,888
125,034
71,700
1,866,399
2,086,021

134,083
846,010
69,846
1,081,636
2,131,575

25,372,999

$

26,189,099

$

20,084,520

299
600
899

122,122
136,376
587,815
817,316
6,984
13,741
67,873
945,509
2,697,736

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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6,104,579

-

$

20,777,241
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for June 30, 2017)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Sanitary
District

Totals

Age-Friendly
Corte Madera

2018

2017

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and investments
Cash and investments with trustee/fiscal agent
Accounts receivable
Deposits
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
Property, plant, and equipment, net
Other assets:
Due from Sausalito Street #27 Assessment District
Investments in certificates of deposit
Total other assets
Total assets

$ 10,600,465
115,222
10,715,687
35,823,998
(20,135,546)
15,688,452

$

38,201
38,201

8,153
8,153
-

$ 10,608,618
115,222
10,723,840
35,823,998
(20,135,546)
15,688,452

-

38,201
38,201

38,201
463,968
502,169

$ 26,450,493

$ 24,574,955

$

$

$ 26,442,340

$

8,153

$

$

-

$

7,952,288
36,835
7,989,123
35,019,131
(18,935,468)
16,083,663

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities

139,325
139,325

Noncurrent liabilities:
Liability for claims - non-current
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities and net position
Reconciliation to government-wide statement of net position:
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service
fund activities related to enterprise funds
Net position of business-type activities

744,058
744,058

-

-

-

-

139,325

-

139,325

744,058

15,688,452
10,614,563
26,303,015

8,153
8,153

15,688,452
10,622,716
26,311,168

16,083,663
7,747,234
23,830,897

Total liabilities
Net Position:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Unrestricted
Total net position

139,325
139,325

$ 26,442,340

$

8,153

$ 26,450,493

$ 24,574,955

$
(63,517)
$ 26,239,498

$
$

8,153

$
(63,517)
$ 26,247,651

$
(80,528)
$ 23,750,369
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Governmental Activities Internal Service Funds
Totals
2018

$

2017

540,563
10,000
30,000
580,563
-

$

-

517,978
10,000
527,978
-

$

580,563

$

527,978

$

17,448
17,448

$

7,665
7,665

$

500,420
500,420

630,000
630,000

517,868

637,665

62,695
62,695

(109,687)
(109,687)

580,563

$

527,978
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2017)
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Sanitary
District
OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for services:
Sewer service charges
Other service charges
Rents
Donations
Insurance cost allocation

2,938,979
7,545
2,946,524

Total operating revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Sewage administration and general
Sewage collection - maintenance
Sewage collection - pump station maintenance
Sewage treatment and disposal
Depreciation and amortization expense
Insurance expenses
Park Madera
Age-Friendly Corte Madera
Total operating expenses
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Property taxes
Homeowners' property tax relief
Investment income
P.G.&E. force main replacement
Total non-operating revenues (expenses), net
NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE OPERATING TRANSFERS
AND CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Connection fees
Transfers in (out)

Totals

Age-Friendly
Corte Madera

$

1,000
1,000

2018

$

2,938,979
7,545
1,000
2,947,524

2017

$

3,020,262
25,400
128,898
300
3,174,860

93,332
1,254,976
339,844
989,578
1,200,078
3,877,808

5,998
5,998

93,332
1,254,976
339,844
989,578
1,200,078
5,998
3,883,806

583,295
1,030,889
420,488
1,442,747
1,251,779
128,898
986
4,859,082

(931,284)

(4,998)

(936,282)

(1,684,222)

3,192,487
14,747
98,492
129,900
3,435,626

-

3,192,487
14,747
98,492
129,900
3,435,626

3,058,803
14,651
51,815
321,224
3,446,493

2,504,342

(4,998)

2,499,344

1,762,271

18,927
(38,000)

-

18,927
(38,000)

44,163
-

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

2,485,269

(4,998)

2,480,271

1,806,434

NET POSITION (DEFICIT):
Beginning of year

23,817,746

13,151

23,830,897

22,024,463

End of year

$

26,303,015

$

8,153

$

26,311,168

$

23,830,897

Reconciliation to government-wide statement of net assets:
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service
fund activities related to enterprise funds
Net assets (deficit) of business-type activities - End of year

$

(63,517)
26,239,498

$

8,153

$

(63,517)
26,247,651

$

(80,528)
23,750,369

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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Governmental Activities Internal Service Funds
Totals
2018

$

$

2017

480,000
480,000

$

561,000
561,000

309,902
309,902

517,390
517,390

170,098

43,610

2,284
2,284

2,682
2,682

172,382

46,292

-

-

172,382

46,292

(109,687)

(155,979)

62,695

$

(109,687)
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative amounts for the year ended June 30, 2017)

Sanitary
District
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from interfund services provided
Cash receipts from customers
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services
Cash payments to employees for services
Cash payments for loss claims

$

Net cash used by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Transfers received (paid)
Insurance proceeds receivable
Property taxes and apportioned amounts
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Transfers out to Town
Connection fees
Net cash (used) by capital and related financing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of investments in certificates of deposits
Investment income received
Net cash provided by investing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of year
End of year
Presentation in Statement of Net Position:
Cash and investments
Cash and investments with trustee/fiscal agent
Total cash and investments
Reconciliation of income (loss) from operations to net
cash used by operating activities:
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation
(Increase) decrease in current assets:
Accounts receivable
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Liability for claims
P. G. & E. force main replacement
Other change in assets

2,998,037
(3,282,463)
(284,426)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Totals
Age-Friendly
Corte Madera
2018
$

$

2,999,037
(3,288,461)
(289,424)

$

3,174,719
(2,416,378)
(338,251)
420,090

3,207,234
3,207,234

-

3,207,234
3,207,234

3,073,454
3,073,454

(804,867)
(38,000)
18,927
(823,940)

-

(804,867)
(38,000)
18,927
(823,940)

(3,100,679)
44,163
(3,056,516)

463,968
98,492
562,460

-

463,968
98,492
562,460

30,730
51,815
82,545

2,661,328

(4,998)

2,656,330

519,573

7,939,137

13,151

7,952,288

7,432,715

$

10,600,465

$

8,153

$ 10,608,618

$

7,952,288

$

$
$

8,153
8,153

$ 10,608,618
$ 10,608,618

$

$

10,600,465
10,600,465

$

7,952,288
7,952,288

$

(931,284)

$

(4,998)

$

$

(1,684,222)

1,200,078

$

Net cash used by operating activities

1,000
(5,998)
(4,998)

2017

-

(936,282)

1,200,078

1,251,779

(78,387)

-

(78,387)

(141)

(604,733)
129,900

-

(604,733)
129,900

531,450
321,224
-

(284,426)

$

(4,998)

$

(289,424)

$

420,090
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Governmental Activities Internal Service Funds
Totals

2018
$

2017

480,000
(557,945)
98,246
20,301

$

561,000
(99,491)
(443,303)
18,206

-

-

-

-

2,284
2,284

2,682
2,682

22,585

20,888

527,978

507,090

$

550,563

$

527,978

$

$

$

540,563
10,000
550,563

$

517,978
10,000
527,978

$

170,098

$

43,610

$

-

-

(30,000)

-

9,783
(129,580)
-

(26,404)
1,000
-

20,301

$

18,206
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Assets and Liabilities
Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for June 30, 2017)

Agency Funds
2018

2017

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Accounts receivable

$

259,430
40,388

$

575,401
192,786

Total assets

$

299,818

$

768,187

Other liabilities
Due to bond holders

$

299,818

$

520,425
247,762

Total liabilities

$

299,818

$

768,187

LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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Town of Corte Madera, California
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Financial Reporting Entity
The financial reporting entity consists of (a) the primary government, the Town of Corte Madera
(Town), (b) organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable, and (c) other
organizations for which the primary government is not accountable, but for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the
reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.
Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary
government are financially accountable. In addition, component units can be other organizations for
which the primary government is accountable and their exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s
financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.
The Town Council acts as the governing body and is able to impose its will on the following
organization, establishing financial accountability. As a result, this organization is considered a
component unit of the Town and is included within the financial statements of the Town using the
blended method.
Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County, a Subsidiary District to the Town of Corte Madera
The Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County (District) came into existence by historical necessity
because the Town was not yet organized and therefore could not correct cesspools and raw sewage
flows that were becoming commonplace at the beginning of the 20th century. The District was
incorporated on January 21, 1901, approximately 15½ years prior to the Town’s incorporation on June
10, 1916. Although legally separate, the Town and District operated in conjunction with each other
including sharing equipment, office space, and meeting facilities.
Due to a change in the Municipal Organization Act, the Town was able to legally absorb the District.
The District was re-incorporated as a subsidiary district to the Town on January 15, 1969. The Town
Council became the Town Council/District Board of Directors. On April 1, 1969, the District ceased
being an employer and its former employees were absorbed by the Town. Subsequently, the State
Controller’s Office requested that the merger be formalized with a Joint Powers Agreement. Town
Resolution 1510 and District Resolution No. 9-73, both of which consummated the Joint Powers
Agreement, were adopted by the Town Council/District Board of Directors on September 17, 1973.
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Town of Corte Madera, California
Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Continued
For the year ended June 30, 2018

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County, Continued
Although the District is no longer independent, it does have a legal existence separate and apart from
the Town. Currently, the boundaries of the Town and District are essentially contiguous, with three
principal exceptions. Portions of the Tiburon Peninsula served by the District are either in the
incorporated limits of the Town of Tiburon or in the unincorporated sphere of influence of the Town of
Tiburon. That portion of Greenbrae to the east of Highway 101 and south of Corte Madera Creek
served by the District is either in the incorporated limits of the City of Larkspur or in the
unincorporated sphere of influence of the Town of Corte Madera. A residential area known as Palm
Hill in the City of Larkspur features a boundary with the District that is dependent on gravity flow into
the District. There are several smaller exceptions such as East Lucky Drive, which is in the
unincorporated sphere of influence of the Town of Corte Madera. The District provides sewage
collection services and has approximately 45 miles of gravity sewers, 19 pump stations, and 4 miles of
force mains. The District is presented as a business-type activity and an enterprise fund under the
category of proprietary fund types in the fund based financial statements.
The District is a member of the Central Marin Sanitation Agency (Agency), established on October 15,
1979, which is a joint powers agency administered by its own board, separate from the Town
Council/District Board of Directors. Financial information of this agency is not included in the
accompanying basic financial statements except for the operating expenses included as sewage
collection-pump station maintenance, the “FOG” (Fats, Oils & Grease) source control program, and
sewage treatment and disposal, which are expenses reimbursed by the District to the Agency. The
District contracts under the Joint Powers Agreement with the Agency for Agency personnel to provide
all engineering, management, and operational services for the treatment and disposal of wastewater. By
a separate contractual agreement, Agency personnel provide for sewage collection pump station
maintenance and the FOG source control program (inspection and enforcement) as part of the District’s
sewer system management plan as mandated by the State.
Town personnel provide all engineering, management and operational services to the wastewater
collection system, exclusive of management and operational services for sewage collection pump
station maintenance. In excess of 80% of the funding of the Agency’s sewage facilities were funded by
Federal and State sources, with the remainder of the funding by the participants. The District provides
one of the six members of the governing board of the Agency. The operating agreement provides that
members (including the District) are not obligated for the debts, liabilities, or obligations of the
Agency. Pursuant to GASB Statements 14 and 39 regarding “The Financial Reporting Entity”, the
Agency operating arrangement has been categorized as a “jointly governed organization.”
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Town of Corte Madera, California
Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Continued
For the year ended June 30, 2018

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County, Continued
From its incorporation on January 21, 1901, through June 30, 1978, the District financed its operations
entirely from property taxes. On June 6, 1978, the electorate in California enacted Proposition 13,
which became effective July 1, 1978. The immediate short-term effect of this constitutional
amendment was a substantial reduction in local property taxes. As a direct result, the Town
Council/District Board of Directors enacted Ordinance No. 17 establishing a system of sewer user
service charges. The Town Council/District Board of Directors’ intent was to finance the District to the
greatest extent possible from property taxes. Nevertheless, an increasing amount by necessity has been
shifted to user charges. For the year ended June 30, 2018, user charges approximated 46% of operating
and non-operating revenues, not including interest income.
The District’s financial results are represented as an enterprise fund in recognition of the increasing
dependence on user charges. Detailed financial statements are available for the District from the
Town’s Finance Department.
At June 30, 2018, the Town, under its own name, was a member of many other joint powers agencies
and programs of government by agreements which are also administered by their own governing
bodies separate from the Corte Madera Town Council.
Financial information for these agencies and programs is not included in the accompanying basic
financial statements except for amounts paid to the various agencies to finance the functions
performed.
The criteria used in determining the scope of the reporting entity are based on the provisions of GASB
Statement No. 39. The Town is the primary government unit. Component units are those entities which
are financially accountable to the primary government, either because the Town appoints a voting
majority of the component units’ board, or because the component unit will provide a financial benefit
or impose a financial burden on the Town.
Basis of Presentation
Government-Wide Financial Statements
The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds and
internal service funds. The statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities.
Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other
nonexchange revenues. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to
external parties for goods or services.
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Town of Corte Madera, California
Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Continued
For the year ended June 30, 2018

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Fund Financial Statements
Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds each of which is considered
to be a separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of selfbalancing accounts, which constitute its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and
expenditures/expenses. Funds are organized into three major categories: governmental, proprietary,
and fiduciary. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary
categories. A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the Town or meets the
following criteria:
a. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that individual
governmental or enterprise fund are at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all
funds of that category or type; and,
b. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of the individual
governmental fund or enterprise fund are at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for
all governmental and enterprise funds combined.
The funds of the financial reporting entity are described below:
Governmental Activities
General Fund
The General Fund is used to account for resources traditionally associated with the Town which are
not required legally or by sound financial management to be accounted for in another fund. From this
fund are paid the Town’s general operating expenditures, the fixed charges, and the capital costs that
are not paid through other funds.
Special Revenue Funds
The Special Revenue Funds are used to account for specific revenues that are legally or otherwise
restricted to expenditures for particular purposes.
Capital Project Funds
The Capital Projects Funds are used to account for the acquisition and construction of major capital
facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds.
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Town of Corte Madera, California
Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Continued
For the year ended June 30, 2018

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Business-type Activities
Proprietary Funds
Enterprise Funds
The Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner
similar to private business enterprises – where the intent of the Town Council is that the costs of
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered
primarily through user charges or where the Town Council has decided that periodic determination of
net income is appropriate for accountability purposes.
Internal Service Funds
The Internal Service Funds are used to account for financing of goods or services provided by one
department or agency to other departments or agencies of the Town, or to other governments, on a
cost-reimbursement basis. These funds are eliminated as part of the reconciliation process and treated
as governmental activities, since these are the primary funds served. The percentage contribution by
function to these funds was as follows:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Culture and leisure

18%
32%
20%
30%

Business-type activities:
Sanitary District

10%

Fiduciary Funds
Agency Funds
Agency Funds account for assets held by the Town in a purely custodial capacity. The reporting entity
includes seven agency funds. Since agency funds are custodial in nature, (i.e. assets equal liabilities),
they do not involve the measurement of results of operations.
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Town of Corte Madera, California
Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Continued
June 30, 2018

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Major and Nonmajor Funds
The funds are further classified as major or nonmajor as follows:
Fund Type
Major:
General

Brief Description
Primary operating fund of the Town; accounts for all activities
except those legally or administratively required to be accounted for
in other funds.

Non-Major:
Capital Projects Funds:
Capital Maintenance Funds:
Gas Taxes
Accounts for gas tax funds expended for street maintenance projects.
Special Storm Drainage Tax Accounts for funds collected and expended on the storm drainage
capital projects.
Capital Improvement Funds:
Capital Improvement Fund Accounts for funds expended on capital improvement projects and
transportation related projects
Traffic Improvement
Accounts for funds expended on traffic improvement projects
Village Traffic
Accounts for funds expended on Village traffic improvement
Improvement
projects.
Affordable Housing
Accounts for funds expended on affordable housing projects.
Marin Parks Measure A
Accounts for funds expended on parks and recreation projects from
voter – approved county-wide sales tax override.
Westside Park – in – Lieu
Accounts for funds collected in West Corte Madera for parks and
recreation projects to be spent on such projects in West Corte Madera
TAM Ridge Traffic
Improvement
Accounts for funds expended on TAM Ridge traffic improvement
projects.
Traffic Congestion Relief
Loan repayment for traffic congestion relief projects.
Repayment
SB1 Road Maintenance
To address deferred maintenance on local street and road system, and
for basic road maintenance, rehabilitation and critical safety
programs.
New, Closed, and Combined Funds
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the special revenue funds Traffic Safety and Disability
Access were closed; the Gas Tax 2107, 2107.5 and Gas Tax 2103, 2105, 2106 were combined into a
Capital Project fund; the TAM Sales Tax Override and Capital Improvement were combined into a
Capital Project fund; and the Traffic Congestion Relief Repayment fund and the SB1 Road
Maintenance Capital Project funds were opened.
44
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Town of Corte Madera, California
Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Continued
June 30, 2018

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Measurement Focus
Measurement focus is a term used to describe “which” transactions are recorded within the various
financial statements.
On the government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, both governmental
and business-like activities are presented using the “economic resources” measurement focus as
defined in item b. below.
In the fund financial statements, the “current financial resources” measurement focus or the “economic
resources” measurement focus is used as appropriate:
a. All governmental funds utilize a “current financial resources” measurement focus. Only
current financial assets and liabilities are generally included on their balance sheets.
Their operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable financial
resources during a given period. These funds use fund balance as their measure of
available spendable financial resources at the end of the period.
b. The enterprise and internal service funds utilize an “economic resources” measurement
focus. The accounting objectives of this measurement focus are the determination of net
income, financial position, and cash flows. All assets and liabilities (whether current or
noncurrent) associated with their activities are reported. Enterprise and internal service
fund equity is classified as net position.
c. Agency funds are not involved in the measurement of results of operations; therefore,
measurement focus is not applicable to them.
Basis of Accounting
In the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities both governmental and
business-type activities are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is
incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting
from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place.
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods,
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than program
revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.
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Town of Corte Madera, California
Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Continued
June 30, 2018

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Basis of Accounting, Continued
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds and agency funds are presented on the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized
when “measurable and available.” Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the
amount. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay current
liabilities. Expenditures (including capital outlay) are recorded when the related fund liability is
incurred.
The enterprise and internal service funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability
is incurred or economic asset used. Operating revenues in the proprietary fund are those revenues that
are generated from the primary operations of the fund. All other revenues are reported as nonoperating revenues. Operating expenses are those expenses that are essential to the primary operations
of the fund. All other expenses are reported as non-operating expenses.
Private sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989,
generally are followed in both the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the
extent that those standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board. Governments also have the option of following subsequent private-sector guidance
for their business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to the same limitation. The Town has
elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance.
Assets, Liabilities, and Equity
Cash and Investments
The Town pools cash and investments from all funds for the purpose of increasing income through
investment activities. Highly liquid money market investments with maturities of one year or less at
time of purchase are stated at amortized cost. All other investments are stated at fair value in
accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain
Investments and for External Investment Pools. Market value is used as fair value for those securities
for which market quotations are readily available.
The Town indirectly participates in an investment pool managed by the State of California titled Local
Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) which has invested a portion of the pool funds in Structured Notes
and Asset-Backed Securities. LAIF's investments are subject to credit risk with the full faith and credit
of the State of California collateralizing these investments. In addition, these Structured Notes and
Asset-Backed Securities are subject to market risk as to changes in interest rates.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Investments
Investments are carried at fair value. Fair value is based on quoted market price, if applicable,
otherwise the fair value hierarchy is as follows.
Level 1 – Values are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date.
Level 2 – Inputs – other than quoted prices – included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 – Certain inputs are unobservable inputs (supported by little or no market activity),
such as the Town’s best estimate of what hypothetical market participants would use to
determine a transaction price for the asset or liability at the reporting date.
Additional cash and investment disclosures are presented in Note 2. All of the Town’s investments are
considered Level 1.
Interfund Receivables and Payables
During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds that may result
in amounts owed between funds. Those related to goods and services type transactions are classified as
“due to and from other funds.” Short-term interfund loans are reported as “interfund receivables and
payables.” Long-term interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as “advances from and to other
funds.” Interfund receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are
eliminated in the Statement of Net Position. See Note 11 for details of interfund transactions, including
receivables and payables at year-end.
Receivables
In the government-wide statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and not yet
received. Allowances of uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and the
periodic aging of accounts receivable. Major receivable balances for the governmental activities
include property taxes, sales and use taxes, transient taxes, franchise taxes, intergovernmental
subventions and grants, ambulance fees, and expense reimbursements.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Receivables, Continued
Business-type activities report property taxes and sewer user service charges as major receivables. See
Note 3 for additional disclosures. In the fund financial statements, material receivables in
governmental funds include revenue accruals such as property tax, sales tax, transient tax, franchise
tax, and intergovernmental subventions since they are usually both measurable and available. Nonexchange transactions collectible but not available are deferred in the fund financial statements in
accordance with the modified accrual basis, but not deferred in the government-wide financial
statements in accordance with the accrual basis. Interest and investment earnings are recorded when
earned only if paid within 60 days since they would be considered both measurable and available.
Proprietary fund material receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and not yet received.
Intergovernmental accounts receivable comprise the majority of proprietary fund receivables. The
Town’s experience is that all accounts receivable are collectible; therefore an allowance for doubtful
accounts is unnecessary.
Inventories
The cost of other consumable materials and supplies on hand are immaterial to the financial
statements, and the Town has therefore chosen to report these items as expenditures/expenses at the
time of purchase.
Capital Assets
The accounting treatment of property, plant and equipment (capital assets) depends on whether the
assets are used in governmental fund operations or proprietary fund operations and whether they are
reported in the government-wide or fund financial statements.
Government-Wide Statements
In the government-wide financial statements, fixed assets are accounted for as capital assets. All fixed
assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual is unavailable, except for
donated fixed assets which are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation.
Prior to July 1, 2003, governmental funds’ infrastructure assets were not capitalized. These assets
(back to July 1, 1980) have been valued at estimated historical cost.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Capital Assets, Continued
Government-Wide Statements
Depreciation of all exhaustible fixed assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the Statement of
Activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the Statement of Net Position. Depreciation is
provided over the assets’ estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation. The
range of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows:
Infrastructure
Government buildings and structures
Equipment and furnishings
Sanitary District

10 – 50 years
10 – 40 years
5 – 10 years
5 – 40 years

Fund Financial Statements
In the fund financial statements, fixed assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for
as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Fixed assets used in
proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the government-wide statements.
Long-Term Obligations
The accounting treatment of long-term obligations depends on whether the assets are used in
governmental fund operations or proprietary fund operations and whether they are reported in the
government-wide or fund financial statements.
All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported as
liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations consist of a lease purchase,
2016 Certificates of Participation (COP), the long-term portion of the compensated absence obligation,
the net OPEB obligation, the net pension liability and a liability for claims.
Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. Debt proceeds are reported as revenue and payment of principal and interest reported as
expenditures. The accounting treatment of long-term obligations for proprietary funds is the same in
the fund statements as it is in the government-wide statements.
Compensated Absences
The Town’s policies regarding vacation time and compensatory time permit employees to accumulate
earned but unused leave. The current portion of this debt is estimated based on historical trend and
reported in the General Fund.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Pensions
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (NPL) and deferred outflows/inflows of resources
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position (FNP) of the
Town’s California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plans (Plans) and additions
to/deductions from the Plans’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they
are reported by CalPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments
are reported at fair value. CalPERS’ audited financial statements are publicly available reports that can
be obtained at CalPERS’ website under Forms and Publications.
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Town’s plan (OPEB Plan) and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when
currently due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments, if any, are reported at
fair value.
Generally accepted accounting principles require that the reported results must pertain to liability and
asset information within certain defined timeframes. For this report, the following timeframes are
used:
Valuation date
Measurement Date
Measurement Period

July 1, 2017
June 29, 2018
July 1, 2017 – June 30, 2018

Equity Classification
Government-Wide Statements
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:
a. Invested in capital assets, net of related debt – consists of capital assets, including restricted
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of
any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of those assets.
b. Restricted net position – consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by
1) external groups, such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments; or 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
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c. Unrestricted net position – all other net position that do not meet the definition of
“restricted” or “invested in capital assets, net of related debt.”
When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net assets are
available, the Town’s policy is to apply the restricted resources first.
Fund Financial Statements
Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is classified as nonspendable,
restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned. Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the
government-wide statements. The classifications for governmental funds are defined as follows:

This space intentionally left blank.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Equity Classification, Continued
Fund Financial Statements, continued
Nonspendable Fund Balance –




Assets that will never convert to cash (prepaid items, inventory)
Assets that will not convert to cash soon enough to affect the current period
(long-term notes or loans receivable)
Resources that must be maintained intact pursuant to legal or contractual
requirements (the principal of an endowment)

Restricted Fund Balance –



Resources that are subject to externally enforceable legal restrictions imposed
by parties altogether outside the government (Creditors, Grantors, Contributors
and Other Governments).
Resources that are subject to limitations imposed by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation (Gas Tax).

Committed Fund Balance –



Self imposed limitations set in place prior to the end of the period.
(Encumbrances, economic contingencies and uncertainties)
Limitation at the highest level of decision-making (Town Council) that requires
formal action at the same level to remove.

Assigned Fund Balance –


Amounts in excess of nonspendable, restricted, and committed fund balance in
funds other than the general fund automatically are reported as assigned fund
balance.

Unassigned Fund Balance –




Residual net resources.
Total fund balance in the general fund in excess of nonspendable, restricted,
committed and assigned fund balance (surplus).
Excess of nonspendable, restricted, and committed fund balance over total fund
balance (deficit).
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Revenues, Expenditures, and Expenses
Property Tax
Under California law, property taxes are assessed and collected by the counties up to 1% of assessed
value, plus other increases approved by the voters. The property taxes go into a pool, and are then
allocated to the cities based on complex formulas. Accordingly, the Town accrues only those taxes
which are receivable from the county within sixty days after year end.
Lien Date
Levy Date
Delinquent Date

March 1
July 1
December 10 and April 10

Property taxes attach annually as an enforceable lien as of March 1. Taxes are levied on July 1, are
payable in two installments, and are delinquent at December 10 and April 10. All general property
taxes are then allocated by the County of Marin Department of Finance to the various taxing entities in
accordance with Proposition 13. Property tax revenues are recognized when levied to the extent that
they are measurable and that they will be received in 60 days. Since the County utilizes the Teeter
system of allocation, all property tax revenue is allocated to the Town and accounted for as revenue in
the fiscal year that it is levied.
Expenditures/Expenses
In the government-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by function for both
governmental and business-type activities.
In the fund financial statements, expenditures are classified as follows:
Governmental funds – by character
Current (further classified by function)
Debt service
Capital outlay
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expenditures of financial resources.
Interfund Transfers
Resources are reallocated between funds by reporting them as interfund transfers. For the purposes of
the Statement of Activities, all interfund transfers between individual governmental funds have been
eliminated with internal balances (between governmental and business-type activities due to internal
service fund eliminations) remaining on the Statement of Net Position. This is the amount remaining
from the use of internal service fund services by the funds comprising business-type activities, which
amounted to $(63,517) at June 30, 2018. These balances are carried forward each fiscal year as the
activities are recorded by the internal service fund. See Notes 9 and 10 for details.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued
Budgetary Policies
The Town follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial
statements:
1. Public meetings are conducted to obtain public comments. The Town Council adopts the
budget(s) for the ensuing fiscal year(s) prior to July 1st.
2. Legally adopted budgets and formal budgetary integration is employed as a management
control device during the year for all Governmental and Proprietary Fund Types.
3. Budgets for the General, Special Revenue, and Capital Projects Funds are adopted on a basis
consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP).
4. Under Article XIII B of the California Constitution (the Gann Spending Limitation
Initiative), the Town is restricted as to the amount of annual appropriations from the
proceeds of taxes, and if proceeds of taxes exceed allowed appropriations, the excess must
either be refunded to the State Controller, returned to the taxpayers through revised tax rates
or revised fees schedules, or an excess in one year may be offset against a deficit in the
following year. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, based on the calculations by Town
Management, proceeds of taxes did not exceed the appropriations limit.
5. Budgeted revenue and expenditure amounts represent the original budget modified by
adjustments authorized during the year.
6. Appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year and then are rebudgeted for the coming
year.
7. Budgeted appropriations for the various governmental funds become effective each July 1.
The Town Council may amend the budget during the fiscal year. The legal level of budgetary
control has been established at the fund level.
New Accounting Pronouncements
The following Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements have been implemented in th
current financial statements:


GASB Statement No. 75 – “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions”
This Statement, issued in June of 2015, replaces the requirements of Statements No. 45,
Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
54

208

Town of Corte Madera, California
Notes to Basic Financial Statements, Continued
June 30, 2018

Pensions, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent
Multiple-Employer Plans, for OPEB. Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, establishes new accounting and
financial reporting requirements for OPEB plans.
The consistency, comparability, and transparency of the information reported by employers and
governmental non-employer contributing entities about OPEB transactions will be improved by
requiring:





The use of a discount rate that considers the availability of the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net
position associated with the OPEB of current active and inactive employees and the
investment horizon of those resources, rather than utilizing only the long-term expected rate
of return regardless of whether the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is projected to be
sufficient to make projected benefit payments and is expected to be invested using a
strategy to achieve that return.
A single method of attributing the actuarial present value of projected benefit payments to
periods of employee service, rather than allowing a choice among six methods with
additional variations.
Immediate recognition in OPEB expense, rather than a choice of recognition periods, of the
effects of changes of benefit terms.

This Statement will improve the decision-usefulness of information in employer and
governmental non-employer contributing entity financial reports and will enhance its value for
assessing accountability and inter-period equity by requiring recognition of the entire OPEB
liability and a more comprehensive measure of OPEB expense. Decision-usefulness and
accountability also will be enhanced through new note disclosures and required supplementary
information, as follows:







More robust disclosures of assumptions will allow for better informed assessments of the
reasonableness of OPEB measurements.
Explanations of how and why the OPEB liability changed from year to year will improve
transparency.
The summary OPEB liability information, including ratios, will offer an indication of the
extent to which the total liability is covered by resources held by the OPEB plan, if any.
For employers that provide benefits through OPEB plans that are administered through
trusts that meet the specified criteria, the contribution schedules will provide measures to
evaluate decisions related to contributions.

GASB Statement No. 85 – “Omnibus 2017”

The objective of this Statement is to address practice issues that have been identified during
implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. This Statement addresses a variety of
topics including issues related to blending component units, goodwill, fair value measurement and
application, and postemployment benefits (pensions and other postemployment benefits [OPEB]).
55
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The requirements of this Statement will enhance consistency in the application of accounting and
financial reporting requirements. Consistent reporting will improve the usefulness of information
for users of state and local government financial statements.
Future Accounting Pronouncements
The following Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements are effective in future years
subsequent to the current financial reporting period:


GASB Statement No. 83 – “Certain Asset Retirement Obligations”
This Statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement
obligations (AROs). An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated with the retirement of
a tangible capital asset. A government that has legal obligations to perform future asset
retirement activities related to its tangible capital assets should recognize a liability based on
the guidance in this Statement.
The objective of this Statement is to improve comparability of financial statements among
governments by establishing uniform criteria for governments to recognize and measure certain
AROs, including obligations that may not have been previously reported. This statement will
enhance the decision-usefulness of the information provided to financial statement users by
requiring disclosures related to those AROs.
The Town is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2019 (effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2018). The Town has not yet
determined the impact of this Statement of the financial statements.



GASB Statement No. 84 – “Fiduciary Activities”
The objective of this Statement is to improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary
activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities should be
reported. This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and
local governments. The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is
controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary
relationship exists. Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component units and
postemployment benefit arrangements that are fiduciary activities.
The requirements of this Statement will enhance consistency and comparability by (1)
establishing specific criteria for identifying activities that should be reported as fiduciary
activities and (2) clarifying whether and how business-type activities should report their
fiduciary activities. Greater consistency and comparability enhances the value provided by the
information reported in financial statements for assessing government accountability and
stewardship.
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The Town is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2020 (effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2018). This Statement may
result in a change in current practice, and have a material effect on the financial statements of
the Town.


GASB Statement No. 87 – “Leases”
The objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement
users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. This
Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring
recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as
operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the
payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on
the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset.
Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible rightto-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow
of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about
governments’ leasing activities.
This Statement will increase the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring
reporting of certain lease liabilities that currently are not reported. It will enhance
comparability of financial statements among governments by requiring lessees and lessors to
report leases under a single model. This Statement also will enhance the decision-usefulness of
the information provided to financial statement users by requiring notes to financial statements
related to the timing, significance, and purpose of a government’s leasing arrangements.
The Town is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2021 (effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2019). The Town has not yet
determined the impact of this Statement of the financial statements.



GASB Statement No. 88 – “Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings
and Direct Placements”
The objective of this Statement is to improve the information that is disclosed in notes to
government financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct
placements. It also clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing
information related to debt. This Statement defines debt for purposes of disclosure in notes to
financial statements as a liability that arises from a contractual obligation to pay cash (or other
assets that may be used in lieu of cash) in one or more payments to settle an amount that is
fixed at the date the contractual obligation is established.
The Town is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2019 (effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2018). The Town has not yet
determined the impact of this Statement of the financial statements.
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GASB Statement No. 89 – “Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a
Construction Period”
The objectives of this Statement are (1) to enhance the relevance and comparability of
information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and (2) to
simplify accounting for interest costs incurred before the end of a construction period. Such
interest cost covered in the scope of this Statement includes all interest that previously was
accounted for in accordance with the requirements of paragraphs 5-22 of Statement No. 62,
Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30,
1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, which are superseded by this Statement.
The Town is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2021 (effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2019). The Town has not yet
determined the impact of this Statement of the financial statements.



GASB Statement No. 90 – “Majority Equity Interests – an amendment of GASB Statements No.
14 and No. 61”
The primary objectives of this Statement are to improve the consistency and comparability of
reporting a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and to
improve the relevance of financial statement information for certain component units. It defines
a majority equity interest and specifies that a majority equity interest in a legally separate
organization should be reported as an investment if a government’s holding of the equity
interest meets the definition of an investment. A majority equity interest that meets the
definition of an investment should be measured using the equity method, unless it is held by a
special-purpose government engaged only in fiduciary activities, a fiduciary fund, or an
endowment (including permanent and term endowments) or permanent fund. Those
governments and funds should measure the majority equity interest at fair value.
The Town is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2020 (effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2018). The Town has not yet
determined the impact of this Statement of the financial statements.
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS
At June 30, 2018, the Town’s pooled cash and investments, classified by maturity, consisted of the following
stated at fair market value:
Maturities (years)
Fair
<1
2 to 3
4 to 5
Deposits
Market Value
Cash equivalents and investments
pooled
Pooled Cash, at fair value
Cash
$
$
$
$2,158,196
$ 2,158,196
Petty Cash
500
500
Cash held by Trustees
10,000
10,000
Total pooled items
2,168,696
2,168,696
Pooled investments, at fair value
State of California Local Agency
Investment Fund
Certificates of deposit
Total pooled investments –
interest obligations
Total cash equivalents and
investments pooled

20,691,170
247,168

732,703

-

-

20,691,170
979,871

20,938,338

732,703

-

-

21,671,041

$20,938,338

$732,703

-

$2,168,696

$ 23,839,737

$

Amounts Reported in:
Governmental activities - Unrestricted (short-term)
Governmental activities - Restricted (Short-term)
Governmental activities - Unrestricted long term investment in CD's
Business-type activities - Unrestricted (short-term)
Business-type activities Restricted (Short-term)
Business-type activities - Unrestricted long term investment in CD's
Fiduciary activities - Agency funds
Total

Investment Type
Local Agency Investment Fund
Certificates of Deposit
Total fair value

Fair Value
$
20,730,000
979,871
$
21,709,871

Portfolio weighted average maturity

$

$

11,981,818
10,000
979,871
10,608,618
259,430
23,839,737

Weighted Average
Maturity (Years)
N/A
2.03

N/A

Amounts shown as restricted for both governmental and business-type activities represent the fiscal
agent accounts of the Workers’ Compensation administration firm ($10,000).
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued
Interest rate risk. In accordance with its investment policy, the Town manages its exposures to
declines in fair values by limiting the weighted average maturity of its investment portfolio to less than
2 years.
Credit risk. As of June 30, 2018, the Town’s investment in the Local Agency Investment Fund was
unrated.
Concentration of credit risk. The Town’s investment policy does not allow for an investment in any
one issuer that is in excess of five percent of the government’s total investments. The investments
made by the Town Treasurer are limited to those allowable under State statutes as incorporated into the
Town’s Investment Policy, which is accepted annually by the Town Council.
Custodial credit risk – deposits. For deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the
Town’s deposits may not be returned to it. The Town currently has no deposit policy for custodial
credit risk. As of June 30, 2018, the Town had $2,004,312 exposed to custodial credit risk because
they exceeded the $250,000 Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s insurance limits. The deposits
subject to custodial credit risk are monies in the two commercial accounts which represent the normal
cash flow of uninvested funds.
Custodial credit risk – investments. For investments, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of
the counterparty, the Town will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral
securities that are in the possession of an outside counterparty. For the investments maintained by the
Town, no security was uninsured or unregistered or held by a brokerage firm which is also the
counterparty for the security.
3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable consisted of the following at June 30, 2018:
Governmental
Business-type
Fiduciary
Activities
Activities
Activities
Taxes
$
2,325,488
$
49,498
$
Fines
Interest
Intergovernmental grants
22,220
Service Charges
61,905
65,724
Assessments
40,388
Expense reimbursements
Total
$
2,409,613
$
115,222
$
40,388
These amounts resulted in the following concentrations in receivables:
Other Governments 75%
Other 25%

60

$

$

Total
2,374,986
22,220
127,629
40,388
2,565,223
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4.

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2018, was as follows:
Balance
June 30, 2017
Governmental activities:
Land
Infrastructure
Structures and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles
Total cost
Less: accumulated
depreciation
Net book value

Retirements

Balance
June 30, 2018

858,424
98,880
178,684
199,034
1,335,022

$ 9,293,286
(9,343,999)
(32,172)
(281,276)
(364,161)

$ 19,440,491
50,821,093
12,326,341
1,372,365
2,662,714
86,623,004

(39,291,073)

-

337

(39,290,736)

$ 46,361,070

$ 1,335,022

(363,824)

$ 47,332,268

Additions

$ 10,147,205
59,306,668
12,227,461
1,225,853
2,744,956
85,652,143

$

$

The Town implemented new financial software effective April 30, 2018. As part of the
implementation, a review of the fixed assets listed on the Town’s books was performed. During the
course of the review, it was discovered that several fully depreciated assets had been disposed of in
previous years but not removed from the Town’s fixed assets listing. This was corrected.
Additionally, the Town implemented a new capital assets policy which changed the useful life of some
items and resulted in the removal of some items from the fixed assets listing.
After calculating the depreciation for the current year and making the changes listed above, the net
result was no depreciation in the 2018-2019 fiscal year.

Business-type activities:
Land
Structures and pump
stations
Vehicles
Equipment
Underground lines
Central Marin Plant
Total cost

Balance
June 30, 2017

Additions

Retirements

Balance
June 30, 2018

$

$

$

$

580,265

-

-

580,265

12,962,737

64,907

-

13,027,644

451,867
45,721
18,554,687
2,423,854
$ 35,019,131

739,960
374,707
$1,179,574

(374,707)
$ (374,707)

451,867
45,721
18,919,940
2,798,561
$ 35,823,998
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS, Continued
Accumulated depreciation for business-type activities was as follows:

Sanitary District:
Structures and pump stations
Vehicles
Equipment
Underground lines
Central Marin Plant
Total
Net book value
Total net book value by category:
Land
Infrastructure
Structures and improvements
Equipment and vehicles

5.

Balance
June 30, 2017

Additions

$ 7,128,856
47,619
42,110
9,747,510
1,969,373
18,935,468
$ 16,083,663

$ 550,318
90,374
1,970
487,453
69,963
1,200,078
$ (395,211)

$

$

$

580,265
8,807,177
6,288,362
407,859
$ 16,083,663

(122,200)
(180,667)
(92,344)
$ (395,211)

Balance
June 30, 2018

Deletions

$

$

-

7,679,174
137,993
44,080
10,234,963
2,039,336
20,135,546
$ 15,688,452

$

-

$

$

-

580,265
8,684,977
6,107,695
315,515
$ 15,688,452

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following at June 30, 2018:
Governmental
Business-type
Activities
Activities
Total
Accounts payable
$
1,180,086
$
139,325
$
1,319,411
Interest payable
330,414
330,414
Accrued payroll
210,862
210,862
Total
$
1,721,362
$
139,325
$
1,860,687
These amounts resulted in the following concentrations in payables:
Vendors
Note holders
Employees

71%
18%
11%
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6. SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICTS
The Town is the collecting agent for bonds outstanding at June 30, 2018, issued by the Old Landing
Road Sewer Assessment District and the Shoreline Parking Facility Assessment District.
Outstanding
June 30, 2018
Old Landing Road Sewer Assessment District $
130,000
Shoreline Parking Facility Assessment District
610,000
Total
$
740,000

Issuance
Date
1995
1996

Issuance
Amount
$
517,297
1,067,000
$
1,584,297

The Town has no direct or contingent liability or moral obligation for the payment of these bonds.
Assets held by the Town on behalf of these districts are recorded in Agency Funds. Accordingly,
these assets and outstanding bond obligations are not presented in the Town’s accompanying Basic
Financial Statements.

7. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
The following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2018:
Balance
Balance
June 30, 2017
Additions
Retirements
June 30, 2018
Governmental activities:
2016 Certificates of Participation
$ 9,285,000 $
$ (360,000) $ 8,925,000
Lease Purchase
696,613
(42,708)
653,905
Compensated Absence
Obligation - LT Portion
240,626
56,805
297,431
Net OPEB obligation
6,206,000
3,316,000
9,522,000
Net pension liability
17,275,610
1,905,379
19,180,989
Liability for claims
630,000
(129,580)
500,420
Total governmental activities
$ 34,333,849 $ 5,278,184 $ (532,288) $ 39,079,745
Government-Wide Totals
$ 34,333,849 $ 5,278,184 $ (532,288) $ 39,079,745

Due within one year
Due after one year
Compensated Absence
Obligation - LT Portion
Net OPEB obligation
Net pension liability
Liability for claims
Totals

$

402,708
9,578,905

$ 410,023
-

$ (402,708)
(410,023)

$

240,626
6,206,000
17,275,610
630,000
$ 34,333,849

56,805
3,316,000
1,905,379
$ 5,688,207

(129,580)
$ (942,311)

297,431
9,522,000
19,180,989
500,420
$ 39,079,745
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7. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued
Governmental Activities

Due within one year
Due after one year
Total

$
$

COP
365,000
8,560,000
8,925,000

Lease
Purchase
$
45,023
608,882
$
653,905

$
$

Total
410,023
9,168,882
9,578,905

The General Fund has been used to liquidate other long-term obligations for governmental activities
(such as the compensated absences obligation) in prior years.
Lease Purchase Agreement – Police Facility Site
On March 17, 2009, the Town Council approved a lease purchase agreement with Zions National Bank to
finance a payment to the Twin Cities Police Authority for the Town’s portion of the acquisition of the
new Police Facility site. The Town used the Corporation Yard as collateral for this lease/purchase. Lease
payments began on September 20, 2009 at the rate of 5.35% per annum and end on March 20, 2029.
Lease payments owed by the Town are paid in installments on March 20th and September 20th of each
year. Amounts adjusted to the Town’s fiscal year are as follows:
Annual
June 30,
Principal
Interest
Total
2019
$
45,023
$
34,390
$
79,413
2020
47,464
31,949
79,413
2021
50,038
29,375
79,413
2022
52,751
26,663
79,414
2023
55,610
23,803
79,413
2024-2028
326,682
70,383
397,065
2029-2030
76,337
3,076
79,413
Total
$
653,905
$
219,639
$
873,544
2016 Certificates of Participation
On September 28, 2006, the Town issued $10,575,000 in taxable, variable rate Certificates of
Participation to finance the acquisition of land and improvements constituting an office and retail center
known as Park Madera Center, Corte Madera, a property contiguous with Town Park and the Town’s
Community Center. A lease agreement was entered into with Public Property Financing Corporation of
California as the Lessor of the Center. Park Madera fund revenues consisting of existing lease revenue
and other income have been pledged for the payment of the lease.
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7. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued
Governmental activities:
The 2006 Certificates were called and refunded June 30, 2016. $9,000,000 in 2006 Certificates were
defeased and $9,420,000 of 2016 Refunding Certificates were issued with lease payments due on May 1st
and November 1st with final maturity on May 1, 2037.
Annual
June 30,
Principal
Interest
Total
2019
$
365,000
$
296,024
$
661,024
2020
365,000
289,743
654,743
2021
380,000
282,538
662,538
2022
385,000
274,938
659,938
2023
390,000
266,275
656,275
2024-2028
2,125,000
1,161,000
3,286,000
2029-2033
2,520,000
774,450
3,294,450
2034-2038
2,395,000
244,200
2,639,200
Total
$
8,925,000
$
3,589,168
$ 12,514,168
8.

NET POSITION/ FUND BALANCES

Net Position

Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt
Unrestricted
Total

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities

$

$

37,753,363
(9,740,276)
$ 28,013,087

15,688,452
10,559,199
$ 26,247,651

Total
$

52,463,120
(1,032,562)
$ 51,430,558

Fund Balance
Nonspendable, Restricted and Committed fund balance consisted of the following at June 30, 2018:
Nonspendable
Inventory and
prepaid items
$
Petty cash
Total nonspendable $
Committed
General fund reserve
Total committed

$
$

3,924
500
3,924
4,300,000
4,300,000
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8.

NET POSITION/ FUND BALANCES, Continued

The following describe the purpose of each nonspendable and committed fund balance category as
used by the Town:
Nonspendable
Inventory and prepaid items - used to segregate that portion of fund balance to indicate that
inventory and prepaid amounts do not represent available, spendable resources even though
they are components of assets.
Petty cash – includes imprest balances, which do not represent available, spendable resources
even though they are components of assets.
Committed
General Fund Reserve – used to represent that portion of fund balance set aside for
unexpected events that may impact the Town’s ability to provide essential day-to-day services,
per Resolution No. 3365 adopted by the Town Council on June 7, 2011.
Deficit net position balances at June 30, 2018, consisted of ($9,740,276) in governmental activities
primarily a result of the effect of the net pension liability and net OPEB obligation.
Excess of Expenditures and Transfers Over Appropriations: Overall expenditures and transfers did
exceed appropriations for the year ended June 30, 2018, for Special Storm Drainage Tax fund
($334,802), Traffic Improvement ($495), Village Traffic Improvement ($249), Westside Park-in-lieu
($416), TAM Ridge Traffic Improvement ($468), and Age-friendly Corte Madera ($4,998).
Deficit fund balances consisted of:
A deficit fund balance did not exist in any of the Town’s funds at June 30, 2018.
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9. ALLOCATION OF INTERNAL SERVICE FUND OPERATING NET INCOME (LOSS)
The operating income (loss) of the Internal Service Funds for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, was
allocated to the Governmental and Business-Type Activities as follows:
Allocation Portion
%
Amount
Governmental Activities:
General Government
Public Safety
Public Works
Culture & Leisure
Total Governmental Activities

18.00
32.00
20.00
20.00
90.00

Business-Type Activities:
Sanitary District
Total Business-Type Activities

10.00
10.00

17,011
17,011

100.00

$ 170,100

Total All Activities

$

30,618
54,431
34,020
34,020
153,089

10. ELIMINATION OF INTERNAL SERVICE FUND BALANCES
Elimination of Internal Service Fund Balances for Business-Type Activities upon conversion from the
Fund Based Statements to the Government-wide Statement of Activities were as follows:

Beginning balance (deficit) July 1, 2017
Current year income (loss)
Ending balance (deficit) June 30, 2018

Sanitary
District
$
(80,528)
17,011
$
(63,517)

This space intentionally left blank.
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11. INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS
As of June 30, 2018, there were no amounts due to and from other funds.
Due to and from balances are a result of uncollected amounts or unreimbursed costs to be received or
paid within 90 days of year end.
Operating transfers consisted of the following at June 30, 2018:
Transfers In
Major Funds:
Governmental Activities
General Fund
Business-type Activities
Sanitary District
Self-insurance
Total

$

262,140

$

480,000
742,140

Transfers Out

$

(704,140)

$

(38,000)
(502,513)

Operating transfers reflect amounts of shared projects and costs among funds.

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION – Business-type Activities
Proprietary fund segment information for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, was as follows:
Sanitary
Age-Friendly
District
Corte Madera
Total
Operating revenues
$
2,946,524
$
1,000
$
2,947,524
Depreciation/amortization
1,200,078
1,200,078
Operating income (loss)
(931,284)
(4,998)
(936,282)
Nonoperating revenue, net
3,435,626
3,435,626
Operating expense
3,877,308
(5,998)
(3,883,806)
Capital contributions
18,927
18,927
Transfers
(38,000)
(38,000)
Change in net position
2,485,269
(4,998)
2,480,271
Fixed asset additions (net)
804,867
804,867
Total assets
26,442,340
8,153
26,450,493
Total liabilities
(139,325)
(139,325)
Net Position
26,303,015
8,153
26,311,168
Unrestricted
10,614,563
8,153
10,662,716
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13.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town, including the District, purchases several insurance policies to protect against catastrophic
loss: (1) Workers’ Compensation Insurance with a statutory limit per each accident and a self-insured
retention of $1,000,000 per each accident, (2) General Liability and Automobile Liability Insurance
with a $10,000,000 limit per occurrence subject to a $250,000 self-insured retention per occurrence,
(3) a Master Property Insurance policy covers the Town’s real and personal property on a replacement
cost basis with a $10,000 deductible. For vehicles and motorized contractor’s equipment, only selected
high value items are specifically insured with various deductibles. The Town does not purchase
Earthquake or Flood coverage.

2009-2010
2010-2011
2011-2012
2012-2013
2013-2014
2014-2015
2015-2016
2016-2017
2017-2018

14.

Beginning of
Year Liability
$
912,000
723,000
778,000
244,000
265,000
434,000
503,000
629,000
630,000

Current Year Claims
and Changes in
Estimates
$
127,597
150,685
(391,165)
140,743
199,313
111,259
217,404
220,441
(80,907)

Claim Payments for
Current and Prior
Years
$
(316,597)
(95,685)
(142,835)
(119,743)
(30,313)
(42,259)
(91,404)
(219,441)
(48,673)

End of Year
Liability
$
723,000
778,000
244,000
265,000
434,000
503,000
629,000
630,000
500,420

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM

General Information about the Pension Plans
Plan Descriptions – The Plans are cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plans
administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). A full description of
the pension plans’ benefit provisions, assumptions for funding purposes, but not accounting purposes,
and membership information are listed in the June 30, 2016, Annual Actuarial Valuation Reports.
These reports are publically available valuation reports that can be obtained at CalPERS’ website
under Forms and Publications or on the Town’s website in the Finance Section. All qualified
permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the Town’s separate Safety (fire)
and Miscellaneous (all other) Employee Pension Plans. Benefit provisions under the Plans are
established by State statute and Town ordinance. CalPERS issues publicly available reports that
include a full description of the pension plans regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and
membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website.
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14. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM, Continued
General Information about the Pension Plans, Continued
Benefits Provided – CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living
adjustments and death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries.
Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment. Members
with five years of total service are eligible to retire at age 50 (or 52 for Misc. PEPRA members) with
statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits after 10 years of
service. The death benefit is one of the following: the Basic Death Benefit, the 1959 Survivor Benefit
(with fourth level), or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of living adjustments for
each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law.
The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2018, are summarized as follows:

Benefit formula
Benefit vesting schedule
Benefit payments
Retirement age
Monthly benefits, as % of eligible
compensation
Required employee contribution rates
Required employer contribution rates

Miscellaneous
Prior to
On or after
January 1, 2013
January 1, 2013
(Classic Member)
(PEPRA Member)
2.5% @ 55
2% @ 62
5 years of service
5 years of service
monthly for life
monthly for life
50 – 55+
52 – 67+
2.0% to 2.5%
13.500%
5.308%

1.0% to 2.5%
6.50%
6.930%

Safety

Benefit formula
Benefit vesting schedule
Benefit payments
Retirement age
Monthly benefits, as % of eligible
compensation
Required employee contribution rates
Required employer contribution rates

Prior to
January 1, 2013
(Classic Member)
3% @ 50
5 years of service
monthly for life
50 – 55+

On or after
January 1, 2013
(PEPRA Member)
2.7% @ 57
5 years of service
monthly for life
50 – 57+

3.0%
18.000%
12.230%

2.0% to 2.7%
12.250%
12.821%
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14. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM, Continued
General Information about the Pension Plan, Continued
Contributions – Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law (PERL)
requires that the employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis
by the actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. The total
plan contributions are determined through the CalPERS’ annual actuarial valuation process. The Plan’s
actuarially determined rate is based on the estimated amount necessary to pay the costs of benefits
earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to pay any unfunded accrued liability.
The employer is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the
contribution rate of employees.
For the measurement period ended June 30, 2017 (the measurement date), the active employee
contribution rate of annual pay, and the average employer’s rate of annual payroll are below:

Classic Misc. Plan
PEPRA Misc. Plan
Classic Safety Plan
PEPRA Safety Plan

Employer
Contribution
Rates
5.308%
6.930%
12.230%
12.821%

Employee
Contribution
Rates
13.500%
6.500%
18.000%
12.250%

Active Members as
of June 30, 2017
23
10
13
4

Beginning in fiscal year 2016, CalPERS collects employer contributions for the Plans as a percentage
of payroll for the normal cost portion as noted in the rates above and as dollar amount for contributions
toward the unfunded liability and side fund. The total dollar amount paid by the Town for unfunded
liability and side fund was $976,301 which consisted of $586,143 for miscellaneous classic members
(unfunded liability and side fund), $68 for miscellaneous PEPRA members (unfunded liability), and
$390,090 for safety classic members (unfunded liability and side fund).
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the total employer contributions (normal cost, unfunded liability and
side fund) recognized as part of pension expense for each Plan were as follows:

Miscellaneous Classic
Miscellaneous PEPRA
Safety Classic
Safety PEPRA
Total Employer Contributions

2018
$
805,361
57,003
757,429
47,549
$ 1,667,342

2017
$
758,594
35,845
1,076,327
32,706
$ 1,903,472

2016
$
693,553
23,622
1,090,629
2,315
$ 1,810,119

2015
$
550,768
11,009
1,094,690
$ 1,656,457
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14. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM, Continued
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions
The following table shows the Plan’s proportionate share of the risk pool collective net pension
liability over the measurement period.
Proportionate
Share of Net
Pension Liability
$
19,180,989
17,275,610
$
1,905,379

Balance at: 6/30/17 – Measurement Date
Balance at: 6/30/16 – Measurement date
Total Net Change

Proportionate

Share of Net
Pension Liability
0.193410%
0.199647%
(0.006237)%

The Town’s net pension liability for each Plan is measured as the proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability of each is measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total
pension liability for each Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of June 30, 2016 rolled forward to June 30, 2017 using standard update procedures. The
Town’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the Town’s long-term share
of contributions to the pension plans relative to the projected contributions of all participating
employers, actuarially determined.
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town recognized a pension expense of $1,787,401 based on the
measurement period ended June 30, 2017 for the Plan. At June 30, 2018, the Town reported deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date
Differences between actual and expected experience
Changes in assumptions
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments
Change in employer’s proportion
Difference between the employer’s contributions and the
employer’s proportionate share of contributions
Total

Deferred
Outflows
of Resources
$ 1,667,342
2,751,445

Deferred
Inflows
of Resources
$
(61,904)
(210,496)

3,610,286
461,573

(153,274)

327,225
$ 5,817,871

(425,674)

$
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14. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM, Continued
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions, Continued
$1,667,342 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June
30, 2018 (measurement period ended June 30, 2017). Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as pension expense
as follows:
Deferred
Outflows/(Inflows)
Of Resources
$
1,228,033
1,757,385
1,099,016
(359,579)
-

Fiscal Year
Ended June 30
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

The amounts above are the net of outflows and inflows recognized in the fiscal 2017 measurement
period.
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Total Pension Liability – For the
measurement period ending June 30, 2017 (the measurement date), the total pension liability was
determined by rolling forward the June 30, 2016 total pension liability. Both the June 30, 2016 total
pension liability and the June 30, 2017 total pension liability were determined using the following
actuarial methods and assumptions:
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14. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM, Continued
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions, Continued
Valuation Date
Measurement Date
Actuarial Cost Method
Actuarial Assumptions:
Discount Rate
Inflation
Projected Salary Increase
Mortality Rate Table

Post Retirement Benefit Increase

Miscellaneous
June 30, 2016
June 30, 2017
Entry Age Normal

Safety
June 30, 2016
June 30, 2017
Entry Age Normal

7.15%
2.75%
Varies by entry age and
service
Derived using CalPERS’
Membership Data for all
Funds. Incorporates 20
years of mortality
improvements using
Society of Actuaries Scale
BB. For more details
please refer to the 2014
experience study report
available on the CalPERS
website.
Contract COLA up to
2.75% until Purchasing
Power Protection
Allowance Floor on
Purchasing Power applies.
2.75% thereafter

7.15%
2.75%
Varies by entry age and
service
Derived using
CalPERS’ Membership
Data for all Funds.
Incorporates 20 years of
mortality improvements
using Society of
Actuaries Scale BB. For
more details please refer
to the 2014 experience
study report available on
the CalPERS website.
Contract COLA up to
2.75% until Purchasing
Power Protection
Allowance Floor on
Purchasing Power
applies. 2.75%
thereafter

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15%. To determine
whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount rate for each plan,
CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that would be different
from the actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested plans run out of
assets. Therefore, the current 7.15 percent discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal bond
rate calculation is not necessary. The long term expected discount rate of 7.15 percent will be applied
to all plans in the Public Employees Retirement Fund (PERF). The stress test results are presented in a
detailed report that can be obtained from the CalPERS website.
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14. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM, Continued
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions, Continued
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a buildingblock method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns,
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and
long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using historical
returns of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over the short-term
(first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected
nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for
each fund. The expected rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent expected return that
arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term
and long-term returns. The expected rate of return was then set equivalent to the single equivalent rate
calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent.
The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return was
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset
allocation. These rates of return are net of administrative expenses.

Asset Class
Global Equity
Global Fixed Income
Inflation Sensitive
Private Equity
Real Estate
Infrastructure and
Forestland
Liquidity
Total

New Strategic
Allocation
47.0%
19.0%
6.0%
12.0%
11.0%
3.0%
2.0%
100%

Real Return Years 1
- 10 (a)
4.90%
0.80%
0.60%
6.60%
2.80%

Real Return Years
11+ (b)
5.38%
2.27%
1.39%
6.63%
5.21%

3.90%
(0.40)%

5.36%
(0.90)%

(a) An expected inflation of 2.5% used for this period.
(b) An expected inflation of 3.0% used for this period.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions, Continued
Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount
Rate – The following presents the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, calculated
using the discount rate of 7.15 percent, as well as what the Town’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability/(asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point
lower (6.15%) or 1-percentage point higher (8.15%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease
Net Pension Liability

Plan’s Net Pension
Liability/(Asset)
6.15%
$ 28,261,304

Current Discount Rate
Net Pension Liability

7.15%
$ 19,180,989

1% Increase
Net Pension Liability

8.15%
$ 11,712,980

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about each pension plan’s fiduciary net
position is available in the separately issued CalPERS financial reports.
Payable to the Pension Plan
At June 30, 2018, the Town had paid all contributions to the pension plans required for the year then
ended.
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15. POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS
Plan Description
The Town’s agent multiple employer defined benefit Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plan
provides post-retirement healthcare benefits to eligible employees who retire directly from the Town.
Healthcare coverage is with PEMHCA (CalPERS medical program). The Town pays healthcare
coverage up to a cap based on the Kaiser Bay Area premiums for eligible Tier 1 retirees and their
dependents. For all present employees and some new retirees, payments are limited to dual coverage.
For Tier 2 retirees, the Town pays the PEMHCA minimum payment, $133 per month in 2018 for the
retiree only. The PEMHCA minimum payment is adjusted each year with changes in the medical CPI.
Benefit levels are established and may be amended by the Town Council except for the PEMHCA
minimum benefit which is governed by state statute. The Plan does not provide dental and vision
benefits, although retirees can continue these benefits at their own cost upon separation. In fiscal year
2008-09, the Town elected to begin prefunding its OPEB liabilities in an irrevocable trust established
through the California Public Employees Retirement System. The Prefunding Plan (sometimes also
referred to as CERBT) is an agent multiple-employer plan which is administered by the CalPERS
Board of Administration. The trust will be used to accumulate and invest assets necessary to pay for
healthcare costs and administrative costs of the Prefunding Plan.
Copies of the Fund’s annual financial report may be obtained from the CalPERS executive office: 400
P Street, Sacramento, California, 95814.
Employees Covered
As of the July 1, 2017 actuarial valuation, the following current and former employees were covered
by the benefit terms under the Plan:
Active employees
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving
benefits
Inactive employees entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits
Total

53
8
49
110

Contributions
The Town’s plan and its contribution requirements are established by Memoranda of Understanding
with the applicable employee bargaining units and may be amended by agreements between the
Agency and the bargaining units. The annual contribution is based on the actuarially determined
contribution. For the fiscal year June 30, 2018, the Town’s implied subsidy was $67,000, which
accounted for all contributions.
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15. POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS, Continued
Net OPEB Liability
The Town’s Net OPEB Liability was measured on July 1, 2017 and the Total OPEB Liability used to
calculate the Net OPEB Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation dated July 1, 2016 that was
rolled forward to July 1, 2017 to determine the total OPEB liability, based on the following actuarial
methods and assumptions:
Actuarial Assumptions:
Contribution Policy
Discount Rate
Inflation
Salary Increases
Expected Long-Term
Investment rate of Return
Mortality, Retirement,
Disability, Termination
Mortality Improvement
Medical Trend

Participation at retirement
PEM HCA Minimum
Increase

Pre-funded through CERBT asset allocation
strategy 1
6.75%
2.75% per annum
3.0% per annum
Same as discount rate. Plan assets projected to be
sufficient to pay all benefits from trust.
CALPERS 1997-2011 experience study.
Mortality projected fully generational with Scale
MP-17
Non-medicare – 7.5% for 2019, decreasing to an
ultimate rate of 4.0% in 2076 and later years.
Medicare – 6.5% for 2019, decreasing to an ultimate
rate of 4.0% in 2076 and later years.
Tier 1 Actives: 100%
Tier 2 Actives: 70%
4.25% after 2018

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a buildingblock method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of OPEB plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return
by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and
best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the
following table:
Target
Real return,
Asset Class
Allocation
next 10 years
Global equity
57%
4.82%
Fixed income
27%
1.47%
Treasury securities
5%
1.29%
Real estate trusts
8%
3.76%
Commodities
3%
0.84%
Total
100%
Assumed Long-Term rate of inflation
Expected long-term net rate of return, rounded
78

2.75%
6.75%
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15. POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS, Continued
Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 6.75 percent. The cash flows of the
OPEB plan were projected to future years, assuming that the Town will contribute an amount so that
the assets always exceed expected benefits to retirees. Under that projection, the plan assets are
projected to be adequate to pay all benefits to retirees in all future years, so the discount rate has been
set equal to the long-term expected rate of return on investments, 6.75%.
Changes in the OPEB Liability
Total
OPEB
Liability
(a)
Balance at June 30, 2017
(Measurement date June 30, 2016)
Changes recognized for the measurement period
Service cost
Interest
Employer contributions
Net investment income
Benefit payments to retirees
Administrative expense
Net changes
Balance at June 30, 2018
(Measurement date June 30, 2017)

Increase (Decrease)
Plan
Net OPEB
Fiduciary
Obligation
Net Position
(Asset)
(b)
= (a) – (b)

$10,827,000

$ 1,118,000

$ 9,709,000

260,000
731,000
(519,000)
472,000

1,019,000
160,000
(519,000)
(1)
659,000

260,000
731,000
(1,019,000)
(160,000)
1
(187,000)

$11,299,000

$ 1,777,000

$ 9,522,000

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to the Changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the Net OPEB Liability of the Town if it were calculated using a discount rate
that is one percentage point higher or lower than the current discount rate, for the measurement period
ended June 30, 2017:
1% Decrease
(5.75%)
Net OPEB Liability $ 10,942,000

Current
Discount Rate
(6.75%)
$ 9,522,000

1%
Increase
(7.75%)
$ 8,348,000
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15. POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS, Continued
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to the Changes in the Health Care Cost Trend Rates
The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Town if it were calculated using health care cost
trend rates that are one percentage point higher or lower than the current rate, for the measurement
period ended June 30, 2017:
1% Decrease
Net OPEB Liability $ 8,254,000

Current
Trend Rate
$ 9,522,000

1%
Increase
$ 11,067,000

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position
CERBT issues a publicly available financial report that may be obtained from CalPERS,
Prefunding Programs, CERBT (OPEB), P.O. Box 1494, Sacramento, CA 95812-1494.
Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Gains and losses related to changes in total OPEB liability and fiduciary net position are recognized in
OPEB expense systematically over time.
Amounts are first recognized in OPEB expense for the year the gain or loss occurs. The remaining
amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB and
are to be recognized in future OPEB expense.
The recognition period differs depending on the source of the gain or loss:
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on OPEB plan investments

5 years

All other amounts

Expected average remaining
service lifetime (EARSL)
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15. POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the District recognized OPEB expense of $1,207,000. At June 30,
2018, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows of
Deferred Inflows of
Resources
Resources
OPEB contributions subsequent to
$
1,075,000
$
Net differences between projected and
on plan investments
(55,000)
Total
$
1,075,000
$
(55,000)
The $1,075,000 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the
measurement date that will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ended
June 30, 2019.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions will be recognized as OPEB expense as follows:
Deferred
Fiscal Year
Outflows/(inflows)
Ending:
of Resources
(14,000)
2019
$
2020
(14,000)
2021
(14,000)
2022
(13,000)
Thereafter
16. CONTINGENCIES
The Town participates in a number of Federal, State and County programs that are fully or partially
funded by grants received from other governmental units. Expenditures financed by grants are subject
to audit by the appropriate grantor government. If expenditures are disallowed due to noncompliance
with grantor program regulations, the Town may be required to reimburse the grantor government. As
of June 30, 2018, some amounts of grant expenditures have not been audited, but the Town believes
that disallowed expenditures, if any, based on subsequent audits will not have a material effect on any
individual governmental funds or the overall financial condition of the Town.
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17. LITIGATION
The Town is a defendant in a number of lawsuits which have arisen in the normal course of business.
While substantial damages are alleged in some of these actions, their outcome cannot be predicted with
certainty. In the opinion of the Town Attorney, these actions, when finally adjudicated, do not appear
to have a materially adverse effect on the financial condition of the Town.

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Management has evaluated subsequent events through the date of the audit opinion letter, which is the
date the financial statements were available to be issued and there is nothing to report.
19. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT
A prior period adjustment of $3,503,000 was made to reduce beginning net position of governmental
activities. The adjustment was made to reflect the prior period costs related to the implementation of
the net other post-employment benefits (OPEB) long-term liability.
Net position at July 1, 2017, as previously stated
Recognition of net OPEB liability
Net position at July 1, 2017, as restated

$
$

27,680,189
(3,503,000)
24,177,184
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the Town's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
Last 10 Years*

Measurement date

2015
6/30/2014

Fiscal year ended June 30,
2016
2017
6/30/2015
6/30/2016

2018
6/30/2017

Plan's Proportion of the Net Pension
Liability/(Asset)

0.195201%

0.207810%

0.193410%

0.199647%

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Net
Pension Liability/(Asset)

$12,146,336

$14,263,877

$17,275,610

$19,180,989

Plan's Covered-Employee Payroll

$ 4,607,570

$ 4,850,172

$ 4,775,667

$ 4,907,134

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Net
Pension Liability/(asset) as a Percentage
of its Covered-Employee Payroll

263.62%

294.09%

361.74%

390.88%

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Fiduciary
Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of
the Plan's Total Pension Liability

79.82%

78.40%

74.06%

73.31%

Plan's Proportionate Share of Aggregate
Employer Contributions

$43,985,695

$43,828,973

$43,269,080

$46,235,015

* Fiscal year ending June 30, 2015 was the first year of implementation, therefore only 4 years of
information is shown
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the Town's Pension Plan Contributions
Last 10 Years*

Measurement date
Actuarially Determined Contributions

2015
6/30/2014

2018
6/30/2017

$ 1,810,099

$ 1,903,472

$ 1,667,342

Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially
Determined Contribution - Employer
$ (1,656,467)

$ (1,810,099)

$ (1,903,472)

$ (1,667,342)

Contribution Deficiency (Excess)

$

$

$

$

Covered Payroll

$ 4,850,172

Contributions as a Percentage of CoveredEmployee Payroll
Notes to Schedule:
Valuation Date:

$ 1,656,467

Fiscal year ended June 30,
2016
2017
6/30/2015
6/30/2016

-

34.15%

-

$ 4,775,667

37.90%

-

$ 4,907,134

-

$ 4,964,063

38.79%

33.59%

June 30, 2017

Methods and assumptions used to determine contributions rates:
Actuarial cost method
Entry age normal cost method
Amortization method
Level percentage of payroll
Asset valuation method
Market Value
Inflation rate
2.75%
Payroll Growth
3.00%
Salary increase
3.30% to 14.20% depending on age, service, and type of
employment
Discount rate
7.50%, net of expenses
Retirement age
The probabilities of retirement are based on the 2014 CalPERS
experience
study for the period
p
y 1997 to 2007
Mortality
experience study for the period of 1997 to 2007. Pre-retirement
and post-retirement mortality rates include 5 years of projected
mortality improvement using Scale AA published by the
Society of Actuaries
* Fiscal year ending June 30, 2015 was the first year of implementation, therefore only 4 years of
information is shown
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the Change in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
For the Measurement Period Ended June 30, 2017

Fiscal Year Ended
Measurement date

June 30, 2018
June 30, 2017

Total OPEB Liability
Changes recognized for the measurement period
Service Cost
Interest on OPEB Liability
Changes on benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Changes of assumptions
Benefit payments
Changes in benefit terms
Net change in total OPEB liability
Total OPEB Liability - Beginning
Total OPEB Liability - Ending

$

260,000
731,000
(519,000)
472,000
10,827,000
11,299,000

Total Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer
Net investment income
Benefit payments
Administration expenses
Net change in Fiduciary Net Position
Total Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning
Total Fiduciary Net Position - Ending

1,019,000
160,000
(519,000)
(1,000)
659,000
1,118,000
1,777,000

Net OPEB Liability - Ending

$ 9,522,000

Plan Fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total OPEB liability

15.73%

Covered-employee payroll

$ 6,719,000

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered
employee payroll

141.7%

* Fiscal year ending June 30, 2018 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only one year of
information is shown
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of OPEB Contributions
For the Measurement Period Ended June 30, 2017

2018

Fical Year Ended June 30,
Actuarially determined contributions (ADC)

$

Contributions in relation to the ADC

1,215,000
1,075,000

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

140,000

$ 6,102,000

Covered-employee payroll
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll

17.62%

Notes to Schedule:
*Actuarial methods and assumptions used to set the actuarially determined contributions for Fiscal
Year 2018 were selected by the District after consultation with the actuary.
Method and assumptions used to determine contribution:
Valuation Date
June 30, 2015
Actuarial Cost Method
Entry Age Normal, Level Percentage of Payroll
Amortization Method/Period
Level percentage of payroll/15-year fixed period of 2017/18
General Inflation
3.00%
Discount rate
Blended, 6.23% for 2016/17 grading up to 7.00% for 2032/33
Asset Valuation Method
Investment gains and losses spread over 5-year rolling period
Medical Trend
Non-Medicare - 7.0% for 2017, decreasing to an ultimate rate of
5.0% in 2021 and later years

Mortality
Mortality improvement

Medicare - 7.2% for 2017, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5.0%
in 2021 and later years
CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study
Mortality projected fully generational with Scale MP-14 with 15
year convergence in 2022
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for June 30, 2017)

Capital Projects Funds
Traffic
Congestion
Relief
Repayment

Gas Taxes

Special
Storm
Drainage Tax

TAM
Sales Tax
Override

SB1 Road
Maintenance

ASSETS
Pooled cash and investments
Receivables:
Taxes
Intergovernmental subventions
Intergovernmental grants
Assessments
Due from other funds
Total assets

$

267,646

$

1,250
-

10,784

$

-

352,142

$

12,885
-

181,991

$

-

35,478
20,105
-

$

268,896

$

10,784

$

365,027

$

181,991

$

55,583

$

-

$

-

$

5,910
-

$

-

$

-

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities
Fund Balances:
Restricted
Assigned for capital projects reported in:
Capital projects funds
Unassigned (deficit) reported in:
Capital projects funds
Total fund balances
Total liabilities and fund balances

$

-

-

5,910

-

-

268,896

10,784

359,117

181,991

55,583

-

-

-

-

-

268,896

10,784

359,117

181,991

55,583

268,896

$

10,784

$

365,027

$

181,991

$

55,583
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Capital Projects Funds

Traffic
Improvement

Village
Traffic
Improvement

$

$

13,484
-

132,751

Affordable
Housing
$

-

Totals

Marin Parks
Measure A

258,420

$

-

171,859

TAM Ridge
Traffic
Improvement

Westside
Park-in-lieu
$

865
-

221,614

$

-

249,532

2018
$

-

2017

1,895,701

$

12,885
20,105
2,115
-

983,650
19,506
63,504
49,524

$

13,484

$

132,751

$

258,420

$

172,724

$

221,614

$

249,532

$

1,930,806

$

1,116,184

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

5,910
-

$

5,162
49,524

$

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,910

54,686

13,484

132,751

258,420

172,724

221,614

249,532

1,924,896

1,061,498

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

13,484

132,751

258,420

172,724

221,614

249,532

1,924,896

1,061,498

13,484

$

132,751

$

258,420

$

172,724

$

221,614

$

249,532

$

1,930,806

$

1,116,184
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2017)

Capital Project Funds
Traffic
Congestion
Relief
Repayment

Gas Taxes
REVENUES:
Taxes
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Investment income
Other revenues

$

197,278
2,242
-

$

Special
Storm
Drainage Tax

10,784

$

632,046
4,816
-

TAM
Sales Tax
Override
$

SB1 Road
Maintenance

196,631
(382)
-

$

55,583
-

Total revenues

199,520

10,784

636,862

196,249

55,583

EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Public works
Capital outlay

30,951

-

971,664

38,912

-

30,951

-

971,664

38,912

-

168,569

10,784

(334,802)

157,337

55,583

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

168,569

10,784

157,337

55,583

Total expenditures
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing
sources and uses
REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER
FINANCING (USES)
FUND BALANCES:
Beginning of year
End of the year

100,327
$

268,896

(334,802)

$

10,784

693,919
$

359,117

24,654
$

181,991

$

55,583
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Capital Project Funds

Traffic
Improvement
$

(27)
802

Village
Traffic
Improvement
$

775

$

(249)

Marin Parks
Measure A

(381)
82,992

$

Westside
Park-in-lieu

71,950
644
-

82,611

72,594

$

(416)
-

TAM Ridge
Traffic
Improvement
$

(416)

(468)
(468)

2018
$

2017

884,907
268,581
5,779
94,578

$

185,886
25,504
333,105
435
547,565

1,253,845

1,092,495

1,270

-

-

41,569

-

-

1,084,366

95,683
523,044

1,270

-

-

41,569

-

-

1,084,366

618,727

82,611

31,025

169,479

473,768

(495)

(249)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

82,611

31,025

(495)

(249)

13,979
$

(249)
-

Affordable
Housing

Totals

13,484

133,000
$

132,751

175,809
$

258,420

(416)

-

172,724

-

(416)

141,699
$

(468)

(468)

222,030
$

221,614

$

-

91,045
(141)

-

90,904

169,479

564,672

250,000

1,755,417

496,826

249,532

$ 1,924,896

$ 1,061,498
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Equity Capital Projects Funds - Budget and Actual
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
Gas Taxes
Original
Budget
REVENUES:
Taxes:
Storm drainage tax
Gas tax
Investment income
Intergovernmental:
Safe Pathways to School (TAM)
TAM sales tax override
State STIP (TAM Swap)
Central Marin Bikeway
State Bike Transportation Grant
State Beverage Container Grant
Zero Waste Marin County
State Recreation (Windows)
Marin Parks Measure A
Other revenue:
Affordable housing fees
Traffic improvement fees
Westside Park-in-lieu
TAM Ridge assessment
Other
Total revenues

$

EXPENDITURES:
Capital outlay:
Planning projects
Street projects
Park and Recreation projects
Total expenditures
REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES AND OTHER
FINANCING (USES)
FUND BALANCE:
Beginning of year
End of year

$

Amended
Budget

232,000
-

$

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Actual

237,000
-

$

197,278
2,242

$

(39,722)
2,242

-

-

-

-

232,000

237,000

199,520

(37,480)

200,000
200,000

247,900
247,900

30,951
30,951

216,949
216,949

32,000

(10,900)

168,569

179,469

-

-

-

-

32,000

(10,900)

168,569

179,469

100,327

100,327

100,327

-

132,327

$

89,427

$

268,896

$

179,469

248
94

Traffic Congestion Relief Repayment
w/Amended
Amended
Positive
Budget
Actual
(Negative)

Original
Budget

$

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

Special Storm Drainage Tax
Original
Budget

-

$

Amended
Budget

658,000
5,000

$

w/Amended
Positive
(Negative)

Actual

658,000
5,000

$

632,046
4,816

$

(25,954)
(184)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,784
10,784

10,784
10,784

663,000

663,000

636,862

(26,138)

-

-

-

-

1,190,000
1,190,000

1,190,000
1,190,000

971,664
971,664

218,336
218,336

-

-

10,784

(10,784)

(527,000)

(527,000)

(334,802)

(192,198)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,784

(10,784)

(527,000)

(527,000)

(334,802)

(192,198)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$

-

$

10,784

$

(10,784)

$

(527,000)

$

(527,000)

693,919
$

359,117

$

(886,117)

249
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Equity Capital Projects Funds - Budget and Actual, Continued
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
TAM Sales Tax Override
Original
Budget
REVENUES:
Taxes:
Storm drainage tax
Gas tax
Investment income
Intergovernmental:
Safe Pathways to School (TAM)
TAM sales tax override
State STIP (TAM Swap)
Central Marin Bikeway
State Bike Transportation Grant
State Beverage Container Grant
Zero Waste Marin County
State Recreation (Windows)
Marin Parks Measure A
Other revenue:
Affordable housing fees
Traffic improvement fees
Westside Park-in-lieu
TAM Ridge assessment
Other
Total revenues

$

EXPENDITURES:
Capital outlay:
Planning projects
Street projects
Park and Recreation projects
Total expenditures
REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES AND OTHER
FINANCING (USES)
FUND BALANCE:
Beginning of year
End of year

$

Amended
Budget

-

$

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Actual

-

$

(382)

$

(382)

1,246,700
-

1,231,700
-

196,631
-

(1,035,069)
-

1,246,700

1,231,700

196,249

(1,035,451)

1,257,700
1,257,700

1,262,000
1,262,000

38,912
38,912

1,223,088
1,223,088

(11,000)

(30,300)

157,337

187,637

-

-

-

-

(11,000)

(30,300)

157,337

187,637

36,103

36,103

24,654

(11,449)

25,103

$

5,803

$

181,991

-

$

176,188
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SB1 Road Maintenance
Original
Budget

$

$

Amended
Budget

-

$

Traffic Improvement
Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Actual

-

$

55,583
-

$

55,583
-

Original
Budget

$

Amended
Budget

-

$

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Actual

-

$

(27)

$

(27)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

55,583

55,583

77,000
77,000

77,000
77,000

802
775

(76,198)
(76,225)

-

-

-

-

25,000
25,000

25,000
25,000

1,270
1,270

23,730
23,730

-

-

55,583

55,583

52,000

52,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

55,583

55,583

52,000

52,000

-

-

-

-

13,979

13,979

-

$

-

$

55,583

$

55,583

$

65,979

$

65,979

-

(495)

(52,495)

-

-

(495)

(52,495)

13,979
$

13,484

$

(52,495)
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Equity Capital Projects Funds - Budget and Actual, Continued
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
Village Traffic Improvement
Original
Budget
REVENUES:
Taxes:
Storm drainage tax
Gas tax
Investment income
Intergovernmental:
Safe Pathways to School (TAM)
TAM sales tax override
State STIP (TAM Swap)
Central Marin Bikeway
State Bike Transportation Grant
State Beverage Container Grant
Zero Waste Marin County
State Recreation (Windows)
Marin Parks Measure A
Other revenue:
Affordable housing fees
Traffic improvement fees
Westside Park-in-lieu
TAM Ridge assessment
Other
Total revenues

$

Amended
Budget

-

$

Actual

-

-

-

-

-

EXPENDITURES:
Capital outlay:
Planning projects
Street projects
Park and Recreation projects
Total expenditures

-

-

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

-

-

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

-

-

REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES AND OTHER
FINANCING (USES)

-

-

133,000

133,000

FUND BALANCE:
Beginning of year
End of year

$

133,000

$

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

133,000

$

(249)

$

-

-

(249)

(249)

-

-

(249)

(249)

-

-

(249)

(249)

133,000
$

132,751

(249)

$

(249)

252
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Affordable Housing
Original
Budget

$

Amended
Budget

-

$

-

Actual

$

Marin Parks Measure A
Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

(381)

$

(381)

Original
Budget

$

Amended
Budget

-

$

-

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Actual

$

644

$

644

-

-

-

-

75,000

75,000

71,950

(3,050)

-

-

82,992
82,611

82,992
82,611

75,000

75,000

72,594

(2,406)

-

-

-

-

212,700
212,700

212,700
212,700

41,569
41,569

171,131
171,131

-

-

82,611

82,611

(137,700)

(137,700)

31,025

168,725

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

82,611

82,611

(137,700)

(137,700)

31,025

168,725

175,809

175,809

175,809

-

141,699

141,699

141,699

-

$ 175,809

$ 175,809

$ 258,420

3,999

$ 172,724

$

82,611

$

3,999

$

$

168,725
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Equity Capital Projects Funds - Budget and Actual, Continued
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
Westside Park-in-lieu
Original
Budget
REVENUES:
Taxes:
Storm drainage tax
Gas tax
Investment income
Intergovernmental:
Safe Pathways to School (TAM)
TAM sales tax override
Central Marin Bikeway
State Beverage Container Grant
Zero Waste Marin County
Marin Parks Measure A
Other revenue:
Affordable Housing fees
Traffic improvement fees
Westside Park-in-lieu
TAM Ridge assessment
Other
Total revenues

$

-

Amended
Budget

$

-

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Actual

$

(416)

(416)

-

-

-

222,000
222,000

EXPENDITURES:
Capital outlay:
Planning projects
Street projects
Park and recreation projects
Total expenditures

-

-

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

-

222,000

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

-

-

REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES AND OTHER
FINANCING (USES)

-

222,000

FUND BALANCE:
Beginning of year

-

-

222,030

(222,030)

-

$222,000

$ 221,614

$ (444,446)

End of year

$

-

$

(416)

(416)
-

(416)

(222,000)
(222,416)

(222,416)
-

(222,416)
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TAM Ridge Traffic Improvement
Variance
Original
Amended
Favorable
Budget
Budget
Actual
(Unfavorable)

$

$

-

$

-

-

-

-

38,201
250,000
288,201

-

-

-

288,201

-

-

-

288,201

-

-

-

$288,201

$

(468)
(468)

(468)

$

(468)

Total
Original
Budget

$

Amended
Budget

Actual

(38,201)
(250,000)
(288,669)

658,000
232,000
5,000
1,246,700
75,000
77,000
2,293,700

$ 658,000
237,000
5,000
1,231,700
75,000
115,201
222,000
250,000
2,793,901

-

25,000
2,647,700
212,700
2,885,400

25,000
2,699,900
212,700
2,937,600

-

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

$

632,046
252,861
5,779
196,631
71,950
82,992
802
10,784
1,253,845

$

(25,954)
15,861
779
(1,035,069)
(3,050)
82,992
(114,399)
(222,000)
(250,000)
10,784
(1,540,056)

1,270
1,041,527
41,569
1,084,366

1,658,373
1,853,234

(288,669)

(591,700)

(143,699)

169,479

313,178

-

-

-

-

-

(288,669)

(591,700)

(143,699)

169,479

(511,085)

250,000

(250,000)

600,917

600,917

1,755,417

(472,030)

$ 249,532

$ (538,669)

9,217

$ 457,218

$ 1,924,896

-

(468)

$

$

(983,115)
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Fund Net Position
Self-Insurance Internal Service Funds
June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for June 30, 2017)

Totals
2018

2017

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Cash and investments held by trustees
Deposits
Total assets

$

540,563
10,000
30,000

$

517,978
10,000
-

$

580,563

$

527,978

$

17,448
500,420

$

7,665
630,000

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Liability for claims
Total liabilities

517,868

637,665

Net Position:
Unrestricted net position

62,695

(109,687)

$

Total liabilities and net position

580,563

$

527,978
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position
Self-Insurance Internal Service Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative amounts for the year ended June 30, 2017)

Totals
2018

2017

OPERATING REVENUES:
Insurance cost allocation

$

480,000

$

561,000

480,000

561,000

408,148
31,334
(129,580)
-

67,723
223,862
219,441
1,000
5,364

Total operating expenses

309,902

517,390

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

170,098

43,610

NONOPERATING REVENUE:
Investment Income

2,284

2,682

Total non-operating revenue
NET INCOME (LOSS)

2,284
172,382

2,682
46,292

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

172,382

46,292

(109,687)

(155,979)

Total operating revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Insurance expenses:
Administration and fees
Excess reinsurance premiums
Claims and claims processing
Claims adjustment expenses - actuarial
Prevention programs

NET POSITION:
Beginning of year
End of year

$

62,695

$

(109,687)
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Self-Insurance Internal Service Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative amounts for the year ended June 30, 2017)

Totals
2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from other funds for services
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services
Cash payments for loss claims

$

2017

480,000
(557,945)
98,246

$

561,000
(99,491)
(443,303)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

20,301

18,206

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Investment income received

2,284

2,682

22,585

20,888

527,978

507,090

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of year
End of year
Reconciliation of income (loss) from operations to net
cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Income (loss) from operations
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from operations
to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
(Increase) decrease in current assets:
Deposits
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in claims liability

$

550,563

$

527,978

$

170,098

$

43,610

(30,000)

-

9,783
(129,580)
$

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

20,301

(26,404)
1,000
$

18,206
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TOWN OF CORTE MADERA, CALIFORNIA
Combining Statement of Assets and Liabilities
Agency Funds
June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for June 30, 2017)

Old Landing
Road Sewer
Debt Service

Special Assessment Districts
Shoreline
Shoreline
Parking
Parking
Maintenance
Debt
District
Service

Sausalito St.
Sewer
Assessment

Cash and investments
Accounts receivable:
Assessments

$

$

$

Total assets

$

78,438

$

14,191

$

168,988

$

38,201

$

78,438

$

14,191

$

168,988

$

38,201

$

78,438

$

14,191

$

168,988

$

38,201

ASSETS
77,778
660

14,126

$

65

167,526
1,462

38,201

LIABILITIES
Other liabilities
Due to bond holders
Total liabilities

260
106

Totals
2018

$

259,430

2017

$

40,388

575,401
192,786

$

299,818

$

768,187

$

299,818

$

520,425
247,762

$

299,818

$

768,187
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CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: April 11, 2019
MEETING DATE: April 16, 2019
TO:

Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council

FROM:

Todd Cusimano, Town Manager

SUBJECT:

Review and Discuss Town Council Rules and Procedures and the 2019 Workplan
Calendar and Provide Direction on How the Council Wishes to Operate
Procedurally on Matters Involving the Council


RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Review and discuss Town Council Rules and Procedures and provide direction as to how the
Council wishes to operate on matters involving the Council.
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:
As provided by California Government Code Section 36813, the Corte Madera Town Council
has adopted its own rules of procedure for meetings. The Town Council amended their rules and
procedures on December 5, 2017. On August 14, 2018, the Town Council held a strategic
planning session and developed a 2018/2019 workplan. See Attachment 2 for further
information on the workplan. Town staff met shortly after the strategic planning and developed
a 2019 schedule to deliver the workplan. Since that time, the Town has received numerous
requests for new ordinances, support for legislation, and business items that are outside of the
workplan. It should be noted that staff recognizes it is normal to add items to the workplan as
issues develop throughout the year. Staff wishes to clarify the Town Council’s direction on
process related to the following items:
1. Section 7.3 - Agenda: At each regular Council meeting, a draft of the agenda for the next
regular meeting will be included as an item for discussion. At that time, Councilmembers
may raise other matters to be discussed at future meetings, and Council, by motion, may
direct staff to put such items on a future meeting agenda.
2. Town Councilmembers and staff routinely receive requests to write letters in support of
or opposition to legislation and/or important issues. Staff recommends clarification
regarding the process through which these items are brought before Council (i.e.
265
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6.B.

Procedure amongst Mayor, Legislative Council Representative and Town Manager).
How should staff handle those instances when time constraints prevent staff from
bringing such letters to Council? Does the Council defer to the Mayor and the
Legislative Council Representative’s judgement?
3. Councilmembers routinely receive requests for interviews on Town matters (i.e.
ordinances, legislation, projects). Does the Council wish to discuss a process or protocol
to handle such requests?
4. There was a recent discussion on how the Council and staff should operate during open
time for public comment on items not on the agenda. Specifically, can Councilmembers
make a statement, ask clarifying questions, and or give direction to staff after a member
of the public speaks on an issue? Per the Brown Act, clarifying questions are allowed,
but any further statements or direction to staff is strongly discouraged by the Town
Attorney. Does the Council wish to have a discussion with the Town Attorney on how to
best operate during open time for public comment for items not on the agenda?
5. Does Council wish to discuss and/or change the 2019 workplan?
6. Are there any other procedural items the Council wishes to discuss and/or clarify?
FISCAL IMPACT:
No immediate fiscal impacts.
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT:
This activity is not defined as a project under CEQA (Section 15378 CEQA Guidelines).
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Provide direction and/or clarification as appropriate.
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Town Council Rules and Procedures
2. 2019 Work Plan Staff Report
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ATTACHMENT 1
Town Council
Rules and Procedures
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CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL1
RULES AND PROCEDURES
Introduced: 10/17/17 & 11/07/17 Adopted: 12/05/17
Resolution No.: 53/2017
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INTRODUCTION
This handbook has been prepared to orient you with the functions and activities of the Corte
Madera Town Council. The handbook is designed to aid you in fulfilling the responsibilities
you have accepted.
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BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS
Chapter 2.06 of the Corte Madera Municipal Code provides for the establishment of Town Boards
and Commissions. At the present time the following have been established.

Standing Boards and Commissions
Planning Commission
Parks and Recreation Commission
Flood Control Board
Disaster Council
Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee
Sales Tax Citizens’ Oversight Committee
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1

AUTHORITY
1.1

2

State Law: As provided by California Government Code Section 36813, the Town
Council (“Council”) of the Town of Corte Madera may determine its own rules of
procedure for meetings. The following set of rules shall be in effect upon its
adoption by the Council and until such time as it is amended or new rules adopted
in the manner provided by these rules.

GENERAL COUNCIL RULES
2.1

Councilmembers: Councilmembers are residents of the Town who are elected by
the voters or appointed by the Council to fill a vacancy as provided by law. They
generally serve as the Town's policy makers for terms of four years.

2.2

Presiding Officer: The Presiding Officer of the Council shall be the Mayor, and in
the Mayor's absence, the Vice Mayor. (Also see Section 6.1)
Each year, at the first regular Council meeting held following the certification of
election results by the Marin County Elections Department, the Council will select
one of its members to serve as the Mayor for the coming year and another of its
members to serve as Vice Mayor.
No member of the Council shall serve as Mayor for more than one consecutive
year. No member of the Council shall serve as Vice Mayor for more than one
consecutive year. (Resolution No. 1560)2

2

2.3

Council Office: No Councilmember shall have an office in the Town Hall, except
for temporary use of a desk or telephone on an occasional basis for Town-related
business. Use of the Council Chambers, conference room, or comparable Town
facility shall be available by calendar appointment for conference use by
Councilmembers when needed for Town-related business through prior
arrangement with the Town Clerk.

2.4

Council Communications:
All correspondence on Town letterhead by
Councilmembers pertaining to matters of policy shall be authorized by the Council
and signed by the Presiding Officer, unless directed otherwise by the Council. In
case of doubt as to whether the letter pertains to policy, the correspondence shall
be first approved by the Council before it is executed by the Presiding Officer. Any
correspondence on Town letterhead to be signed by any councilmember other than
the Presiding Officer must be authorized by Council as a condition of its preparation
and mailing.

2.5

Ballot Measures, Resolutions, Proclamations and Letters of Support: The Council
shall consider only those ballot measures, resolutions, proclamations, and letters of

References are used for historical purposes.
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support that have a direct and substantive effect on Town affairs and activities.
(Motion of 10/06/87)
3.

CITIZENS’ RIGHTS
3.1

Attendance of Media at Council Meetings: All official meetings of the Council and
its standing sub-committees shall be open to the media, freely subject to recording
by radio, television and photographic services at any time, provided that such
arrangements do not interfere with the orderly conduct of the meetings.

3.2

Addressing the Council: The Council encourages members of the public to address
the Council concerning matters of Town business at appropriate times scheduled
for that purpose. Any person desiring to address the Council on any subject not
listed on the agenda may do so during open time.
Under the Brown Act, every agenda for a regular or special meeting must allow
members of the public to speak on each agenda item.

3.3

Manner of Addressing the Council - Time Limit: Each speaker wishing to address
the Council may speak for no more than 3 minutes per agenda item and no more
than 3 minutes during open public comment time pertaining to items not on the
agenda. The Presiding Officer may allow speakers more time for discussion and
may allot more time to spokespersons representing several individuals. All remarks
shall be addressed to the Council as a body and not to any member thereof nor to
other members of the public, except with the permission of the Presiding Officer.
Councilmembers desiring to address a member of the public shall only do so upon
recognition by and through the Presiding Officer. Questions to members of the
public should be limited to matters of clarification.
After one-half hour of public comment on items not on the agenda, the Presiding
Officer may move the remainder of open public comment on items not on the
agenda to the end of the agenda.

3.4

Disruptive Behavior: As provided in the Brown Act, any person who disrupts the
meeting may be removed from the Council chambers.

3.5

Written Communication: Interested parties, or their authorized representatives,
may address the Council by written communication regarding any matter that is
within the jurisdiction of the Council at any time by mail or email, or by mailing or
emailing the Mayor, the Town Manager, or the Town Clerk. Copies of such
communications will be distributed to all Councilmembers.
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Written communications concerning Council agenda items that are received after
the distribution of the agenda packet will be given to the Councilmembers and made
available to members of the public at the Council meeting.
4.

GENERAL RULES FOR MEETINGS
4.1

Meeting Location: The Council shall meet in the Council Chambers for Regular,
Adjourned (see Section 5.4), and Special Meetings, The meeting location may be
changed for convenience, to accommodate larger attendance, or for other reasons,
provided that the location is permitted under law and is noted on the agenda and/or
posted at the Council Chambers. The Brown Act requires that, except under certain
circumstances, meetings of the Council be held within Corte Madera. (Gov. Code
section 54954)

4.2

Meetings to be Public: All meetings of the Council shall be open to the public
except in those limited circumstances under which the Brown Act permits the
Council to meet in closed session. (Gov. Code section 54950-54962.)

4.3

Council Deliberation. After a public hearing has been closed, or if the matter for
consideration is not the subject of a public hearing, after all interested persons
desiring to speak on the matter have been heard and the public comment period has
been closed, the Council may debate the matter. During such debate a member of
the Council desiring to speak or to address another member of the Council shall
address the Presiding Officer, and upon recognition may speak or address other
members of the Council, but comments shall be confined to the question or
clarification of the matter under debate.

4.4

Quorum and Majority Vote
A.

A majority of the members of the Council shall constitute a quorum for
the transaction of business except a Councilmember who recuses based on
a conflict of interest shall not be counted towards the establishment of a
quorum unless that Councilmember's participation is legally required for
the action or decision to be made.

B.

Resolutions approving orders for the payment of money and the adoption
of ordinances shall require the affirmative votes of at least three
councilmembers for passage unless the law requires otherwise. The
adoption of urgency ordinances shall require the affirmative vote of four
Councilmembers for adoption.

C.

For all other matters, unless the law provides otherwise, an affirmative
vote of a majority of those Councilmembers voting shall be necessary for
the adoption of any motion or resolution, except that a motion or
resolution shall not be deemed adopted unless at least two
councilmembers have voted in favor of it.
The vote of any
Councilmember abstaining or otherwise failing to vote on a motion or
Page 8
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resolution shall not be considered a vote for or against the motion or
resolution. Instead, an abstention or failure to vote shall be considered as
consent to the will of the majority as expressed by the majority vote on
the motion or resolution.
4.5

Record of Proceedings: A written account (“minutes”) of all open meetings of the
Council shall be kept by the Town Clerk and shall be entered in a book constituting
the official record of the Council following approval after it is approved by the
Council. The book of minutes shall be open to public inspection.
The Town Clerk shall provide for the tape recordings of all Council meetings. These
records shall be in the nature of a stenographic aid to the Town Clerk and may be
erased after the approval of the minutes but no earlier than 120 days after the meeting.
(Resolution 2716)
Council meetings shall be video-recorded and shall be posted on the Town’s website
to provide accessibility to the public. These recordings shall not be considered as
minutes.

4.6

Right of Floor: Before any person may speak at a Council meeting, he/she must first
be recognized by the Presiding Officer.

4.7

Town Manager: The Town Manager shall attend all meetings of the Council unless
excused. The Town Manager may make recommendations to the Council and may
take part in all discussions of the Council, but shall have no vote.

4.8

Town Attorney: The Town Attorney shall attend all meetings of the Council unless
excused and shall, upon request from the Council or Town Manager, give an opinion,
either written or oral, on questions of law. The Town Attorney shall act as the
Council's parliamentarian. In the Town Attorney’s absence, the Town Clerk shall
serve in the capacity as parliamentarian.

4.9

Town Clerk: The Town Clerk shall attend all meetings of the Council unless excused
by the Town Manager and shall be responsible for keeping the official record
(minutes) and perform such other duties as may be required by the Council.

4.10

Officers and Employees: Department heads of the Town shall attend such Council
meetings upon request of the Town Manager, who shall make that request when there
is pertinent business from a particular department on the Council agenda.

4.11

Rules of Order: The most revised edition of "Rosenberg’s Rules of Order" shall
govern the proceedings of the Council in all cases, unless they are in conflict with
these rules in which case these rules shall govern the issue. If any procedural
questions arise which are not specifically covered by this set of rules, then such
procedural matter will be governed by parliamentary procedure (Rosenberg’s Rules
of Order).
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5.

TYPES OF MEETINGS
5.1

Regular Meetings: Unless closed session or other matters are noticed to begin at an
earlier time, the Regular Council Meetings are to commence at 6:30 P.M. on the first
and third Tuesday of each month, unless otherwise specified in advance in
accordance with the Brown Act.
All Regular Council Meetings shall end by 9:30 P.M unless the Council extends the
meeting by motion of Council. Council may extend the meeting to 10:00 P.M. by
the affirmative vote of a majority of Councilmembers present, and beyond 10:00
P.M. by the affirmative vote of all Council members present.
Should a scheduled Council meeting fall on a legal holiday, the meeting shall be
canceled or rescheduled. If a Council regular meeting falls on Election Day, the
Council shall hold its meeting on the Monday prior to that day unless the Council
choses to schedule it for another day
Consistent with the requirements of the Brown Act, the Mayor, in consultation with
the Town Manager, may, by motion, reschedule any canceled regular meeting to
another day.

5.2

Special Meetings: A special meeting is a meeting that is not regularly scheduled and
is held to transact specified business only. Special meetings may be called by the
Presiding Officer or by Council by motion. The call and agenda for a special meeting
shall specify the day, the hour, and the location of the special meeting and shall
describe the subject or subjects to be considered. No special meeting shall be held
unless it complies with the twenty-four (24) hour minimum notice requirements set
forth in the Brown Act. All members of the Council, the Twin Cities Times and the
Marin Independent Journal shall receive written notice at least 24 hours before the
time of the meeting unless otherwise made unnecessary by the Brown Act.

5.3

Emergency Meetings: The Council may hold an emergency meeting if a majority of
the Council determines a work stoppage, crippling disaster, or other activity severely
impairs public health and/or safety. Emergency meetings may be called without
complying with either the 24-hour notice or posting requirements as provided in the
Brown Act (Government Code Section 54956.5).

5.4

Adjourned Meetings: When members of the Council wish to continue a regular or
special meeting to a later date, a successful motion to adjourn the meeting and to
continue it to a definite later time, makes this second meeting an Adjourned meeting.
Any meeting of the Council may be adjourned to a later date and time.

5.5

Workshops/Study Sessions: From time to time the Council will hold workshops or
field trips at a time and place to be designated by the Presiding Officer. Study
sessions or field trips shall be considered meetings and shall be duly noticed and
open to the public and the press, as provided by law. Such study sessions or field
Page 10
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trips shall be devoted to matters regarding which the interchange of information prior
to a regular meeting may be helpful to the Council's decision making process.
5.6

6.

Closed Session: Council may hold Closed Sessions or closed meetings to discuss
certain limited topics in accordance with the Brown Act. Closed sessions may be
scheduled at either the beginning or end of Council meetings.

CONDUCT OF MEETINGS
6.1

Call to Order: The Presiding Officer shall call the meeting to order. In the absence
of the Mayor and Vice Mayor, the Town Clerk shall call the Council meeting to
order, whereupon a temporary Presiding Officer shall be appointed by motion of the
members of the Council present. Upon the arrival of the Mayor or Vice Mayor, the
Temporary Presiding Officer shall relinquish the Chair immediately upon the
conclusion of the matter of business then before the Council. (Also see Section 2.2)

6.2

Preservation of Order: The Presiding Officer shall preserve order and decorum, and
confine members in debate to the question under discussion. Speakers shall be
recognized by the Presiding Officer and shall address their comments to the Council
through the Presiding Officer.

6.3

Points of Order: Only members of the Council may raise points of order and
questions of privilege, including points of information or clarification. The Presiding
Officer shall determine all points of order, subject to the right of any Councilmember
to appeal to the Council.

6.4

Questions to be Stated: The Presiding Officer shall state all questions submitted for
a vote and announce the result.

6.5

Public Hearing: At the time for public hearings and before any motion is made with
reference thereto, the Presiding Officer shall inquire if there are any persons present
who desire to speak upon the subject. Any such person may then be permitted to
speak, after being encouraged to state his or her name and address. In the event that
a large number of individuals wish to speak or for any other reasonable reason, the
Presiding Officer may, at the beginning of the hearing, set time limits for speakers.
Public hearings shall be closed by the Presiding Officer after all interested persons,
or their authorized representative, present at the hearing have been heard on the
subject.
Upon closing the public comment portion of the matter under consideration, it is
preferred that the presiding officer state, for the record: Seeing or hearing no one else
wishing to address the Council further on this issue, I hereby close the public
comment portion of (public hearing on) this matter.
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For appeals, the Council will adhere to the following order of proceedings and time
limits:
1.
2.
3.
4a.
4b.
5.
6.
7a.
7b.
8.
9.
10.
11.

7.

Statements disclosing Ex Parte Communications
Staff report and Council questions for staff
Open public portion of the hearing
Presentation by appellant (10 minutes)
Presentation by applicant (10 minutes)
Council questions for appellant, applicant and/or staff
Public comment
Rebuttal by applicant (5 minutes)
Rebuttal by appellant (5 minutes)
Final Council questions of applicant and appellant
Final Council questions of staff
Close public portion of hearing
Council discussions, deliberation and findings and motion(s)

ORDER OF BUSINESS AND AGENDA
7.1

Order of Business: Before or after the conclusion of any closed session, which has
been placed on the agenda, Councilpersons, Town Manager, Town Clerk, Town
Attorney and such department heads or others as have been required to be present,
shall take their regular stations in the Council Chambers, or such other locations as
provided under section 3.1, and the business of the Council shall be taken up in
substantially the following order except as may be otherwise ordered by the Presiding
Officer:

.
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Call to Order and Salute to the Flag
Open Time for Public Comment on Items Not on Agenda
Commendations & Presentations
Consent Calendar (Note, any item removed from the Consent Calendar shall be
placed on the agenda in a different order at the direction of the Presiding
Officer)
Public Hearings
Business Matters (including reports on pending matters)
Town Council and Town Manager Reports
Draft Agenda for Future Meeting
Adjournment
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7.2

Changes to the Order of Business. The Presiding Officer may change the Order of
Business to facilitate the conduct of the meeting.

7.3

Open Time: Consolidated with language in section 3.3. Numbering will be reordered in final approved version

7.4

Agenda: At each regular Council meeting, a draft of the agenda for the next regular
meeting will be included as an item for discussion. At that time, Councilmembers
may raise other matters to be discussed at future meetings, and Council, by motion,
may direct staff to put such items on a future meeting agenda.
The final agenda packet for a regular Council meeting will be sent to the
Councilmembers no later than the Friday preceding that meeting.
As required by the Brown Act, the agenda for each regular meeting shall be posted
in a location that is freely accessible to the public at least 72 hours before each
regular meeting of the Council, and the agenda must include a brief description of
each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, together with the
time and location of the meeting. .
Also, the agenda is to be posted on the Town’s website:
http://www.townofcortemadera.org/AgendaCenter, and in the following display
cases: (1) outside of the Tamalpais Drive entrance to Town Hall, (2) at the Corte
Madera Post Office, located at 7 Pixley Avenue, and (3) at Fire Station 13 located
at 5600 Paradise Drive. Finally, a copy of the complete agenda packet is to be
provided to the Corte Madera Library, located at 707 Meadowsweet Drive.

7.5

Request from the Public to Place Items on Agenda: When a member of the public
submits a request for an item to be added to a future Council agenda, the Town
Manager, in conjunction with appropriate staff, will work with the requestor to
review the request and determine if a resolution can be reached prior to bringing
the item before the Council for consideration. Once the preliminary evaluation is
complete, the Town Manager will consult with the Mayor to determine if placement
on an agenda is warranted, and if so the appropriate meeting date to bring the item
forward for consideration.

7.6

Preparation of Minutes: The minutes of the Council meetings shall be kept by the
Town Clerk in a minute book provided for that purpose, with a record of each
particular type of business transacted set off in paragraphs with proper subheads;
and said written minutes shall become the official records of the Town of Corte
Madera upon Council approval. The Town Clerk shall be required to make a record
only of such business as was actually passed upon by a vote of the Council or
directed by the Presiding Officer, and shall not be required to record any remarks
of Councilpersons, or of any other person except at the special request of a
Councilperson, except that a record shall be made of the names of persons
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addressing the Council, the title of the subject matter to which their remarks related
and whether they spoke in support of or in opposition to such matter.
As soon as possible after each Council meeting the Town Clerk shall cause a copy
of the minutes thereof to be forwarded to each Councilperson, the Town Manager,
department heads, and other individuals requesting such materials.
Unless a reading of the minutes of a Council meeting is requested by a member of
the Council, such minutes may be approved without reading if the Town Clerk
previously furnished each member with a copy thereof.
7.7

8.

Adjournment: It is the policy of the Town Council to conduct the public’s business
in public. Meetings shall end at 9:30 P.M. The Town Council has the option to
extend the meeting in half hour increments, with a majority vote required to
continue to 10:00 P.M. and unanimous votes required for each half hour increment
extension beyond 10:00 P. M.

ORDINANCES, RESOLUTIONS, AND MOTIONS
8.1

Form: Ordinances, resolutions and contract documents shall be presented to the
Council only in printed or typewritten form.

8.2

Ordinances: Confined to One Subject: Exceptions: No ordinance, except an
appropriation ordinance, an ordinance adopting or embodying an administrative or
governmental code, or an ordinance adopting a code of ordinances, shall relate to
more than one subject, which shall be clearly stated in its title.

8.3

Town Attorney to Approve: The Town Manager and Town Attorney will
determine on a case by case basis when it is appropriate for the Town Attorney to
review and/or "Approved as to Form" by the Town Attorney, or the Town
Attorney's authorized representative.

8.4

Distribution of Ordinances: The Town Clerk shall distribute copies of all proposed
ordinances to all members of the Council no later than the Friday of the week
preceding the Council meeting at which the ordinance is to be introduced. If the
ordinance carries an urgency or emergency clause, copies of the ordinance must be
distributed at least twelve (12) hours prior to the meeting of the Council at which
time said ordinance is to be considered except in the case of an emergency meeting
held as permitted under the Brown Act.

8.5

Ordinance Deferred and Emergencies: Each proposed ordinance shall be read by
title or in full two times, and any ordinance introduced at a Council meeting shall
not be approved until at least the next regular meeting (as long as five days
intervenes between the meeting at which the ordinance is introduced and the
meeting at which it is adopted), except that an emergency or urgency ordinance
may be adopted and read for the first time, all at once.
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8.6

Reading by Title Only: Upon being introduced or adopted, each proposed
ordinance shall be read in its entirety unless further reading is waived by a majority
vote of all Councilmembers present.

8.7

Recording of Votes: Only Councilmembers are eligible to vote. The ayes, nays,
absences and abstentions shall be recorded upon the official record of the Council
upon passage of all ordinances and resolutions.
Every member of the Council present shall vote for or against a question that is put
to a vote, unless that Councilmember abstains from voting. If the Councilmember
recuses him/herself because of a potential conflict of interest, that member shall not
be counted as part of the quorum, shall not vote, and, except as to matters on the
consent calendar, shall step down from the dais for the remainder of the discussion.
If the Councilmember abstains for any other reason, that member shall be counted
towards establishing the quorum and the abstention shall be considered an
acquiescence to the majority vote on the question, with the exception of ordinances
or resolutions for the payment of money.

8.8

Majority Vote Required: An affirmative vote of at least a majority of the members
of the Council shall be necessary to pass an ordinance, but a resolution, motion, or
any other proposition may be adopted by a majority voting on the issue, except as
otherwise specified in the Town Ordinance or the State Statutes.

8.9

Tie Vote: In the event of a tie in votes on any motion, it shall be deemed that no
action was taken on that motion.

8.10

Numbering Ordinances and Resolutions: Prior to or upon passage, a number shall
be assigned to each ordinance or resolution by the Town Clerk.

8.11

Ordinance Passage Procedure: Each proposed ordinance shall be read by title or in
full two times.
Concerning urgency or emergency ordinances, there need be only one reading and
one adoption. These ordinances can be adopted and read for the first time, all at
once.
When passed by the Council, an ordinance shall be signed by the Presiding Officer
and be attested by the Town Clerk; and it shall be immediately filed and thereafter
preserved in the office of the Town Clerk. Posting and publication of ordinances
will be in accordance with state law.

8.12

Legal Opinions: A majority of the Council may request written legal opinions,
relating to Town business, from the Town Manager. Upon receiving requests for a
proposed ordinance or a written legal opinion, the Town Manager shall forthwith
request same from the Town Attorney; and upon return receipt thereof, the Town
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Manager shall cause to have distributed the subject ordinance or written legal
opinion to all members of the Council so that all members of the Council may be
fully informed of the status of Town affairs. Any member of the Council may, for
the purposes of inquiry, request verbal opinion or advice on Town legal matters
directly from the Attorney.
8.13

9.

Motions to Reconsider: A motion to reconsider can only be made at the meeting
during which the main motion was approved, or at the next regular or special
meeting immediately following the meeting at which the main motion was
approved. In order to make the motion to reconsider a previous motion, the
Councilmember must have actually voted (not abstained) on the prevailing side
(either for or against) when the question was first considered.

APPOINTMENT TO TOWN BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS
In April of each year the Town Clerk will poll the members of the Town Boards and
Commission to ascertain if they wish to continue serving for another term. Once this
information is obtained, the Town Clerk will work with the appropriate Council
subcommittee to schedule interviews of incumbents and new applicants.
With recruitment, ads will be placed in the Marin Independent Journal and the Twin
Cities Times. Interviews will be held on dates/times selected by the Council
subcommittee and thereafter, the subcommittees’ recommendations will be
placed on a Consent Calendar at a Council meeting in June so that the appointee begins
his/her term at the first meeting of the fiscal year.
The Town Clerk will work with newly appointed members of Boards and
Commissions to assure they take their Oaths of Office and complete any
necessary paperwork as a result of their appointment.
(Motion of May 6, 2014)

10.

SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF THESE RULES
10.1

Suspension of These Rules: Any provision of these rules not governed by the
Municipal Code or State Law may be temporarily suspended by motion with the
affirmative vote of a majority of the Council present at the meeting, except that the
affirmative vote of all Councilmembers present is required to suspend the rule
regarding extending a regular Council meeting beyond 10 P.M. The vote on a
motion to suspend any rule shall be taken by ayes and nays and entered upon the
record.

10.2

Amendment of These Rules: These rules may be amended, or new rules adopted,
by resolution upon the affirmative vote of at least three members of the Council,
provided that the proposed amendments or new rules shall have been introduced
into the record at a prior Council meeting.
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11.

CODE OF ETHICS/STANDARDS OF CONDUCT
The Council maintains high standards of ethical conduct for its members. Council
Members are responsible to:














Act only in the best interests of the entire community without consideration of
personal or private interests;
Ensure an opportunity for public input into Council deliberations, adhering to
open meeting laws and regulations;
Avoid conflicts of interest and the perceptions of conflicts of interest, and
comply fully with state ethics laws;
Exercise authority only as a Council or as specifically assigned by the Council
through its Rules and Procedures;
Use appropriate channels of communication consistent with the councilmanager structure of the Town’s form of government as provided under state
law;
Respect other Council Members, staff and members of the public;
Act with civility;
Be informed about the Town and issues that affect the Town;
Comply with Federal, State and Town laws, as well as the Council’s Rules
and Procedures, that affect the operation of local government and set forth the
responsibilities of Council Members;
Devote adequate time to Council work and assigned committee work;
Maintain the confidentiality of information provided in closed sessions and
other information required by state law to be held in confidence.

Violations of this rule will be addressed by the Mayor, who will first discuss the violation
with the Council Member in an effort to reach a resolution. If a resolution is not achieved
and further action is deemed necessary, the Mayor may appoint an ad hoc committee
composed of two Council Members to examine the matter and recommend measures or
further courses of action to the Council. Recommended measures will be determined by
the Mayor and Vice-Mayor (or the ad hoc committee where one has been appointed), after
consultation with the Town Attorney and providing the Council Member an opportunity to
respond, and may include a recommendation that the Council adopt a resolution censuring
the Council Member only as a last resort, when other less severe measures have failed to
resolve the violation. If the Mayor is perceived to have violated this rule, the Vice-Mayor
is authorized to pursue resolution.

284

Page 17

ATTACHMENT 2
2019 Workplan Staff Report
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CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: September 4, 2018
MEETING DATE: September 18, 2018
TO:

Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council

FROM:

Todd Cusimano, Town Manager
Peter Brown, Public Works Director
Adam Wolff, Planning and Building Director

SUBJECT:

Summary of Town Council Strategic Planning Session


RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Review summary of the August 14, 2018 Town Council strategic planning session and discuss,
provide feedback, and direction as appropriate.
BACKGROUND:
Each calendar year, the Town Council holds a strategic planning session to discuss the projected
workload for the next 12 months and beyond. The strategic planning session is intended to
provide a broad overview of the Town’s anticipated work program. The Council provides very
general direction to staff, focusing on when issues should be presented during the year and what
issues the staff might analyze for those issues. It is the Council’s practice to have staff present a
summary of the workshop discussion.
DISCUSSION:
The Council set overall priorities into three categories, with category one being the most
important. Those priorities are as follows:
Category I
1. Fiscal Sustainability (i.e. unfunded liabilities, protecting reoccurring revenues,
controlling costs)
2. Infrastructure – maintaining the Town’s infrastructure (i.e. flood control, streets, Sanitary
District No. 2, facilities)
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3. Disaster Planning – Readiness – Infrastructure (plan for environmental impacts for
flooding/fire)
Category II
1. Land Use
2. Traffic & Circulation
3. Maintenance and Beautification of Town
Category III
1. Quality of life issues (i.e. noise, short-term rentals)
2. Everything else
With the above-listed categories in mind, the Town Manager, Planning/Building Director and
Public Works Director led the Town Council through a list of the issues and topics that the Town
is currently addressing, as well as those the Town is likely to begin to address over the next
twelve months. The Town Council set the following direction:
Fiscal Sustainability (Category I)
1. Launch the GovInvest platform – Provide information and analysis regarding the Town’s
unfunded pension and retiree health obligations
2. Provide analysis on the strengths and vulnerabilities of the Town’s sales tax revenues.
Work with regional and state partners on protecting sales tax revenues and online sales
Infrastructure (Category I) and Traffic and Circulation Improvements (Category II)
1. Deliver Capital Improvement Projects
 Flood control and storm drainage (15 Projects)
 Multimodal transportation (23 projects)
 Parks (2 projects)
 Environmental (4 projects)
 Town-owned buildings (2 projects)
 Sanitary District (11 projects)
Disaster Planning – Readiness – Infrastructure (Category I)
1. Sea Level Rise – Adaptation
 Develop a long-term plan for the flood control system
2. Sanitary District No. 2 – Complete evaluation of entire system
 Set Lateral Ordinance Policy (Schedule community workshop to discuss options)
3. Install early warning system
4. Continue fire safety and preparedness efforts
 Support of Neighborhood Response Group (NRG) and Community Emergency
Response Team (CERT) groups
 Fire prevention program
 Code Enforcement
 Enhance vegetation management program
 Identify pathways on all hillside communities and evaluate:
ownership/maintenance/signage opportunities
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Land Use – Zoning Ordinance Amendments (Category II)
Implement the following land use ordinances:
1. Hotel Floor Area Ratio (FAR) Ordinance
a. Reviewed at July 24, 2018 Planning Commission meeting and next steps
2. Cannabis Ordinance
a. Staff to hold community workshops to discuss potential opportunities and impacts
– Staff will come back to Council to submit findings and recommendations for
consideration
3. Views Guidelines and/or Ordinance
4. Zoning Ordinance Clean up at Planning Director discretion (yards, Accessory Dwelling
Units (ADUs), etc…)
Monitor and lay groundwork (time permitting) for the following potential ordinances:
5. Green Building Ordinance
6. Short Term Rental Ordinance
Maintenance and Beautification of Town (Category II)
1. Continue the beautification efforts of the Town – Staff to provide a summary overview to
Council on the efforts undertaken by Public Works to maintain the Town’s beautification
Quality of Life Issues and Ordinance Updates (Category III)
1. Update Climate Action Plan (Environmental sustainability)
2. Noise Ordinance
3. Provide Council with an update on the following issues:
 Short-term rentals
 Wireless 5G streamlining legislation and efforts
 Park Madera Center – Discuss long-term options for the Town-owned center
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT:
This activity is not defined as a project under CEQA (Section 15378 CEQA Guidelines).
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CORTE MADERA TOWN COUNCIL
DRAFT OF UPCOMING AGENDA ITEMS FOR MAY 7, 2019
PROPOSED ITEMS, AND ORDER, ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE

Placing an item on the agenda: An item may be placed on the agenda by submitting a request to the Town Clerk or the
Town Manager, or their designee, by Tuesday at 5p.m. 21 days prior to the Council meeting during which the item is sought
to be considered. If such item requires staff investigation or if it will be considered at a future date in the normal course of
business (e.g., planning and budget matters), it may be deferred to a later date with concurrence of the person submitting
the item. Staff will accommodate submissions after the deadline whenever practical. (Town Council Rules and Procedures,
Section 7.4)

PRESENTATIONS:
CONSENT CALENDAR:
TOWN ITEMS:
1. Waive Further Reading and Authorize Introduction and/or Adoption of Resolutions and
Ordinances by Title Only.
(Standard procedural action – no backup information provided)
2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Town Council meeting

PUBLIC HEARINGS:
1. Possible Hearing for Appeal of Planning Commission Decision on 360 Corte Madera
Avenue Project

BUSINESS ITEMS:
TOWN ITEMS:
1. Sales Tax Citizens’ Oversight Committee Annual Report to Council
2. Finance Ad Hoc Committee Report Out to Council
3. Draft Budget Items
4. Draft Capital Improvement Program Items
CLOSED SESSION: NONE
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8.A.

